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PARKER-HANNIFIN CORPORATION

FORM 10-K

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025

PART I

ITEM 1. Business

Parker-Hannifin Corporation was incorporated in Ohio in 1938. As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms "Company",
"Parker", "we" or "us" refer to Parker-Hannifin Corporation and its subsidiaries, and the term "year" and references to specific years refer to the applicable fiscal year.

Parker is a global leader in motion and control technologies. Leveraging a unique combination of interconnected technologies, we design, manufacture, and provide aftermarket
support for highly engineered solutions that create value for customers primarily in aerospace & defense, in-plant & industrial equipment, transportation, off-highway, energy,
and HVAC & refrigeration markets around the world.

Parker values having a decentralized operating structure that fosters deeper connections with our customers and greater engagement among our team members. To align our
operations and achieve our goal of top quartile performance, we deploy our business system, The Win Strategy , which establishes goals and strategies for engaged people,
customer experience, profitable growth and financial performance. Underpinning this business system is our culture of safety, collaboration, continuous improvement, and
team-based problem solving. Together our goals, strategies, and culture help us to fulfill our purpose: Enabling Engineering Breakthroughs that Lead to a Better Tomorrow. We
credit the Win Strategy with leading Parker through a period of sustained operational excellence and transformation and believe it is the foundation for achieving our future
goals.

Our investor relations website address is investors.parker.com. We make available free of charge on or through our website our annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports
on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as soon as reasonably practicable after filing or furnishing those reports electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The information contained on or
accessible through our website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our Board of Directors has adopted a written charter for each of its committees. These charters, as well as our Global Code of Business Conduct, Corporate Governance
Guidelines and Independence Standards for Directors, are posted and available on our investor relations website under the Governance page. Shareholders may request copies
of these corporate governance documents, free of charge, by writing to our principal executive offices located at Parker-Hannifin Corporation, 6035 Parkland Boulevard,
Cleveland, Ohio 44124-4141, Attention: Secretary, or by calling (216) 896-3000.

Markets

Our interconnected technologies and solutions provide value for customers across our market verticals including aerospace & defense, in-plant & industrial equipment,
transportation, off-highway, energy, and HVAC and refrigeration. We serve several hundred thousand OEM and distribution customer locations.

Reportable Segments

We have two reportable segments: Diversified Industrial and Aerospace Systems. Of the Company's $19.9 billion in net sales for fiscal year 2025, Diversified Industrial
Segment products accounted for 69 percent and Aerospace Systems Segment products accounted for 31 percent.

Diversified Industrial Segment. Our Diversified Industrial Segment, which is an aggregation of several business units, sells highly engineered differentiated products to both
original equipment manufacturers ("OEMs") and distributors who serve the aftermarket replacement markets. The major market verticals served by our Diversified Industrial
Segment are listed below:

• Aerospace & Defense • Off-highway

• In-plant & Industrial Equipment • Energy

• Transportation • HVAC & Refrigeration

TM
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Aerospace Systems Segment. Our Aerospace Systems Segment sells highly engineered, differentiated airframe and engine components and systems to OEMs and aftermarket
parts and maintenance directly to end users primarily in the commercial aerospace and defense market verticals. The major market platforms served by our Aerospace Systems
Segment are listed below:

• Commercial Transport • Regional Transport

• Defense Fixed Wing • Helicopters

• Business Jets • Energy

Principal Products and Methods of Distribution

We offer hundreds of thousands of individual part numbers, and no single product contributed more than one percent to our total net sales for the year ended June 30, 2025.
Listed below are some of our principal products.

Diversified Industrial Segment. Our Diversified Industrial Segment products consist of a broad range of motion-control systems and components, which are described below:

• Active & Passive Vibration Control • High Purity Sealing

• Coatings • High Temperature Sealing

• Cryogenic Valves & Fittings • HVAC/R Controls & Monitoring

• Elastomeric, Fabric Reinforced, Metal, & Precision Cut Seals • Hydrogen & Natural Gas Filters

• Electric & Hydraulic Pumps & Motors • Industrial Air & Gas Filtration

• Electric & Hydraulic Valves • Miniature Pumps & Valves

• Electromagnetic Interface Shielding • Pneumatic Actuators, Regulators & Valves

• Electromechanical & Hydraulic Actuators • Power Take Offs

• Electronics, Drives & Controllers • Process Filtration Solutions

• Engine Filtration Solutions • Rubber to Substrate Adhesives

• Fluid Condition Monitoring • Sensors & Diagnostics

• Fluid Conveyance Hose & Tubing • Structural Adhesives

• High Pressure Connectors, Fittings, Valves & Regulators • Thermal Management

• High Purity Fittings, Valves & Regulators

Diversified Industrial Segment products include standard products, as well as custom products which are engineered and produced to OEM specifications for application to
particular end products. Standard and custom products are also used in the replacement of original products. We market our Diversified Industrial Segment products primarily
through field sales employees and independent distributors located throughout the world.

Aerospace Systems Segment. Our Aerospace Systems Segment products are used in commercial and defense airframe and engine programs and include:

• Avionics • Fuel Systems & Components

• Electric & Hydraulic Braking Systems • Fuel Tank Inerting Systems

• Electric Power • Hydraulic Pumps & Motors

• Electromechanical Actuators • Hydraulic Valves & Actuators

• Engine Exhaust Systems & Components • Pneumatics

• Fire Detection & Suppression • Seals

• Flight Control Systems • Sensors

• Fluid Conveyance • Thermal Management

We market our Aerospace Systems Segment products through our regional sales organizations, which sell directly to OEMs and end users throughout the world.
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Competition

Parker operates in highly competitive markets and industries. We offer our products over numerous, varied markets through our divisions operating in 43 countries. Our global
scope means that we have hundreds of competitors across our various markets and product offerings. Our competitors include U.S. and non-U.S. companies. These competitors
and the degree of competition vary widely by product lines, end markets, geographic scope and/or geographic locations. Although each of our segments has numerous
competitors, given our market and product breadth, no single competitor competes with the Company with respect to all the products we manufacture and sell.

In the Diversified Industrial Segment, Parker competes based on product quality and innovation, customer experience, manufacturing and distribution capability, aftermarket
support, and price competitiveness. We believe that we are one of the market leaders in most of the major markets for our most significant Diversified Industrial Segment
products. We have comprehensive motion and control technologies allowing us to provide the broadest systems capabilities. While our primary global competitors include
Bosch Rexroth AG, Danaher Corporation, Danfoss A/S, Donaldson Company, Inc., Emerson Climate Technologies, Inc., Emerson/ASCO, Festo AG & Co., Freudenberg-NOK,
Gates Corporation, IMI/Norgren, SMC Corporation, Swagelok Company, and Trelleborg AB, none of these businesses compete with every group or product in our Diversified
Industrial Segment.

In the Aerospace Systems Segment, we have developed relationships with key customers based on our advanced technological and engineering capabilities, performance in
quality, delivery, service, and price competitiveness. This has enabled us to obtain significant original equipment business on new aircraft programs for our systems and
components, as well as the follow-on repair and replacement business for these programs. Further, the Aerospace Systems Segment utilizes design and manufacturing
techniques as well as best cost region and supply chain management strategies to reduce cost. Although we believe that we are one of the market leaders in most of the major
markets for our most significant Aerospace Systems Segment products, primary global competitors for these products include Crane Co., Eaton Corporation plc, Honeywell
International, Inc., Moog Inc., RTX Corporation, Safran S.A., Senior plc, Triumph Group, Inc., and Woodward, Inc.

Across our two segments, we believe that our broad-based portfolio of core technologies, which consist of hydraulics, pneumatics, electromechanical, filtration, fluid & gas
handling, process control, engineered materials, and climate control, is a positive factor in our ability to compete effectively with both large and small competitors. We believe
that the following factors also contribute to our ability to compete effectively:

• Our business system, The Win Strategy
• Technology powerhouse of interconnected solutions
• Deep partnerships with our customers to develop innovative products
• Application engineering expertise
• Global distribution network
• Decentralized operating structure

Patents, Trademarks, Trade Names, Copyrights, Trade Secrets, Licenses

We own a number of patents, trademarks, trade names, copyrights, trade secrets and licenses related to our products. We also have exclusive and non-exclusive rights to use
patents, trademarks, trade names, copyrights and trade secrets owned by others. In addition, patent and trademark applications are pending, although there can be no assurance
that further patents and trademarks will be issued. We do not depend on any single patent, trademark, copyright, trade secret or license or group of patents, trademarks,
copyrights, trade secrets or licenses to any material extent.

Backlog and Seasonal Nature of Business

Backlog consists of written firm orders from a customer to deliver products and, in the case of blanket purchase orders, only includes the portion of the order for which a
schedule or release date has been agreed to with the customer. The dollar value of backlog is equal to the amount that is expected to be billed to the customer and reported as a
sale. Our backlog by business segment for the past two years is included in Part II, Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference. Our
backlog was $11.0 billion at June 30, 2025 and $10.9 billion at June 30, 2024. Approximately 71 percent of our backlog at June 30, 2025 is scheduled for delivery in the
succeeding twelve months. Because of the breadth and global scope of our business, our overall business is generally not seasonal in nature.

Environmental Regulation

Certain of our operations require the use and handling of hazardous materials and, as a result, the Company is subject to United States federal, state, and local laws and
regulations as well as non-U.S. laws and regulations designed to protect the

4



Table of Contents

environment and regulate the discharge of materials into the environment. These laws impose penalties, fines and other sanctions for non-compliance and liability for response
costs, property damage and personal injury resulting from past and current spills, disposals or other releases of, or exposures to, hazardous materials. Among other
environmental laws, we are subject to the United States federal "Superfund" law, under which we have been designated as a "potentially responsible party" and may be liable
for cleanup costs associated with various waste sites, some of which are on the United States Environmental Protection Agency’s Superfund priority list.

As of June 30, 2025, Parker was involved in environmental remediation and litigation at various U.S. and non-U.S. manufacturing facilities presently or formerly operated by
us and as a "potentially responsible party," along with other companies, at off-site waste disposal facilities and regional sites.

We believe that our policies, practices and procedures are properly designed to prevent unreasonable risk of environmental damage and the consequent financial liability to the
Company. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations requires continuing management efforts and expenditures by the Company. Compliance with environmental
laws and regulations has not had in the past, and, we believe, will not have in the future, a material adverse effect on our capital expenditures, earnings, or competitive position.

Our reserve for environmental matters is discussed in Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which
is incorporated herein by reference.

Government Regulation

In addition to the environmental regulations discussed above, we are subject to various federal, state, local, and foreign government regulations relating to the development,
manufacture, marketing, sale and distribution of our products and services in the countries where we conduct business. Compliance with these laws and regulations often
requires the dedication of time and effort of our team members, as well as financial resources. Additional information about the impact of government regulations on our
business is included in “Item 1A. Risk Factors.”

Energy Matters and Sources and Availability of Raw Materials

Our primary energy source for both of our business segments is electric power. While we cannot predict future costs of electric power, we manage this cost through aggregation
in deregulated markets and leveraging contracts with established pricing on portions of our energy load. We are subject to governmental regulations in regard to energy supplies
in the United States and elsewhere. To date, we have not experienced any significant disruptions of our operations due to energy curtailments.

We primarily use steel, brass, copper, aluminum, nickel, rubber and thermoplastic materials and chemicals as the principal raw materials in our products. We expect these
materials to be available from numerous sources in quantities sufficient to meet our requirements.

Acquisitions

On September 12, 2022, the Company completed the acquisition of Meggitt plc ("Meggitt"). On June 30, 2025, the Company announced that it has agreed to acquire Curtis
Instruments, Inc. from Rehlko. The pending acquisition of Curtis Instruments, Inc. and prior year acquisitions are discussed in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by reference.

Human Capital Management

At Parker, we align employment levels with the global needs of our business and our customers. As of June 30, 2025, we employed approximately 57,950 persons that we refer
to as “team members,” of whom approximately 29,520 were employed by foreign subsidiaries.

Our talented and passionate team members are the foundation of Parker’s enduring growth, bringing new ideas and perspectives to enhance our safety performance, improve
productivity and inspire a diverse and inclusive culture. We see a clear path to a brighter future, and it begins with providing our people the resources that enable them to find
personal and professional satisfaction in their work, responsibly move our company forward and strengthen our communities, fulfilling our purpose of Enabling Engineering
Breakthroughs that Lead to a Better Tomorrow.
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The Win Strategy™ 3.0, Purpose and Values

The Win Strategy 3.0 is Parker’s business system that defines the goals and initiatives that drive growth, transformation and success. It works with our purpose, which is a
foundational element of The Win Strategy, to engage team members and create responsible and sustainable growth.

The Win Strategy has four overarching goals: Engaged People, Customer Experience, Profitable Growth and Financial Performance, supported by our shared values of a
Winning Culture, Passionate People, Valued Customers and Engaged Leadership. Our shared values shape our culture and our interactions with stakeholders and the
communities in which we operate and live.

Safety

The safety and well-being of Parker team members is our highest priority. Our safety goal is simple: to be the safest industrial company in the world, which we define as having
the lowest annual recordable incident rate among our proxy peers. In fiscal year 2025, the recordable incident rate per 100 team members was 0.27, compared to a recordable
incident rate of 0.31 in fiscal year 2024. We have successfully reduced our recordable incident rate by over 50% since our fiscal year 2019.

Our safety program is anchored on a safety management system that has globally deployed procedures and work instructions, including management of incidents and near miss
events. We create a culture of safety through a variety of initiatives, leadership focus, and our commitment to safety as the first stated goal of The Win Strategy.

We engage team members in improving safety performance through High Performance Teams ("HPTs"). All Parker manufacturing locations have an active, chartered Safety
HPT and every value stream has a representative who is responsible for safety within their area of the business. This ownership culture at the manufacturing level is an integral
component of our safety program.

Engaged People

Engagement directly influences business performance. We strongly believe in empowering our team members to think like owners and take action to improve their areas of the
business. Engagement is deeply ingrained in our culture, and as an overarching goal of The Win Strategy it is key to achieving top quartile financial performance.

Parker activates engagement through our HPTs, which apply the expertise and perspective of team members who are closest to the product and customer to drive improvement
throughout the company. We closely track our progress in support of a high performing work environment through our Global Engagement Survey. Our last completed survey,
in fiscal year 2025, achieved a 92% response rate with an overall engagement score of 75%.

Talent Development

We have a well-defined talent development program managed through our Talent Central system, which connects all business units globally on a common platform and
provides team members with visibility to skill development, career planning and learning opportunities. This shared platform is the catalyst for talent management at Parker.

Our review process enables us to assess talent globally, from early-in-career roles through senior leaders. This review facilitates the identification of key talent and allows us to
build meaningful development plans and align career growth opportunities. The talent process is also supported by our Integrated Career System program which illustrates
career paths for various roles and the steps to advance through the organization.

Supplementing the talent development process are Parker’s learning offerings, which help team members expand their professional skills and take ownership of their learning
and development. Examples of center-led programs are our annual ethics and compliance training and cyber security training that all team members are required to complete, in
addition to programs for developing supervisory and leadership skills. Functional-specific programs include HPT training, lean bootcamps and kaizen event orientations. Local
and regional training includes site safety, equipment safety and site quality requirements.

In addition to formal training programs, there are a host of development tools available which include mentoring relationships, coaching and feedback, job shadowing, project
bubble assignments and other stretch projects.
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Inclusion

An inclusive environment is a core tenet of our values and one of our key measures of success within The Win Strategy. We have an ongoing commitment to an inclusive and
welcoming workplace where everyone feels valued and adds value.

One important component of Parker’s inclusive workplace is the development and deployment of Business Resource Groups ("BRGs"), each of which is open to all team
members. In addition to our BRGs, we have processes in place to attract and retain team members with a wide range of backgrounds, perspectives and experiences, helping to
support them with career plans and experienced mentors. Our goal is to promote a strong, inclusive work environment that will provide us the best talent to further strengthen
our organization for success.

Compensation and Benefits

As a global employer, we are committed to offering competitive compensation and benefits, tailored to geography, industry, experience and performance. Our programs are
designed to attract team members, motivate and reward performance, drive growth and support retention. We provide benefit programs with the goal of improving physical,
mental and financial wellness of our team members throughout their lifetime. Some examples include base and variable pay, health and insurance benefits, paid time off, and
retirement saving plans.

Information about our Executive Officers

Our executive officers as of August 15, 2025, were as follows:

Name Position
Officer
Since

Age as of
8/15/25

Jennifer A. Parmentier Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer 2015 58 
Todd M. Leombruno Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 2017 55 
Andrew D. Ross President and Chief Operating Officer 2012 58 
Mark J. Hart Executive Vice President – Human Resources and External Affairs 2016 60 
Rachid Bendali Vice President and President – Engineered Materials Group 2022 48 
Berend Bracht Vice President and President – Motion Systems Group 2021 59 
Mark T. Czaja Vice President – Chief Technology and Innovation Officer 2021 63 
Thomas C. Gentile Vice President – Global Supply Chain 2017 53 
Angela R. Ives Vice President and Controller 2021 52 
Matthew A. Jacobson Vice President and President – Filtration Group 2025 46 
Joseph R. Leonti Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 2014 53 
Dinu J. Parel Vice President – Chief Digital and Information Officer 2018 44 
Jay P. Reidy Vice President and President – Aerospace Group 2024 42 
Patrick M. Scott Vice President and President – Fluid Connectors Group 2024 47 
Robert W. Malone Vice President 2014 61 

Executive officers are elected by the Board of Directors to serve for a term of one year or until their respective successors are elected, except in the case of death, resignation or removal.

Ms. Parmentier has been Chairman of the Board since January 2024 and Chief Executive Officer since January 2023. Before becoming Chief Executive Officer in 2023, she
was Chief Operating Officer since August 2021. She was Vice President and President of the Motion Systems Group from February 2019 to August 2021. She was Vice
President and President of the Engineered Materials Group from September 2015 to February 2019. She was General Manager of the Hose Products Division from May 2014 to
September 2015; and General Manager of the Sporlan Division from May 2012 to May 2014. She is also a Director of Nordson Corporation.

Mr. Leombruno has been Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since January 2021. He was Vice President and Controller from July 2017 to January 2021. He
was Vice President and Controller – Engineered Materials Group from January 2015 to June 2017; and Director of Investor Relations from June 2012 to December 2014. He is
also a Director of The Timken Company.

Mr. Ross has been President since January 2024 and Chief Operating Officer since January 2023. He was Vice President and President of the Fluid Connectors Group from
September 2015 to December 2022. He was Vice President and President of the Engineered Materials Group from July 2012 to September 2015.

(1)

(1) 
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Mr. Hart has been Executive Vice President - Human Resources and External Affairs since January 2016. He was Vice President - Total Rewards from August 2013 to January
2016.

Mr. Bendali has been Vice President and President of the Engineered Materials Group since August 2022. He was Vice President of Operations for the Engineered Materials
Group from October 2021 to July 2022 and was General Manager of the Noise, Vibration and Harshness Division from October 2019 to September 2021. Prior to joining the
Company as part of the acquisition of LORD Corporation ("Lord") in October 2019, Mr. Bendali was Vice President at LORD with responsibility for Aerospace and Defense
sales, marketing and programs.

Mr. Bracht has been Vice President and President of the Motion Systems Group since August 2021. He was Vice President of Operations for the Engineered Materials Group
from July 2018 to August 2021. He was President and Chief Executive Officer of Bendix Commercial Vehicle Systems LLC from 2015 to 2018. Bendix designs, develops and
supplies products under the Bendix brand name for medium- and heavy-duty trucks, tractors, trailers, buses, and other commercial vehicles throughout North America. Prior to
Bendix, he held several executive leadership positions during his 24-year career at Bosch Rexroth, including President and Chief Executive Officer of Bosch Rexroth Americas.

Mr. Czaja has been Vice President - Chief Technology and Innovation Officer since January 2021. He was Vice President of Technology and Innovation for the Motion Systems
Group from August 2019 to December 2020; Vice President of Technology and Innovation for the Aerospace Group from August 2004 to July 2019; and Division Engineering
Director from October 2000 to July 2004.

Mr. Gentile has been Vice President - Global Supply Chain since July 2017. He was General Manager of the Company's Process Filtration Division from December 2013 to
July 2017 and was Vice President of Supply Chain for the Filtration Group from July 2008 to November 2013.

Ms. Ives has been Vice President and Controller since January 2021. She was Vice President, Assistant Controller from September 2020 to December 2020; Group VP
Controller for the Instrumentation Group from November 2019 to August 2020; and Division Controller for the Electromechanical and Drives Division from October 2010 to
October 2019.

Mr. Jacobson has been Vice President and President of the Filtration Group since July 2025. He was Vice President of Operations for the Motion Systems Group from July
2021 to June 2025 and Vice President of Supply Chain for the Motion Systems Group from June 2020 to June 2021. He held General Manager roles with the Hydraulic Pump
and Power Systems Division and the Accumulator and Cooler Division from March 2013 to May 2020.

Mr. Leonti has been Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since July 2014. He was Assistant Secretary from April 2011 to July 2014 and Associate General Counsel
from January 2008 to July 2014.

Mr. Parel has been Vice President - Chief Digital and Information Officer since January 2021. He was Vice President and Chief Information Officer from October 2018 to
January 2021. He was Vice President and Chief Information Officer at Dover Corporation from May 2016 through October 2018. Dover is a diversified global manufacturer
that delivers equipment and components, consumable supplies, aftermarket parts, software and digital solutions and support services.

Mr. Reidy has been Vice President and President of the Aerospace Group since January 2024. He was Vice President of Operations for the Aerospace Group from December
2022 to December 2023. He held General Manager roles with the Precision Fluidics Division, the Advanced Atomization Technologies joint venture, and the Gas Turbine Fuel
Systems Division from May 2017 to December 2022.

Mr. Scott has been Vice President and President of the Fluid Connectors Group since January 2024. He was Vice President of Operations for the Aerospace Group from May
2021 to December 2023 and also served as Integration Leader for Parker’s acquisition of Meggitt plc. He held General Manager roles with the Gas Turbine Fuel Systems
Division and the Fluid Systems Connectors Divisions from December 2015 to May 2021.

Mr. Malone has been a Vice President since December 2014 and previously also held the role of President of the Filtration Group from December 2014 to June 2025. He was
Vice President of Operations for the Filtration Group from January 2013 to December 2014. He is also a Director of The Manitowoc Company, Inc.

ITEM 1A. Risk Factors

The following "risk factors" identify what we believe to be the risks that could materially adversely affect our financial and/or operational performance. These risk factors
should be considered and evaluated together with information incorporated by reference or otherwise included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Additional risks
not currently known to the
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Company or that the Company currently believes are immaterial also may impair the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Business and Operational Risks

Risks arising from uncertainty in worldwide and regional economic conditions may harm our business and make it difficult to project long-term performance.

Our business is sensitive to global macro-economic conditions. Macroeconomic downturns may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition, as well as our distributors, customers and suppliers, and on activity in many of the industries and markets we serve. Among the economic factors which may have
such an effect are manufacturing and other end-market activity, currency exchange rates, air travel trends, difficulties entering new markets, tariffs and governmental trade and
monetary policies, global pandemics, and general economic conditions such as inflation, deflation, interest rates and credit availability. These factors may, among other things,
negatively impact our level of purchases, capital expenditures, and creditworthiness, as well as our distributors, customers and suppliers, and, therefore, the Company’s
revenues, operating profits, margins, and order rates.

We cannot predict changes in worldwide or regional economic conditions and government policies, as such conditions are highly volatile and beyond our control. In addition,
our responses to mitigate the impact of these conditions, such as potential price increases, could negatively impact our market share or relationships with distributors or
customers. If these conditions deteriorate or remain at depressed levels for extended periods, however, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be
materially adversely affected.

As a global business, we are exposed to economic, political and other risks in different countries in which we operate, which could materially reduce our sales,
profitability or cash flows, or materially increase our liabilities.

Our net sales attributable to selling locations outside of the United States were approximately 36 percent in 2025, 36 percent in 2024 and 37 percent in 2023. In addition, many
of our customers, manufacturing operations and suppliers are located outside the United States. The Company expects net sales from non-U.S. markets to continue to represent
a significant portion of its total net sales. Our non-U.S. operations are subject to risks in addition to those facing our domestic operations, including:

• fluctuations in currency exchange rates and/or changes in monetary policy;
• limitations on ownership and on repatriation of earnings;
• transportation delays and other supply chain disruptions;
• political, social and economic instability and disruptions, including armed conflicts;
• government embargoes, sanctions or trade restrictions, including possible further restrictions on trade and/or obstacles to conducting business in China;
• the imposition of duties and tariffs and other trade barriers;
• import and export controls;
• labor unrest and current and changing regulatory environments;
• public health crises, including pandemics;
• the potential for nationalization of enterprises;
• difficulties in staffing and managing multi-national operations;
• limitations on our ability to enforce legal rights and remedies;
• potentially adverse tax consequences, including any consequences from the One Big Beautiful Bill Act; and
• difficulties in implementing restructuring actions on a timely basis.

For example, the global nature of our business and our operations exposes us to political, economic, and other conditions in foreign countries and regions, such as the
uncertainty about the future relationship between the U.S. and China, including with respect to trade policies, treaties, government regulations and tariffs. Any increased trade
barriers or restrictions on global trade, including trade with China, could adversely impact our business, results of operations or financial condition.

If we are unable to successfully manage the risks associated with expanding our global business or adequately manage operational fluctuations internationally, the risks could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.
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Increased cybersecurity threats and more sophisticated and targeted computer crime have posed and could continue to pose a risk to our information technology
systems, and a disruption to or breach in the security of such systems, if material, could have adverse effects on our result of operations and financial condition.

We rely extensively on information technology systems to manage and operate our business, some of which are managed or accessible by third parties. The security and
functionality of these information technology systems, and the processing of data by these systems, are critical to our business operations. If these systems, or any part of the
systems, are damaged, intruded upon, attacked, shutdown or cease to function properly (whether by planned upgrades, force majeure, telecommunications failures, criminal
acts, including hardware or software break-ins or extortion attempts, or viruses, or other cybersecurity incidents) and we suffer any resulting interruption in our ability to
manage and operate our business or if our products are affected, our results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. There can be no
guarantee that the actions and controls we have implemented and are implementing, or which we cause or have caused third-parties with access to our systems to implement,
will be sufficient to protect and mitigate risks associated with our information technology systems. Additionally, certain of our employees working remotely at times and the
increased adoption of generative artificial intelligence may increase our vulnerability to cyber and data protection risks. In addition to existing risks, any adoption or
deployment of or exposure to new technologies via acquisitions or internal initiatives or changes to our information technology systems as a result of divestitures may increase
our exposure to risks, breaches, or failures, which could materially adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition. Furthermore, the Company has access to
sensitive, confidential, or personal data or information that is subject to privacy and security laws, regulations, or other contractually-imposed controls. Despite our use of
reasonable and appropriate controls, security breaches, theft, misplaced, lost or corrupted data, programming, or employee errors and/or malfeasance have led and could in the
future lead to the compromise or improper use of such sensitive, confidential, or personal data or information. Such events may result in possible negative consequences, such
as fines, ransom demands, penalties, failure to comply with laws governing sensitive data, loss of reputation, intellectual property, competitiveness or customers, increased
security and compliance costs or other negative consequences. Further, the amount of insurance coverage that we maintain may be inadequate to cover claims or liabilities
relating to a cybersecurity incident. Depending on the nature and magnitude of these events, they may have an adverse impact on our results of operations or financial
condition.

Price and supply fluctuations of the raw materials used in our production processes and by our suppliers of component parts could negatively impact our financial
results.

Our supply of raw materials could be interrupted for a variety of reasons, including availability and pricing. Furthermore, changes to United States and other countries' tariff
and import/export regulations have in the past and may in the future have a negative impact on the availability and pricing of raw materials. Prices for raw materials necessary
for production have fluctuated significantly in the past and significant increases could adversely affect our results of operations and profit margins. Our efforts to manage these
fluctuations by, among other things, passing along price increases to our customers, may be subject to a time delay between the increased raw material prices and our ability to
increase the price of our products, or we may be unable to increase the prices of our products due to pricing pressure, contract terms or other factors. Any such inability to
manage fluctuations could adversely impact our results of operations and cash flows.

Our suppliers of component parts may significantly and quickly increase their prices in response to increases in costs of raw materials that they use to manufacture the
component parts. As a result, we may not be able to increase our prices commensurately with our increased costs. Consequently, our results of operations or financial condition
could be materially adversely affected.

Our operations are subject to natural and man-made unexpected events that may increase our costs, interrupt production or our supply chain or otherwise adversely
affect our business, results of operations or financial condition.

The occurrence of one or more unexpected events, including war, acts of terrorism or violence, civil unrest, fires, tornadoes, hurricanes, earthquakes, floods and other forms of
severe weather in the United States or in other countries in which we operate or in which our suppliers are located could adversely affect our operations and financial
performance. Natural disasters, pandemics, equipment failures, power outages or other unexpected events could result in physical damage to and complete or partial closure of
one or more of our manufacturing facilities or distribution centers, temporary or long-term disruption in the supply of component products from some local and international
suppliers, and disruption and delay in the transport of our products to dealers, end-users and distribution centers. Existing insurance coverage may not provide protection for all
of the costs that may arise from such events. The impacts of these unexpected events are difficult to predict but could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations or financial condition.
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Changes in the demand for and supply of our products may adversely affect our financial results, financial condition and cash flow.

Demand for and supply of our products has been and may be adversely affected by numerous factors, some of which we cannot predict or control. Such factors include:

• changes in business relationships with and purchases by or from major customers, suppliers or distributors, including delays or cancellations in shipments, disputes
regarding contract terms or significant changes in financial condition, and changes in contract cost and revenue estimates for new development programs;

• changes in product mix;
• changes in the market acceptance of our products;
• increased competition in the markets we serve;
• declines in the general level of industrial production;
• weakness in the end-markets we serve;
• fluctuations in the availability or the prices of raw materials; and
• fluctuations in currency exchange rates.

If any of these factors occur, the demand for and supply of our products could suffer, which could materially adversely affect the Company’s results of operations.

The development of new products and technologies requires substantial investment and is required to remain competitive in the markets we serve. If we are unable to
successfully introduce new commercial products, our profitability could be adversely affected.

The markets we serve are characterized by rapidly changing technologies and frequent introductions of new products and services. Our ability to develop new products based
on technological innovation can affect our competitive position and often requires the investment of significant resources. If we cannot develop, or have difficulties or delays
developing new and enhanced products and services, or if we fail to gain market or regulatory acceptance of new products and technologies, our revenues may be materially
reduced and our competitive position could be materially adversely affected. In addition, we may invest in research and development of products and services, or in acquisitions
or other investments, that do not lead to significant revenue, which could adversely affect our profitability.

Changes in the competitive environment in which we operate may eliminate any competitive advantages that we currently have, which could adversely impact our
business.

Our operations are subject to competition from a wide variety of global, regional and local competitors, which could adversely affect our results of operations by creating
downward pricing pressure and/or a decline in our margins or market shares. To compete successfully, we must excel in terms of product quality and innovation, technological
and engineering capability, manufacturing and distribution capability, delivery, price competitiveness, and customer experience.

We may be required to make material expenditures in order to comply with environmental laws and regulations, to address the effects of climate change and to
respond to customer needs and investor expectations regarding climate-related goals, each of which may negatively impact our business.

Our operations necessitate the use and handling of hazardous materials and, as a result, subject us to various U.S. federal, state and local laws and regulations, as well as non-
U.S. laws, designed to protect the environment and to regulate the discharge of materials into the environment. These laws impose penalties, fines and other sanctions for non-
compliance and liability for response costs, property damages and personal injury resulting from past and current spills, disposals or other releases of, or the exposure to,
hazardous materials. Among other laws, we are subject to the U.S. federal "Superfund" law, under which we have been designated as a "potentially responsible party" and may
be liable for clean-up costs associated with various waste sites, some of which are on the United States Environmental Protection Agency’s Superfund priority list. We could
incur substantial costs as a result of non-compliance with or liability for cleanup or other costs or damages under environmental laws, including the "Superfund" law.

In addition, worldwide focus on climate change issues has led to legislative and regulatory efforts to limit greenhouse gas emissions in the United States and in other countries
in which we operate. Increased regulation of greenhouse gas emissions and other climate change concerns could subject us to additional costs and restrictions, including
increased energy and raw material costs. We are not able to predict how such regulations would affect our business, operations or financial results, but increased regulation
could have a material adverse effect on our business, operations and financial condition.
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Climate change could also present risks to our operations. Extreme weather events linked to climate change, including hurricanes, flooding, wildfires, high heat and water
scarcity, among others, create physical risks to our operating locations and supply chains. Further, although we are working towards and intend to meet our goal of achieving
near-total decarbonization (scope 1 and 2 emissions) within our operations by 2040, we may be required to expend significant resources to do so, which could increase our
operational costs. There can be no assurance of the extent to which any of our climate-related goals will be achieved, if at all, including on the timeline expected by customers
or investors, or that any future investments we make in furtherance of achieving our goals will meet customer expectations and needs, investor expectations or market standards
regarding sustainability, including reducing greenhouse gas emissions. Any failure, or perceived failure, by us to achieve our climate-related goals, further our initiatives,
adhere to our public statements, comply with federal, state or international climate-related laws and regulations or meet evolving and varied customer and investor expectations
and standards could result in legal and regulatory proceedings against us or could cause our customers to find other suppliers, each of which could adversely affect our
reputation, the market price of our common shares, our results of operations, our financial condition or our cash flows.

We operate in challenging markets for talent and may fail to attract, develop and retain key personnel.

We depend on the skills, institutional knowledge, working relationships, and continued services and contributions of key personnel, including our leadership team and others at
all levels of the company, as a critical part of our human capital resources. In addition, our ability to achieve our operating and strategic goals depends on our ability to identify,
hire, train and retain qualified individuals. We compete with other companies both within and outside of our industry for talented personnel in a highly competitive labor
market, and we may lose key personnel or fail to attract other talented personnel or otherwise identify and retain suitable replacements. Any such loss or failure could have
material adverse effects on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Strategic Transactions Risks

We are subject to risks relating to acquisitions and joint ventures, and risks relating to the integration of acquired companies.

We expect to continue our strategy of identifying and acquiring businesses with complementary products and services, and entering into joint ventures, which we believe will
enhance our operations and profitability. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to continue to find suitable businesses to purchase or joint venture
opportunities, or that we will be able to acquire such businesses or enter into such joint ventures on acceptable terms. In addition, we may be unable to consummate announced
pending transactions, including the Curtis Instruments, Inc. acquisition, due to an inability to obtain necessary regulatory approvals or support for otherwise suitable business
targets or joint venture opportunities or otherwise, and we may be unable to obtain such regulatory approvals or support or otherwise consummate transactions on the timeline
or terms that we anticipate, if at all. Furthermore, there are no assurances that we will be able to avoid acquiring or assuming unexpected liabilities. If we are unable to avoid
these risks, our results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

In addition, we may not be able to integrate successfully any businesses that we purchase into our existing business, and it is possible that any acquired businesses or joint
ventures may not be profitable. We may encounter, or have encountered, the following difficulties during the integration process:

• the consequences of a change in tax treatment, including the cost of integration and compliance and the possibility that the full benefits anticipated to result from the
acquisitions may not be realized;

• delays in the integration of management teams, strategies, operations, products, and services;
• differences in business backgrounds, corporate cultures, and management philosophies that may delay successful integration;
• the ability to retain key employees;
• the ability to create and enforce uniform standards, controls, procedures, policies, and information systems;
• challenges of integrating complex systems, technologies, networks, and other assets of the acquired companies in a manner that minimizes any adverse impact or

disruptions to customers, suppliers, employees, and other constituencies; and
• unknown liabilities and unforeseen increased expenses or delays associated with the integration beyond current estimates.

If we are unable to avoid these risks, our results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
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Our results may be adversely affected if expanded operations from acquisitions are not effectively managed.

Our recent acquisitions have expanded, and further acquisitions and joint ventures may expand, significantly the size and complexity and reduce costs of our business. Our
future success depends, in part, on the ability to manage this expanded business, which may pose or has posed substantial challenges for management, including challenges
related to the management and monitoring of the expanded global operations and new manufacturing processes and products, and the associated costs and complexity. There
can be no assurance of successful management of these matters or that we will realize the expected benefits of the acquisitions.

The Company may be subject to risks relating to organizational changes.

We regularly execute organizational changes such as divestitures and realignments to support our growth and cost management strategies. We also engage in initiatives aimed to
increase productivity, efficiencies and cash flow and to reduce costs. The Company commits significant resources to identify, develop and retain key employees to ensure
uninterrupted leadership and direction. If we are unable to successfully manage these and other organizational changes, the ability to complete such activities and realize
anticipated synergies or cost savings as well as our results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected. We cannot offer assurances that any of
these initiatives will be beneficial to the extent anticipated, or that the estimated efficiency improvements, incremental cost savings or cash flow improvements will be realized
as anticipated or at all.

Financial Risks

Increasing costs of certain employee and retiree benefits could adversely affect our liability for such benefits.

The funding requirements and the amount of expenses recorded for our defined benefit pension plans are dependent on changes in market interest rates and the value of plan
assets, which are dependent on actual plan asset returns. Significant changes in market interest rates and decreases in the fair value of plan assets and investment losses on plan
assets would increase funding requirements and expenses and may adversely impact our results of operations.

The Company absorbs a portion of healthcare costs for its employees. If healthcare costs rise significantly and we continue to absorb the majority of these costs, these
increasing costs may adversely impact our future results of operations.

Additional liabilities relating to changes in tax rates or exposure to additional income tax liabilities could adversely impact our financial condition and cash flow.

We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and various non-U.S. jurisdictions. Our domestic and international tax liabilities are dependent upon the location of earnings among
these different jurisdictions. Our future financial condition and cash flow could be adversely affected by changes in effective tax rate as a result of changes in tax laws and
judicial or regulatory interpretation thereof (including regulations and other guidance promulgated under the One Big Beautiful Bill Act), the mix of earnings in countries with
differing statutory tax rates, changes in overall profitability, changes in U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"), or changes in the valuation of deferred tax
assets. In addition, the amount of income taxes paid by the Company is subject to ongoing audits by non-U.S. and U.S. federal, state and local tax authorities. If these audits
result in assessments different from estimated amounts, future financial results may include unfavorable adjustments to the Company’s tax liabilities, which could have a
material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition and cash flow.

Our indebtedness and restrictive covenants under our credit facilities could limit our operational and financial flexibility.

We have incurred significant indebtedness, and expect to incur additional debt for acquisitions, operations, research and development and capital expenditures, or for other
reasons related to our overall capital deployment strategy. Our ability to make interest and scheduled principal payments and meet restrictive covenants could be adversely
impacted by changes in the availability, terms and cost of capital, changes in interest rates or changes in our credit ratings or our outlook. These changes could increase our cost
of financing and limit our debt capacity, thereby limiting our ability to pursue acquisition opportunities, react to market conditions and meet operational and capital needs,
which may place us at a competitive disadvantage.

We carry goodwill on our balance sheet, which is subject to impairment testing and could subject us to significant non-cash charges to earnings in the future if
impairment occurs.

We have goodwill recorded on our balance sheet. Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for impairment annually as of January 1, in the third quarter or more often if events or
changes in circumstances indicate a potential impairment may exist. Factors that could indicate that our goodwill is impaired include a decline in our stock price and market
capitalization, lower than projected operating results and cash flows, and slower growth rates in our industry. Declines in our stock price, lower
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operating results and any decline in industry conditions in the future could increase the risk of impairment. Impairment testing incorporates our estimates of future operating
results and cash flows, estimates of allocations of certain assets and cash flows among reporting units, estimates of future growth rates, and our judgment regarding the
applicable discount rates used on estimated operating results and cash flows. If we determine at a future time that impairment exists, it may result in a significant non-cash
charge to earnings and lower stockholders’ equity.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

As a provider of products to the U.S. government, we are subject to additional risks related to future government spending as well as unusual performance conditions
and enhanced compliance risks.

In addition to the risks identified herein, doing business with the U.S. government subjects us to unusual risks, including dependence on the level of government spending and
compliance with and changes in governmental acquisition regulations. Agreements relating to the sale of products to government entities may be subject to termination,
reduction or modification, either at the convenience of the government or for our failure to perform, or other unsatisfactory performance under the applicable contract. We are
subject to government investigations of our business practices and compliance with government acquisition regulations. If the Company were charged with wrongdoing as a
result of any such investigation, it could be suspended from bidding on or receiving awards of new government contracts, and we could be subject to fines or penalties
associated with contract non-compliance or resulting from such investigations, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Litigation and legal and regulatory proceedings against the Company could decrease our liquidity, impair our financial condition and adversely affect our results of
operations.

From time to time, we are subject to litigation or other commercial disputes and other legal and regulatory proceedings relating to our business. Due to the inherent
uncertainties of any litigation, commercial disputes or other legal or regulatory proceedings, we cannot accurately predict their ultimate outcome, including the outcome of any
related appeals. An unfavorable outcome could materially adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, as required by U.S. GAAP,
we establish reserves based on our assessment of contingencies, including contingencies related to legal claims asserted against us. Subsequent developments in legal
proceedings may affect our assessment and estimates of the loss contingency recorded as a reserve and require us to make payments in excess of our reserves, which could have
an adverse effect on our results of operations.

We are subject to national and international laws and regulations, such as the anti-corruption laws of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the U.K. Bribery Act, relating
to our business and our employees. Despite our policies, procedures and compliance programs, our internal controls and compliance systems may not be able to protect the
Company from prohibited acts willfully committed by our employees, agents or business partners that would violate such applicable laws and regulations. Any such improper
acts could damage the Company's reputation, subject us to civil or criminal judgments, fines or penalties, and could otherwise disrupt the Company's business, and as a result,
could materially adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Further, our operations are subject to certain antitrust and competition laws in the jurisdictions in which we conduct our business, in particular the United States and Europe.
These laws prohibit, among other things, anticompetitive agreements and practices. If any of our commercial agreements or practices are found to violate or infringe such laws,
we may be subject to civil and other penalties. We may also be subject to third-party claims for damages. Further, agreements that infringe antitrust and competition laws may
be void and unenforceable, in whole or in part, or require modification in order to be lawful and enforceable. Accordingly, any violation of these laws could harm our reputation
and could have a material adverse effect on our earnings, cash flows and financial condition.

Due to the nature of our business and products, we may be liable for damages based on product liability claims.

Our businesses expose us to potential product liability risks that are inherent in the design, manufacture and sale of our products and the products of third-party vendors that we
use or resell. Significant product liability claims could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial condition, liquidity and results of operations. Although we
currently maintain what we believe to be suitable and adequate product liability insurance, there can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain our insurance on
acceptable terms or that our insurance will provide adequate protection against all potential significant liabilities.

Failure to protect our intellectual property and know-how could reduce or eliminate any competitive advantage and reduce our sales and profitability, and the cost of
protecting our intellectual property may be significant.

Protecting our intellectual property is critical to our innovation efforts. We own a number of patents, trade secrets, copyrights, trademarks, trade names and other forms of
intellectual property related to our products and services throughout the world and
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in the operation of our business. We also have exclusive and non-exclusive rights to intellectual property owned by others. Our intellectual property may be challenged, stolen
or otherwise infringed upon by third parties or we may be unable to maintain, renew or enter into new license agreements with third-party owners of intellectual property on
reasonable terms. In addition, the global nature of our business increases the risk that our intellectual property may be subject to infringement, theft or other unauthorized use or
disclosure by others. In some cases, our ability to protect our intellectual property rights by legal recourse or otherwise may be limited, particularly in countries where laws or
enforcement practices are inadequate or undeveloped. And the cost of enforcing our rights may be significant. Unauthorized use or disclosure of our intellectual property rights
or our inability to protect our intellectual property rights could lead to reputational harm and/or adversely impact our competitive position and results of operations.

ITEM 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

ITEM 1C. Cybersecurity

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

Parker is committed to the protection of the Company’s data, data systems and digital assets while in storage, use or transit. Our cybersecurity program is integrated into our
overall Enterprise Risk Management program and exists to secure our information systems and data assets, including those data assets entrusted to us by our stakeholders, and
to promote our compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

We proactively work to address cybersecurity risk through our Digital & IT Risk Management Program, which focuses on identifying, assessing, responding to, monitoring and
remediating cybersecurity-related risks. Parker’s dedicated Cyber Security team utilizes the National Institute of Standards and Technology ("NIST") Cyber Security
Framework as its primary resource for identifying areas of risk and benchmarking and implementing continuous improvements. Our technical security configuration employs a
centrally managed, layered approach, including hardened PCs, endpoint security detection software, email security, firewall appliances, and various network security
protections. We employ enhanced security measures for operational technologies and secure account management, including a secondary anti-malware solution to our existing
software to bolster our company-wide defenses. Additionally, we utilize third-party security monitoring services to further improve our 24/7 monitoring capabilities. We also
maintain a third-party risk management program, which includes formally evaluating new vendors at onboarding and monitoring existing vendors on an ongoing basis,
designed to oversee, identify, and reduce the potential impact to Parker and our customers of a security incident at a third-party vendor, supplier or other provider.

We have adopted comprehensive Information Security Policies and Standards that clearly articulate Parker’s expectations and requirements with respect to acceptable use, risk
management, data privacy, education and awareness, security incident management and reporting, identity and access management, third-party management, security (with
respect to physical assets, products, networks and systems), security monitoring and vulnerability identification. These policies and standards set forth a detailed security
incident management and reporting protocol, with clear escalation timelines and responsibilities. We also maintain a global incident response plan and regularly conduct
exercises to help with our overall preparedness.

We believe cybersecurity is the responsibility of every team member and provide ongoing mandatory cybersecurity awareness training globally to help team members
recognize, avoid and report malicious activity. This includes interactive training to engage team members in identifying phishing risks and their appropriate response. We also
provide regular training on data protection so that our team members understand the types of data they have and how to safeguard it.

Continuous improvement is a critical aspect of Parker’s cybersecurity program, which is why we integrate security intelligence from internal and external sources to help
identify areas for improvement and gap remediation. As a supplement to our internal cybersecurity capabilities and controls, we partner with third-party consultants and
advisors to conduct penetration testing and to assess our incident response plan. We periodically undergo a third-party risk assessment and third-party incident response
adversarial engagement exercises to strengthen our security profile. We also conduct internal tabletop exercises to prepare for responding to potential cybersecurity events.
Parker also maintains cyber security insurance designed to mitigate the impact of any attacks or threats to our business.

Within the last three years, Parker has only experienced immaterial information security breaches for which the total expenses were immaterial. As of the date of this report, we
do not believe that any risks from cybersecurity threats, including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have materially affected or are reasonably likely to
materially affect the Company, including its business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. However, as discussed more fully under Item 1A. “Risk Factors—
Business and Operational Risks” of this Form 10-K, cybersecurity threats remain a risk to our business operations.
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Cybersecurity Governance

Management is responsible for assessing and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats with leadership from the Company’s Vice President – Chief Digital and
Information Officer ("CDIO"), who is responsible for the Company’s global Digital, Information Technology and Cyber Security organization. Our CDIO has served in various
roles in information technology and information security for approximately 20 years with Fortune 500 companies. Our CDIO holds Bachelor of Science and Master of Science
degrees in Computer Engineering. He has also completed other advanced leadership training and coursework regarding cybersecurity risk management. Our CDIO reports
directly to the Chief Executive Officer.

Parker’s cybersecurity program is led by our Digital & IT VP – Infrastructure and Security, who functions as our chief information security officer ("CISO") and has over 25
years of experience in cybersecurity operations, cybersecurity governance and compliance, risk management, operational technology ("OT") and connected products ("IoT")
with global Fortune 200 and Fortune 500 companies across diverse industries, such as retail, consumer goods, entertainment and manufacturing. The CISO reports to our CDIO
and is supported by and receives regular updates from our dedicated Cyber Security team within our IT function, as well as our IT Risk Council, a cross-functional group that
meets regularly to optimize our Digital & IT Risk Management Program and promote alignment with our Enterprise Risk Management program.

Recognizing the importance of maintaining a secure environment for our products, data and systems that effectively supports our business objectives and customer needs,
Parker’s full Board of Directors maintains oversight of cybersecurity. Our Board receives an in-depth report from our CDIO, at least annually, on the overall cybersecurity
program, and updates throughout the year from our CDIO and CISO regarding such topics as cyber-risk management and the status of projects to strengthen cybersecurity
effectiveness.

ITEM 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located in Cleveland, Ohio, and, at June 30, 2025, the Company maintained approximately 322 manufacturing plants. We also maintain various
sales and administrative offices and distribution centers throughout the world. None of these manufacturing plants, administrative offices or distribution centers are individually
material to our operations. The facilities are situated in 35 states within the United States and in 42 other countries. We own the majority of our manufacturing plants. Our
leased properties consist of sales and administrative offices and distribution centers as well as manufacturing plants.

We believe that our properties have been adequately maintained, are in good condition generally and are suitable and adequate for our business as presently conducted. The
extent to which we utilize our properties varies by property and from time to time. We believe that our restructuring efforts have brought capacity levels closer to present and
anticipated needs. Most of our manufacturing facilities remain capable of handling volume increases.

ITEM 3. Legal Proceedings

None. From time to time we are involved in matters that involve governmental authorities as a party under federal, state and local laws that have been enacted or adopted
regulating the discharge of materials into the environment or primarily for the purpose of protecting the environment. We will report such matters that exceed, or that we
reasonably believe may exceed, $1.0 million or more in monetary sanctions.

ITEM 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

(a) Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity. The Company’s common stock is listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol "PH".
As of July 31, 2025, the number of shareholders of record of the Company was 2,898.

(b) Use of Proceeds. Not Applicable.
(c)    Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers.

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Period

(a) Total
Number
of Shares

Purchased

(b) Average
Price Paid
Per Share

(c) Total Number of
Shares Purchased
as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans

or Programs

(d) Maximum Number
(or Approximate
Dollar Value) of

Shares that May Yet
Be Purchased

Under the Plans or
Programs

April 1, 2025 through April 30, 2025 30,600  $ 569.23  30,600  6,074,002 
May 1, 2025 through May 31, 2025 761,760  $ 656.32  761,760  5,312,242 
June 1, 2025 through June 30, 2025 502,719  $ 663.31  502,719  4,809,523 

Total 1,295,079  1,295,079 

On October 22, 2014, the Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of up to 35.0 million of the Company's common shares. On August 21, 2025, the
Board of Directors approved an update to the number of shares available under the Company's existing share repurchase authorization so that the aggregate number of shares available for
repurchase as of such date was 20.0 million. There is no limitation on the number of shares that can be repurchased in a year and there is no expiration date for the program.

ITEM 6. [Reserved]

(1)

(1)
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ITEM 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Forward-Looking Statements

Forward-looking statements contained in this and other written and oral reports are made based on known events and circumstances at the time of release, and as such, are
subject in the future to unforeseen uncertainties and risks. Often but not always, these statements may be identified from the use of forward-looking terminology such as
"anticipates," "believes," "may," "should," "could," "expects," "targets," "is likely," "will," or the negative of these terms and similar expressions, and include all statements
regarding future performance, orders, earnings projections, events or developments. Neither Parker nor any of its respective associates or directors, officers or advisers provides
any representation, assurance or guarantee that the occurrence of the events expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements will actually occur. Parker cautions readers
not to place undue reliance on these statements. It is possible that the future performance may differ materially from past performance or current expectations. A change in the
economic conditions in individual markets may have a particularly volatile effect on segment performance.

Among other factors which may affect future performance are:

• changes in business relationships with and orders by or from major customers, suppliers or distributors, including delays or cancellations in shipments;
• disputes regarding contract terms, changes in contract costs and revenue estimates for new development programs;
• changes in product mix;
• ability to identify acceptable strategic acquisition targets;
• uncertainties surrounding timing, successful completion or integration of acquisitions and similar transactions, including the acquisition of Curtis Instruments, Inc.;
• ability to successfully divest businesses planned for divestiture and realize the anticipated benefits of such divestitures;
• the determination and ability to successfully undertake business realignment activities and the expected costs, including cost savings, thereof;
• ability to implement successfully business and operating initiatives, including the timing, price and execution of share repurchases and other capital initiatives;
• availability, cost increases of or other limitations on our access to raw materials, component products and/or commodities if associated costs cannot be recovered in

product pricing;
• ability to manage costs related to insurance and employee retirement and health care benefits;
• legal and regulatory developments and other government actions, including related to environmental protection, and associated compliance costs; supply chain and

labor disruptions, including as a result of tariffs and labor shortages;
• threats associated with international conflicts and cybersecurity risks and risks associated with protecting our intellectual property;
• uncertainties surrounding the ultimate resolution of outstanding legal proceedings, including the outcome of any appeals;
• effects on market conditions, including sales and pricing, resulting from global reactions to U.S. trade policies;
• manufacturing activity, air travel trends, currency exchange rates, difficulties entering new markets and economic conditions such as inflation, deflation, interest rates

and credit availability; inability to obtain, or meet conditions imposed for, required governmental and regulatory approvals;
• changes in the tax laws in the United States and foreign jurisdictions and judicial or regulatory interpretations thereof; and
• large scale disasters, such as floods, earthquakes, hurricanes, industrial accidents and pandemics.

The Company makes these statements as of the date of the filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2025 and undertakes no obligation to update
them unless otherwise required by law.
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Overview

The Company is a global leader in motion and control technologies. Leveraging a unique combination of interconnected technologies, we design, manufacture, and provide
aftermarket support for highly engineered solutions that create value for customers primarily in aerospace and defense, in-plant and industrial equipment, transportation, off-
highway, energy, and HVAC and refrigeration markets around the world.

By aligning around our purpose, Enabling Engineering Breakthroughs that Lead to a Better Tomorrow, Parker is better positioned for the challenges and opportunities of
tomorrow.

The Win Strategy 3.0 is Parker's business system which defines the goals and initiatives that create responsible, sustainable growth and enable Parker's long-term success. It
works with our purpose, which is a foundational element of The Win Strategy, to engage team members and create responsible and sustainable growth. Our shared values shape
our culture and our interactions with stakeholders and the communities in which we operate and live.

We believe many opportunities for profitable growth are available. The Company intends to focus primarily on business opportunities in the areas of aerospace & defense, in-
plant & industrial equipment, transportation, off-highway, energy, and HVAC and refrigeration. We believe we can meet our strategic objectives by:

• serving the customer and continuously enhancing its experience with the Company;
• successfully executing The Win Strategy initiatives relating to engaged people, premier customer experience, profitable growth and financial performance;
• maintaining a decentralized division and sales company structure;
• fostering a safety-first and entrepreneurial culture;
• engineering innovative systems and products to provide superior customer value through improved service, efficiency and productivity;
• delivering products, systems and services that have demonstrable savings to customers and are priced by the value they deliver;
• enabling a sustainable future by providing innovative clean technology solutions that offer a positive, global environmental impact and operating responsibly by

reducing our energy use and emissions;
• acquiring strategic businesses;
• organizing around targeted regions, technologies and markets;
• driving efficiency by implementing lean enterprise principles; and
• creating a culture of empowerment through our values, inclusion and diversity, accountability and teamwork.

We manage our supply chain through our "local for local" manufacturing strategy, ongoing supplier management process, and broadened supply base. We actively monitor
global trade policies and inflation, managing their impact through a variety of cost and pricing measures. In addition, continuous improvement and lean initiatives, along with
disciplined workforce and discretionary spending management, further enhance our ability to mitigate these impacts. At the same time, we are appropriately addressing the
ongoing needs of our business so that we continue to serve our customers.

Over the long term, the extent to which our business and results of operations will be impacted by global economic and political uncertainty, geopolitical risks and public health
crises depends on future developments that remain uncertain. We will continue to monitor the global environment and manage our business with the goal to minimize
unfavorable impacts on operations and financial results.

The discussion below is structured to separately discuss the Consolidated Statement of Income, Business Segments, and Liquidity and Capital Resources. The term "year" and
references to specific years refer to the applicable fiscal year. Dollars are presented in millions, except per share amounts or as otherwise noted. The Company has changed its
presentation on the Consolidated Financial Statements from thousands to millions and, as a result, any necessary rounding adjustments have been made to prior period disclosed
amounts within Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. Discussion of the 2023 financial statements is included in
Part II, Item 7 of the Company's 2024 Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

The Consolidated Statement of Income summarizes the Company's operating performance. The discussion below compares the operating performance in 2025 and 2024.

(dollars in millions) 2025 2024
Net sales $ 19,850  $ 19,930 
Gross profit margin 36.9 % 35.8 %
Selling, general and administrative expenses $ 3,255  $ 3,315 
Selling, general and administrative expenses, as a percent of sales 16.4 % 16.6 %
Interest expense $ 409  $ 506 
Other (income) expense, net (183) (276)
Gain on sale of businesses and assets, net $ (273) $ (12)
Effective tax rate 14.0 % 20.9 %
Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 3,531  $ 2,844 

Net sales in 2025 decreased from the 2024 amount due to lower sales in the Diversified Industrial Segment, partially offset by higher sales in the Aerospace Systems Segment
resulting from strength across commercial and defense markets. Within the Diversified Industrial Segment, the impact of divestiture activity decreased sales by approximately
$295 million in 2025. The effect of currency exchange rates decreased net sales in 2025 by approximately $41 million, which is primarily attributable to the Diversified
Industrial Segment.

Gross profit margin (calculated as net sales less cost of sales, divided by net sales) increased in 2025 primarily due to higher margins in both segments resulting from price
increases, favorable product mix, cost containment and continued execution of the Win Strategy.

Cost of sales also included business realignment and acquisition integration charges of $31 million and $34 million in 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased in 2025 compared to 2024 primarily due to benefits from prior-year restructuring and acquisition-integration
activities, lower research and development expenses and cost containment initiatives.

Selling, general and administrative expenses also included business realignment and acquisition integration charges of $45 million and $55 million in 2025 and 2024,
respectively.

Interest expense in 2025 decreased compared to 2024 primarily due to lower average debt outstanding.

Other (income) expense, net included the following:

(dollars in millions) 2025 2024
Foreign currency transaction loss (gain) $ 46  $ (38)
Income related to equity method investments (178) (152)
Non-service components of retirement benefit cost (51) (73)
Interest income (11) (15)
Saegertown incident 8  — 
Other items, net 3  2 
Total other (income) expense, net $ (183) $ (276)

Foreign currency transaction loss (gain) primarily relates to the impact of exchange rates on cash, forward contracts and intercompany transactions.

On February 9, 2025, a fire damaged a portion of our Saegertown, Pennsylvania facility, causing a pause in production. Some production and operations were re-established within days of the
event. Global available capacity has been utilized to restore production, substantially fulfill demand and minimize customer disruption. There was no material impact as a result of this
disruption during fiscal 2025 and none is expected during future periods. We maintain third-party insurance coverage for property damage, clean-up, replacement and business interruption,
subject to an $8 million deductible and liability retention for the event, which was recorded in the third quarter of 2025. While we expect to be reimbursed for a significant portion of our
business interruption impacts by our third-party insurance coverage, we will not record any associated gain until realized.

(1)

(2)

(1) 

(2) 
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Gain on sale of businesses and assets, net in 2025 primarily relates to the divestiture of the composites and fuel containment ("CFC") business. Refer to Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion.

Effective tax rate in 2025, was lower than the U.S. Federal statutory rate of 21 percent due to tax benefits from the release of a foreign valuation allowance, share-based
compensation, foreign-derived intangible income and a tax benefit from a lower taxable gain on divestitures than gain under GAAP, which were partially offset by U.S. state
and local taxes and taxes related to international activities.

The effective tax rate in 2024, was lower than the U.S. Federal statutory rate of 21 percent due to share-based compensation and foreign-derived intangible income, which were
partially offset by U.S. state and local taxes and taxes related to international activities.

Refer to Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a further reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory tax rate
to our effective tax rate.

BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Business Segment information presents sales and operating income on a basis that is consistent with the manner in which the Company's various businesses are managed
for internal review and decision-making.

Diversified Industrial Segment
(dollars in millions) 2025 2024
Net sales

North America businesses $ 8,134  $ 8,801 
International businesses 5,531  5,657 

Diversified Industrial Segment 13,665  14,458 
Operating income

North America businesses 1,891  1,963 
International businesses 1,229  1,213 

Diversified Industrial Segment $ 3,120  $ 3,176 
Operating income as a percent of sales

North America businesses 23.2 % 22.3 %
International businesses 22.2 % 21.4 %

Diversified Industrial Segment 22.8 % 22.0 %
Backlog $ 3,655  $ 4,182 
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The Diversified Industrial Segment operations experienced the following percentage changes in net sales:
2025

North America businesses – as reported (7.6)%
Divestitures (3.4)%
Currency (0.5)%
North America businesses – without divestitures and currency (3.7)%

International businesses – as reported (2.2)%
Currency (0.3)%
International businesses – without currency (1.9)%

Diversified Industrial Segment – as reported (5.5)%
Divestitures (2.0)%
Currency (0.5)%
Diversified Industrial Segment – without divestitures and currency (3.0)%

This table reconciles the percentage changes in net sales of the Diversified Industrial Segment reported in accordance with GAAP to percentage changes in net sales adjusted to remove the
effects of divestitures for 12 months after their completion as well as changes in currency exchange rates (a non-GAAP measure). The effects of divestitures and changes in currency exchange
rates are removed to allow investors and the Company to meaningfully evaluate the percentage changes in net sales on a comparable basis from period to period.

Net Sales

Diversified Industrial Segment sales in 2025 decreased $793 million from 2024. The effect of currency exchange rates decreased sales by approximately $63 million. The
impact of divestiture activity decreased sales by approximately $295 million. Excluding the effects of changes in currency exchange rates and divestiture activity, sales in 2025
decreased $435 million from prior-year levels.

North America businesses - Sales within the North America businesses of the Diversified Industrial Segment decreased $667 million in 2025. The effect of currency exchange
rates decreased sales by approximately $43 million during the year. The impact of divestiture activity decreased sales by approximately $295 million. Excluding the effects of
changes in the currency exchange rates and divestiture activity, sales in 2025 decreased $329 million from prior-year levels reflecting lower demand within the off-highway,
transportation, in-plant and industrial equipment and energy markets, partially offset by an increase in demand in the HVAC and refrigeration and aerospace and defense
markets.

International businesses - Sales within the International businesses of the Diversified Industrial Segment decreased $126 million in 2025. The effect of currency exchange rates
decreased sales by approximately $20 million, reflecting the strengthening of the U.S. dollar primarily against currencies in Mexico, Brazil and China, partially offset by the
weakening of the U.S. dollar primarily against currencies in the United Kingdom and the Eurozone countries. Excluding changes in the currency exchange rates, sales in 2025
decreased $106 million from prior-year levels primarily due to lower sales in Europe, partially offset by an increase in sales in the Asia Pacific Region and Latin America.

Within Europe, the decrease in sales was primarily due to lower demand from end users across the in-plant and industrial equipment, off-highway and transportation markets.

Within the Asia Pacific region, the increase in sales was primarily due to higher demand within the electronics and semiconductor and in-plant and industrial equipment
markets, partially offset by lower demand from end users in the transportation, energy and off-highway markets.

Within Latin America, the increase in sales was primarily due to higher demand within the in-plant and industrial equipment, transportation and off-highway markets, partially
offset by lower demand from end users in the energy market.

Operating Margin

Diversified Industrial Segment operating margin increased in 2025, in both the North America and International businesses, primarily due to benefits from favorable product
mix, price increases and benefits related to prior-year restructuring activities as well as cost containment initiatives, partially offset by decreased sales volume.

(1)

(1)

(1)

(1) 
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Business Realignment

The following business realignment and acquisition integration charges are included in the Diversified Industrial Segment operating income:

(dollars in millions) 2025 2024
North America businesses $ 17  $ 22 
International businesses 39  33 

Diversified Industrial Segment $ 56  $ 55 

Business realignment charges include severance costs related to actions taken under the Company's simplification initiative aimed at reducing organizational and process
complexity, as well as plant closures. In both 2025 and 2024, acquisition integration charges relate to the acquisition of Meggitt. Business realignment and acquisition
integration charges within the International businesses were primarily incurred in Europe.

We anticipate that cost savings realized from the workforce reduction measures taken during 2025 will increase operating income in 2026 by approximately two percent for
both the International and North America businesses. We expect to continue to take actions necessary to integrate acquisitions and appropriately structure the operations of the
Diversified Industrial Segment. These actions are expected to result in approximately $65 million in business realignment charges in 2026. However, continually changing
business conditions could impact the ultimate costs we incur.

Backlog

Diversified Industrial Segment backlog decreased in 2025 primarily due to the CFC divestiture in the North America businesses, partially offset by an increase in backlog in the
International businesses. Within the International businesses, the increase in backlog was primarily attributable to Europe, partially offset by the Asia Pacific region and Latin
America.

Backlog consists of written firm orders from a customer to deliver products and, in the case of blanket purchase orders, only includes the portion of the order for which a
schedule or release date has been agreed to with the customer. The dollar value of backlog is equal to the amount that is expected to be billed to the customer and reported as a
sale.

Aerospace Systems Segment

(dollars in millions) 2025 2024
Net sales $ 6,185  $ 5,472 
Operating income $ 1,441  $ 1,111 
Operating income as a percent of sales 23.3 % 20.3 %
Backlog $ 7,389  $ 6,680 

Net Sales

Aerospace Systems Segment sales increased compared to prior-year due to higher volume across all market segments, especially the commercial and defense aftermarkets.

Operating Margin

Aerospace Systems Segment operating margin increased in 2025 primarily due to higher sales volume and favorable aftermarket mix, as well as benefits from cost containment
initiatives and prior-year acquisition integration activities.

Business Realignment

Within the Aerospace Systems Segment, we incurred acquisition integration and business realignment charges of $19 million and $34 million in 2025 and 2024, respectively.
We do not expect to incur significant business realignment and acquisition integration charges in 2026. However, continually changing business conditions could impact the
ultimate costs we incur.

Backlog

Aerospace Systems Segment backlog increased in 2025 primarily due to orders exceeding shipments in the commercial and defense OEM market segments.
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Backlog consists of written firm orders from a customer to deliver products and, in the case of blanket purchase orders, only includes the portion of the order for which a
schedule or release date has been agreed to with the customer. The dollar value of backlog is equal to the amount that is expected to be billed to the customer and reported as a
sale.

Corporate general and administrative expenses

(dollars in millions) 2025 2024
Corporate general and administrative expense $ 214  $ 218 
Corporate general and administrative expense, as a percent of sales 1.1 % 1.1 %

Corporate general and administrative expenses decreased in 2025 primarily due to lower expenses related to the Company's incentive compensation programs, net expense
associated with the Company's deferred compensation plan and related investments, information technology expenses and discretionary spending, partially offset by an increase
in charitable contributions and professional service fees.

Other (income) expense, net

(dollars in millions) 2025 2024
Foreign currency transaction loss (gain) $ 46  $ (38)
Stock-based compensation 97  95 
Non-service components of retirement benefit cost (51) (73)
Gain on sale of businesses and assets, net (273) (12)
Interest income (11) (15)
Saegertown incident 8  — 
Other items, net 15  11 
Total other (income) expense, net $ (169) $ (32)

Foreign currency transaction loss (gain) primarily relates to the impact of exchange rates on cash, forward contracts and intercompany transactions.
Gain on sale of businesses and assets, net primarily relates to the divestiture of the CFC business. Refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion.

The Saegertown incident represents the deductible and retained liability expense associated with a fire at our plant in Saegertown, Pennsylvania in February 2025.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

We believe that we are great generators and deployers of cash. We assess our liquidity in terms of our ability to generate cash to fund our operations and meet our strategic
capital deployment objectives, which include the following:

• Continuing our record annual dividend increases
• Investing in organic growth and productivity
• Strategic acquisitions that strengthen our portfolio
• Share repurchases, including repurchases under the 10b5-1 share repurchase program

Cash Flows

A summary of cash flows follows:

(dollars in millions) 2025 2024
Cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 3,776  $ 3,384 
Investing activities 224  (298)
Financing activities (3,977) (3,115)

Effect of exchange rates 22  (24)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 45  $ (53)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 
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Cash flows from operating activities were $3,776 million in 2025 compared to $3,384 million in 2024. The increase of $392 million in 2025 was primarily related to an
increase in earnings combined with strong management of working capital items. We continue to focus on managing inventory and other working capital requirements.

• Days sales outstanding relating to trade receivables for the Company was 51 days in both 2025 and 2024.
• Days supply of inventory on hand was 82 days in 2025 and 80 days in 2024.

Cash flows from investing activities in 2025 and 2024 were impacted by the following factors:

• Net proceeds totaling $621 million from the sale of the CFC and non-core filtration businesses in fiscal 2025.
• Proceeds totaling $74 million from the sale of the MicroStrain sensing systems and Filter Resources businesses in fiscal 2024.
• Capital expenditures of $435 million in 2025 compared to $400 million in 2024.

Cash flows from financing activities in 2025 and 2024 were impacted by the following factors:

• Repurchases under the Company's share repurchase program amounted to 2.5 million common shares for $1.6 billion during 2025 compared to repurchases of
0.4 million common shares for $200 million during 2024.

• Net commercial paper repayments of $374 million in 2025 compared to net commercial paper borrowings of $359 million in 2024.
• Principal payments totaling $490 million related to the term loan facility (the "Term Loan Facility") in 2025 compared to principal payments totaling $385 million

related to the Term Loan Facility in 2024. Refer to Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further
discussion.

• Aggregate principal payment of $500 million related to the maturity of medium-term notes during fiscal 2025.
• Issuance of €700 million aggregate principal amount of 2.90 percent Senior Notes due 2030 from which proceeds were used to repay the €700 million aggregate

principal amount of 1.125 percent Senior Notes due 2025 in fiscal 2025.
• Payments related to the maturity of $2.0 billion aggregate principal amounts of senior notes in 2024.

Cash Requirements

We are actively monitoring our liquidity position and remain focused on managing our inventory and other working capital requirements. We are targeting 2.5 percent of sales
for capital expenditures for 2026 and have a long-term target of two percent. We will continue to prioritize capital expenditures related to safety, productivity and strategic
investments. We believe that cash generated from operations and our commercial paper program will satisfy our operating needs for the foreseeable future.

We have committed cash outflow related to long-term debt, operating and financing lease agreements, and postretirement benefit obligations. Refer to Notes 11, 12, and 13
respectively, of Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion.

Dividends

Cash dividends have been paid for 300 consecutive quarters, including a yearly increase in dividends for the last 69 years. The current annual dividend rate is $7.20 per
common share.

Share Repurchases

On October 22, 2014, the Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of up to 35.0 million of the Company's common shares. As of
June 30, 2025, we had 4.8 million shares available under this repurchase authorization. On August 21, 2025, the Board of Directors approved an update to the number of shares
available under the Company's existing share repurchase authorization so that the aggregate number of shares available for repurchase as of such date was 20.0 million. There is
no limitation on the number of shares that can be repurchased in a year and there is no expiration date for the program. Repurchases may be funded primarily from operating
cash flows and commercial paper borrowings and the shares are initially held as treasury shares.

Liquidity

Cash, comprised of cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities and other investments, includes $344 million and $311 million held by the Company's foreign
subsidiaries at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The Company does not permanently reinvest certain foreign earnings. The distribution of these earnings could result in
non-federal U.S. or foreign taxes. All other undistributed foreign earnings remain permanently reinvested.
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As of June 30, 2025, the Company had a line of credit totaling $3.0 billion through a multi-currency revolving credit agreement with a group of banks with $1.2 billion
available for borrowing under the credit agreement. On August 21, 2025, the multi-currency revolving credit agreement was amended to increase the total line of credit by $750
million to $3.75 billion. Advances from the credit agreement can be used for general corporate purposes, including acquisitions, and for the refinancing of existing
indebtedness. The credit agreement supports our commercial paper program, and issuances of commercial paper reduce the amount of credit available under the agreement. The
credit agreement expires in June 2028; however, the Company has the right to request a one-year extension of the expiration date on an annual basis, which request may result
in changes to the current terms and conditions of the credit agreement. The credit agreement requires the payment of an annual facility fee, the amount of which is dependent
upon the Company’s credit ratings. Although a lowering of the Company’s credit ratings would increase the cost of future debt, it would not limit the Company’s ability to use
the credit agreement nor would it accelerate the repayment of any outstanding borrowings. Refer to Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion.

We were authorized to sell up to $3.0 billion of short-term commercial paper notes as of June 30, 2025 with $1.8 billion outstanding. The largest amount of commercial paper
notes outstanding during the fourth quarter of 2025 was $2.1 billion. On August 21, 2025, the authorization limit for short-term commercial paper notes increased to $3.75
billion.

We primarily utilize unsecured medium-term notes and senior notes to meet our financing needs and we expect to continue to borrow funds at reasonable rates over the long
term. During 2025, the company issued €700 million aggregate principal amount of 2.90 percent Senior Notes due March 1, 2030. We used the net proceeds from the issuance,
together with cash on hand, to repay the €700 million aggregate principal amount of 1.125 percent Senior Notes upon maturity in March 2025. Our debt portfolio previously
included a Term Loan Facility. During 2025, we repaid the remaining principal balance of $490 million of the Term Loan Facility. Additionally, we repaid the $500 million
aggregate principal amount of fixed rate medium-term notes bearing interest of 3.30 percent upon maturity in November 2024. Refer to the Cash flows from financing activities
section above and Note 11 of the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion.

The Company’s credit agreements and indentures governing certain debt securities contain various covenants, the violation of which would limit or preclude the use of the
credit agreements for future borrowings, or might accelerate the maturity of the related outstanding borrowings covered by the indentures. Based on the Company’s rating level
at June 30, 2025, the most restrictive financial covenant provides that the ratio of debt to debt-shareholders' equity cannot exceed 0.65 to 1.0. At June 30, 2025, the Company's
debt to debt-shareholders' equity ratio was 0.41 to 1.0. We are in compliance, and expect to remain in compliance, with all covenants set forth in the credit agreement and
indentures.

Our goal is to maintain an investment-grade credit profile. The rating agencies periodically update our credit ratings as events occur. At June 30, 2025, the long-term credit
ratings assigned to the Company's senior debt securities by the credit rating agencies engaged by the Company were as follows:

Fitch Ratings A-
Moody's Investor Services, Inc. A3
Standard & Poor's BBB+

Supply Chain Financing

We continue to identify opportunities to improve our liquidity and working capital efficiency, which includes the extension of payment terms with our suppliers. We currently
have supply chain financing ("SCF") programs with financial intermediaries, which provide certain suppliers the option to be paid by the financial intermediaries earlier than
the due date on the applicable invoice. We do not believe that changes in the availability of supply chain financing will have a significant impact on our liquidity. Refer to Note
8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion.

Strategic Acquisitions and Divestitures

Acquisitions will be considered from time to time to the extent there is a strong strategic fit, while at the same time maintaining the Company’s strong financial position. In
addition, we will continue to assess our existing businesses and initiate efforts to divest businesses that are not considered to be a good long-term strategic fit for the Company.
During both 2025 and 2024, we divested two businesses each year. On June 30, 2025, the Company announced that it has agreed to acquire Curtis Instruments, Inc. from
Rehlko, for approximately $1.0 billion in cash. The transaction is subject to customary closing conditions, including receipt of applicable regulatory approvals, and is expected
to close by the end of calendar year 2025. Refer to Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES & ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes. The policies discussed below are considered by management to be more critical than other policies because their application places the
most significant demands on management's judgment.

Revenue Recognition - Revenues are recognized when control of performance obligations, which are distinct goods or services within the contract, is transferred to the
customer. Control is transferred when the customer has the ability to direct the use of and obtain the benefits from the goods or services. A majority of our revenues are
recognized at a point in time when control is transferred to the customer, which is generally at the time of shipment. However, a portion of our revenues are recognized over
time if the customer simultaneously receives control as we perform work under a contract, if the customer controls the asset as it is being produced or if the product has no
alternative use and we have a contractual right to payment.

For contracts where revenue is recognized over time, we use the cost-to-cost, efforts expended or units of delivery method depending on the nature of the contract, including
length of production time. The estimation of costs and efforts expended requires management's judgment due to the duration of the contractual agreements as well as the
technical nature of the products involved. Adjustments to these estimates are made on a consistent basis and a contract reserve is established when the estimated costs to
complete a contract exceed the expected contract revenues.

When there are multiple performance obligations within a contract, the transaction price is allocated to each performance obligation based on its standalone selling price. The
primary method used to estimate a standalone selling price is the price observed in standalone sales to customers for the same product or service. Revenue is recognized when
control of the individual performance obligations is transferred to the customer.

We consider the contractual consideration payable by the customer and assess variable consideration that may affect the total transaction price. Variable consideration is
included in the estimated transaction price when there is a basis to reasonably estimate the amount, including whether the estimate should be constrained in order to avoid a
significant reversal of revenue in a future period. These estimates are based on historical experience, anticipated performance under the terms of the contract and our best
judgment at the time.

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets - We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level on an annual basis and between annual tests whenever events or
circumstances indicate the carrying value of a reporting unit may exceed its fair value. Our five reporting units are equivalent to our operating segments. As quoted market
prices are not available for our reporting units, determining whether an impairment occurred requires the valuation of the respective reporting unit, which is estimated using
both income-based and market-based valuation methods. The income-based valuation method utilizes a discounted cash flow model which requires several assumptions,
including future sales growth and operating margin levels as well as assumptions regarding future industry-specific market conditions. Each reporting unit regularly prepares
discrete operating forecasts and uses these forecasts as the basis for the assumptions in the discounted cash flow analysis. Within the discounted cash flow models, the
Company uses a discount rate, commensurate with its cost of capital but adjusted for inherent business risks, and an appropriate terminal growth factor. The market-based
valuation performed for each reporting unit includes an analysis consisting of market-adjusted multiples based on key data points for guideline public companies. We also
reconcile the estimated aggregate fair value of our reporting units resulting from these procedures to our overall market capitalization.

The Company performed its fiscal 2025 annual goodwill impairment test as of January 1 for each of its five reporting units. The results of this test indicated the fair value
substantially exceeded carrying value for all reporting units. We continually monitor our reporting units for impairment indicators and update assumptions used in the most
recent calculation of a reporting unit's fair value as appropriate.

Long-lived assets held for use, which primarily includes finite-lived intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, are evaluated for impairment whenever events or
circumstances indicate that the undiscounted net cash flows to be generated by their use over their expected useful lives and eventual disposition are less than their carrying
value. The long-term nature of these assets requires the estimation of their cash inflows and outflows several years into the future and only takes into consideration
technological advances known at the time of the impairment test. During 2025, the Company did not record any material impairments related to long-lived assets.

Pensions - The annual net periodic expense and benefit obligations related to the Company's defined benefit plans are determined on an actuarial basis. This determination
requires critical assumptions regarding the discount rate, long-term rate of return on plan assets, increases in compensation levels and amortization periods for actuarial gains
and losses. Assumptions are determined based on Company data and appropriate market indicators and are evaluated each year as of the plans' measurement
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date. Changes in the assumptions or actual experience that differs from the assumptions could result in a material change in the annual net periodic expense and benefit
obligations reported in the financial statements.

For the Company's domestic qualified defined benefit plan, our largest plan, a 50 basis point change in the assumed long-term rate of return on plan assets is estimated to have
an $17 million effect on annual pension expense and a 50 basis point decrease in the discount rate is estimated to increase annual pension expense by $3 million.

Net actuarial gains and losses are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss and are subject to amortization and will affect earnings in the future. Further information
on pensions is provided in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Business Combinations - From time to time, we may enter into business combinations. Business acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting,
which allocates the fair value of the purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. In the fair
value evaluation of intangible assets acquired, there are significant estimates and assumptions, including forecasts of future cash flows, revenues; and earnings before interest,
taxes, depreciation and amortization; as well as the selection of the royalty rates and discount rates. The excess of the purchase consideration over the fair values of these
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The acquisition method of accounting also requires us to refine these estimates over a measurement period not to
exceed one year to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the measurement
of the amounts recognized as of that date. If we are required to adjust provisional amounts that we have recorded for the fair values of assets and liabilities in connection with
acquisitions, these adjustments could have a material impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Income Taxes - Significant judgment is required in determining the Company's income tax expense and in evaluating tax positions. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities
have been recorded for the differences between the financial accounting and income tax basis of assets and liabilities. Factors considered by the Company in determining the
probability of realizing deferred income tax assets include forecasted operating earnings, available tax planning strategies and the time period over which the temporary
differences will reverse. The Company reviews its tax positions on a regular basis and adjusts the balances as new information becomes available. For those tax positions where
it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will be sustained, the largest amount of tax benefit with a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon examination by a
taxing authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information will be recorded. For those income tax positions where it is not more likely than not that a tax benefit will be
sustained, no tax benefit has been recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements. Further information on income taxes is provided in Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Loss Contingencies - The Company has a number of loss exposures incurred in the ordinary course of business such as environmental claims, product liability and litigation
reserves. Establishing loss accruals for these matters requires management's estimate and judgment with regards to risk exposure and ultimate liability or realization. We review
these loss accruals periodically and make adjustments to reflect the most recent facts and circumstances.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Recently issued accounting pronouncements are described in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

A substantial portion of our operations are conducted by our subsidiaries outside of the U.S. in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Most of our non-U.S. subsidiaries conduct
their business primarily in their local currencies, which are also their functional currencies. Foreign currency exposures arise from translation of foreign currency-denominated
assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars and from transactions denominated in a currency other than the subsidiary’s functional currency. We continue to manage the associated
foreign currency transaction and translation risk using existing processes.

The Company manages foreign currency transaction and translation risk by utilizing derivative and non-derivative financial instruments, including forward exchange contracts,
cross-currency swap contracts and certain foreign currency denominated debt designated as net investment hedges. The derivative financial instrument contracts are with major
investment grade financial institutions and we do not anticipate any material non-performance by any of the counterparties. We do not hold or issue derivative financial
instruments for trading purposes.

Derivative financial instruments are recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as either assets or liabilities and are measured at fair value. Further information on the fair
value of these contracts is provided in Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Derivatives that are not
designated as hedges are adjusted to fair value by recording gains and losses through the Consolidated Statement of Income. Derivatives that are designated as hedges are
adjusted to fair value by recording gains and losses through accumulated other comprehensive loss in the Consolidated Balance Sheet until the hedged item is recognized in
earnings. For cross-currency swaps measured using the spot method, the periodic interest settlements are recognized directly in earnings through interest expense. The
translation of the foreign currency denominated debt that has been designated as a net investment hedge is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss and remains there
until the underlying net investment is sold or substantially liquidated. A 10 percent change in foreign exchange rates related to our forward exchange contracts as of June 30,
2025, would affect earnings by approximately $80 million. A majority of the impact would be offset by changes in value from the remeasurement of the underlying items being
hedged. Collectively, the forward exchange contracts and their associated hedged items do not create material market risk.

The Company's debt portfolio contains variable rate debt, consisting of commercial paper, inherently exposing the Company to interest rate risk. The Company's objective is to
maintain a 60/40 mix between fixed rate and variable rate debt thereby limiting its exposure to changes in near-term interest rates. A 100 basis point increase in near-term
interest rates would increase annual interest expense on variable rate debt, consisting of commercial paper borrowings as of June 30, 2025, by approximately $18 million.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Parker-Hannifin Corporation

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Parker-Hannifin Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows, and equity, for each of the three years in the period ended June 30 2025, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2025, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of June 30, 2025 and 2024, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2025, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2025,
based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a
public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing
the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a
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whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which
it relates.

Revenue — Refer to Notes 1 and 2 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of products to customers primarily in aerospace & defense, in-plant & industrial equipment, transportation, off-highway,
energy, and HVAC & refrigeration markets around the world. The Company’s business activities are carried out by a large number of individual business units collectively
offering hundreds of thousands of individual products in over forty countries globally.

We identified revenue from product shipments as a critical audit matter due to the geographic dispersion of the Company’s operations and business units generating revenue.
Extensive audit effort is required due to the volume of the underlying transactions and number of individual business units. High levels of auditor judgment were necessary
to determine the nature, timing, and extent of audit procedures performed to audit revenue from product shipments.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the Company’s revenue from product shipments included the following, among others:

• We tested the operating effectiveness of internal controls over the recognition of revenue from product shipments, including controls over the quantity and price of
products shipped and timing of revenue recognition.

• We performed detail transaction testing for revenue from product shipments by making a sample of transactions and comparing the transactions selected to source
documents such as purchase orders and shipping records.

• We tested the completeness of revenue from product shipments by making a sample from a listing of sales orders and comparing the sample transactions to source
documentation such as shipping records to determine whether the transactions selected were appropriately included in revenue from product shipments.

• We tested the timing of revenue recognition by making a sample from a list of products shipped prior to and subsequent to year end and used source documentation
such as shipping records to determine whether the transactions selected were appropriately recorded in the correct period.

• We performed substantive analytical procedures for certain revenue transactions by developing independent expectations of revenue based on data derived from the
results of our detail revenue testing and comparing these expectations to the revenue recorded by management.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Cleveland, Ohio
August 22, 2025

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2008.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME

For the years ended June 30,
(In millions, except per share data) 2025 2024 2023

Net Sales $ 19,850  $ 19,930  $ 19,065 
Cost of sales 12,535  12,802  12,636 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 3,255  3,315  3,354 
Interest expense 409  506  574 
Other (income) expense, net (183) (276) 184 
Gain on sale of businesses and assets, net (273) (12) (363)
Income before income taxes 4,107  3,595  2,680 
Income taxes 575  750  596 
Net Income 3,532  2,845  2,084 
Less: Noncontrolling interest in subsidiaries' earnings 1  1  1 
Net Income Attributable to Common Shareholders $ 3,531  $ 2,844  $ 2,083 

Earnings per Share Attributable to Common Shareholders:
Basic $ 27.52  $ 22.13  $ 16.23 

Diluted $ 27.12  $ 21.84  $ 16.04 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended June 30,
(In millions) 2025 2024 2023

Net Income $ 3,532  $ 2,845  $ 2,084 
Less: Noncontrolling interests in subsidiaries' earnings 1  1  1 
Net income attributable to common shareholders 3,531  2,844  2,083 

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Foreign currency translation adjustment and other 413  (168) 187 

  Retirement benefits plan activity 142  23  63 
Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to common shareholders 555  (145) 250 
Total Comprehensive Income Attributable to Common Shareholders $ 4,086  $ 2,699  $ 2,333 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

June 30,
(In millions, except par value) 2025 2024

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 467  $ 422 
Trade accounts receivable, net 2,910  2,866 
Non-trade and notes receivable 318  331 
Inventories 2,839  2,787 
Prepaid expenses 263  253 
Other current assets 153  140 
Total Current Assets 6,950  6,799 
Property, plant and equipment 7,417  7,075 
Less: Accumulated depreciation 4,480  4,199 
Property, plant and equipment, net 2,937  2,876 
Deferred income taxes 270  93 
Other assets 1,269  1,207 
Intangible assets, net 7,374  7,816 
Goodwill 10,694  10,507 
Total Assets $ 29,494  $ 29,298 

Liabilities and Equity
Current Liabilities
Notes payable and long-term debt payable within one year $ 1,791  $ 3,403 
Accounts payable, trade 2,126  1,992 
Accrued payrolls and other compensation 587  581 
Accrued domestic and foreign taxes 382  355 
Other accrued liabilities 933  982 
Total Current Liabilities 5,819  7,313 
Long-term debt 7,494  7,157 
Pensions and other postretirement benefits 267  437 
Deferred income taxes 1,490  1,584 
Other liabilities 733  726 
Total Liabilities 15,803  17,217 
Equity
Shareholders' Equity
Serial preferred stock, $.50 par value, authorized 3.0 shares; none issued —  — 
Common stock, $.50 par value, authorized 600.0 shares; issued 181.0 shares in 2025 and 2024 91  91 
Additional paid-in capital 194  264 
Retained earnings 21,775  19,105 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (883) (1,438)
Treasury shares at cost: 54.4 shares in 2025 and 52.4 shares in 2024 (7,495) (5,950)
Total Shareholders' Equity 13,682  12,072 
Noncontrolling interests 9  9 
Total Equity 13,691  12,081 
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 29,494  $ 29,298 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended June 30,
(In millions) 2025 2024 2023

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income $ 3,532  $ 2,845  $ 2,084 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation 354  349  317 
Amortization 553  578  501 
Stock incentive plan compensation 159  155  143 
Deferred income taxes (304) 32  92 
Foreign currency transaction loss (gain) 46  (38) 46 
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (20) 12  4 
Gain on sale of businesses (253) (24) (366)
Other, net 14  20  18 

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions and divestitures:
Accounts receivable, net 6  (85) (17)
Inventories (94) 101  53 
Prepaid expenses (9) (49) 32 
Other current assets (11) (15) (30)
Other assets (63) (117) (109)
Accounts payable, trade 119  (44) 92 
Accrued payrolls and other compensation 2  (64) 87 
Accrued domestic and foreign taxes (18) 27  102 
Other accrued liabilities (173) (73) 113 
Pensions and other postretirement benefits (21) (80) (109)
Other liabilities (43) (146) (73)

Net cash provided by operating activities 3,776  3,384  2,980 

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired —  —  (7,146)
Capital expenditures (435) (400) (381)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 32  9  13 
Proceeds from sale of businesses 623  78  473 
Payments of deal-contingent forward contracts —  —  (1,405)
Other, net 4  15  269 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 224  (298) (8,177)

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 4  4  3 
Payments for common shares (1,766) (332) (297)
Acquisition of noncontrolling interests —  (3) — 
Proceeds from notes payable, net (364) 359  358 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 751  24  2,023 
Payments for long-term borrowings (1,741) (2,385) (2,341)
Financing fees paid —  —  (13)
Dividends paid (861) (782) (704)

Net cash used in financing activities (3,977) (3,115) (971)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash 22  (24) (5)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash 45  (53) (6,173)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 422  475  6,648 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 467  $ 422  $ 475 

Supplemental Data:
Cash paid during the year for:

Interest $ 384  $ 491  $ 465 
Income taxes and related interest, penalties and purchased credits, net of refunds 927  852  411 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

36



Table of Contents

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY

(In millions, except per share data)  Common Stock
Additional Paid-

in Capital Retained Earnings
Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss Treasury Shares

Noncontrolling
Interests  Total

Balance June 30, 2022 $ 91  $ 327  $ 15,662  $ (1,543) $ (5,688) $ 11  $ 8,860 
Net income —  —  2,083  —  —  1  2,084 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  250  —  —  250 
Dividends paid ($5.47 per share) —  —  (703) —  —  (1) (704)
Stock incentive plan activity —  (22) —  —  70  —  48 
Shares purchased at cost —  —  —  —  (200) —  (200)
Balance June 30, 2023 $ 91  $ 305  $ 17,042  $ (1,293) $ (5,818) $ 11  $ 10,338 
Net income —  —  2,844  —  —  1  2,845 
Other comprehensive loss —  —  —  (145) —  —  (145)
Dividends paid ($6.07 per share) —  —  (781) —  —  (1) (782)
Stock incentive plan activity —  (41) —  —  68  —  27 
Other —  —  —  —  —  (2) (2)
Shares purchased at cost —  —  —  —  (200) —  (200)
Balance June 30, 2024 $ 91  $ 264  $ 19,105  $ (1,438) $ (5,950) $ 9  $ 12,081 
Net income —  —  3,531  —  —  1  3,532 
Other comprehensive income —  —  —  555  —  —  555 
Dividends paid ($6.69 per share) —  —  (861) —  —  —  (861)
Stock incentive plan activity —  (70) —  —  68  —  (2)
Other —  —  —  —  —  (1) (1)
Shares purchased at cost, including excise tax —  —  —  —  (1,613) —  (1,613)
Balance June 30, 2025 $ 91  $ 194  $ 21,775  $ (883) $ (7,495) $ 9  $ 13,691 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts or as otherwise noted)

The term "year" and references to specific years refer to the applicable fiscal years.

1.    Significant Accounting Policies

The significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements are summarized below.

Nature of Operations - The Company is a global leader in motion and control technologies. Leveraging a unique combination of interconnected technologies, we design,
manufacture, and provide aftermarket support for highly engineered solutions that create value for customers primarily in aerospace & defense, in-plant & industrial equipment,
transportation, off-highway, energy, and HVAC & refrigeration markets around the world. We evaluate performance based on segment operating income before corporate
administrative expenses, interest expense and income taxes.

Due to our diverse group of customers throughout the world, we do not consider ourself exposed to any concentration of credit risks.

The Company manufactures and markets its products throughout the world. Although certain risks and uncertainties exist, the diversity and breadth of our products and
geographic operations mitigate the risk that adverse changes with respect to any particular product and geographic operation would materially affect our operating results.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Basis of Consolidation - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all majority-owned domestic and foreign subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions
and profits have been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. The Company does not have off-balance sheet arrangements. Within the business segment
information, inter-segment and inter-area sales have been eliminated. The Company has changed its presentation from thousands to millions and, as a result, any necessary
rounding adjustments have been made to prior period disclosed amounts.

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Revenue Recognition - Revenues are recognized when control of performance obligations, which are distinct goods or services within the contract, is transferred to the
customer. Control is transferred when the customer has the ability to direct the use of and obtain the benefits from the goods or services. When revenue is recognized at a point
in time, control generally transfers at time of shipment. Revenues are recognized over time if the customer simultaneously receives control as the Company performs work
under a contract, if the customer controls the asset as it is being produced or if the product produced for the customer has no alternative use and the Company has a contractual
right to payment.

For contracts where revenue is recognized over time, we use the cost-to-cost, efforts expended or units of delivery method depending on the nature of the contract, including
length of production time. The estimation of these costs and efforts expended requires judgment on the part of management due to the duration of the contractual agreements as
well as the technical nature of the products involved. We make adjustments to these estimates on a consistent basis and establish a contract reserve when the estimated costs to
complete a contract exceed the expected contract revenues.

A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation. When there are multiple performance obligations within a contract, the transaction price is
allocated to each performance obligation based on its standalone selling price. The primary method used to estimate a standalone selling price is the price observed in
standalone sales to customers of the same product or service. Revenue is recognized when control of the individual performance obligations is transferred to the customer.

We consider the contractual consideration payable by the customer and assess variable consideration that may affect the total transaction price. Variable consideration primarily
includes prompt pay discounts, rebates and volume discounts and is included in the estimated transaction price when there is a basis to reasonably estimate the amount,
including whether the estimate should be constrained in order to avoid a significant reversal of revenue in a future period. These estimates are based on historical experience,
anticipated performance under the terms of the contract and our best judgment at the time.

Payment terms vary by customer and the geographic location of the customer. The time between when revenue is recognized and payment is due is not significant. Our
contracts with customers generally do not include significant financing components or noncash consideration.
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Taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are excluded from revenue. Shipping and handling costs are treated as fulfillment costs and are
included in cost of sales. The costs to obtain a contract where the amortization period for the related asset is one year or less are expensed as incurred.

There is generally no unilateral right to return products. The Company primarily offers an assurance-type standard warranty that the product will conform to certain
specifications for a defined period of time or usage after delivery. This type of warranty does not represent a separate performance obligation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less. These investments are carried at cost
plus accrued interest and are readily convertible into cash.

Trade Accounts Receivable, Net - Trade accounts receivable are initially recorded at their net collectible amount and are generally recorded at the time the revenue from the
sales transaction is recorded. We evaluate the collectibility of our receivables based on historical experience and current and forecasted economic conditions based on
management's judgment. Additionally, receivables are written off to bad debt when management makes a final determination of uncollectibility. Allowance for credit losses was
$10 million and $21 million at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

Non-Trade and Notes Receivable - The non-trade and notes receivable caption in the Consolidated Balance Sheet is comprised of the following components:

June 30, 2025 2024

Notes receivable $ 84  $ 93 
Accounts receivable, other 234  238 
Total $ 318  $ 331 

              

Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation - Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated principally using the straight-line method for
financial reporting purposes. Depreciation rates are based on estimated useful lives of the assets, generally 40 years for buildings, 15 years for land improvements and building
equipment, seven to 10 years for machinery and equipment, and three to eight years for vehicles and office equipment. Improvements, which extend the useful life of property,
are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are expensed. We review property, plant and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their
carrying value may not be recoverable. When property, plant and equipment are retired or otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the
appropriate accounts and any gain or loss is included in current income.

The property, plant and equipment caption in the Consolidated Balance Sheet is comprised of the following components:

June 30, 2025 2024

Land and land improvements $ 411  $ 380 
Buildings and building equipment 2,241  2,129 
Machinery and equipment 4,432  4,217 
Construction in progress 333  349 
Total $ 7,417  $ 7,075 

Investments in Joint Ventures - Investments in joint venture companies in which ownership is 50 percent or less and in which the Company does not have operating control
are accounted for under the equity method of accounting and are included in other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Equity method investments amounted to $280
million and $294 million at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively. A significant portion of the underlying net assets of the joint ventures are related to goodwill. Refer to Note
20 for further discussion.

Intangible Assets - Intangible assets primarily include patents and technology, trade names and customer relationships and contracts and are recorded at cost and amortized on
a straight-line method. Patents and technology are amortized over the shorter of their remaining useful or legal life. Trade names are amortized over the estimated time period
over which an economic benefit is expected to be received. Customer relationships are amortized over a period based on anticipated customer attrition rates or contractual lives.
The Company reviews intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable.

Goodwill - The Company conducts a formal impairment test of goodwill on an annual basis and between annual tests if an event occurs or circumstances change that would,
more likely than not, reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying value.
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Income Taxes - Income taxes are provided based upon income for financial reporting purposes. Taxes related to Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income ("GILTI") are treated as
a current period expense when incurred. Tax credits and similar tax incentives are applied to reduce the provision for income taxes in the year in which the credits arise. We
recognize accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense. Penalties, if incurred, are recognized in income tax expense. Deferred income taxes arise
from temporary differences in the recognition of income and expense for tax purposes. Income tax effects resulting from adjusting temporary differences recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss are released when the circumstances on which they are based cease to exist.

Fair Value Measurements - Assets and liabilities measured at fair value are classified according to the following hierarchy, which is determined by the observability of the
inputs used in the valuation as of the measurement date. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 2 inputs are inputs other than
quoted prices included within Level 1 that are directly or indirectly observable. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs that are significant to the fair value measurement.

Foreign Currency Translation - Assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries are translated at current exchange rates, and income and expenses are translated using weighted-
average exchange rates. The effects of these translation adjustments, as well as gains and losses from certain hedging and intercompany transactions, are reported in
accumulated other comprehensive loss. Such adjustments will affect net income only upon sale or liquidation of the underlying foreign investments. Exchange (gains) losses
from transactions in a currency other than the local currency of the entity involved are included within other (income) expense, net in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
Refer to Note 20 for further discussion.

Business Combinations - From time to time, we may enter into business combinations. Business acquisitions are accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting,
which allocates the fair value of the purchase consideration to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The excess
of the purchase consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The acquisition method of accounting also requires us to
refine these estimates over a measurement period not to exceed one year to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognized as of that date. Transaction costs associated with these acquisitions are expensed as
incurred.

Subsequent Events - We evaluated subsequent events that have occurred through the date of filing of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2025 and
determined no further events or transactions are required to be disclosed other than those already disclosed elsewhere in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2024, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2024-03, “Income Statement - Reporting
Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses,” which requires expanded interim and annual
disclosures of expense information, including the amounts of inventory purchases, employee compensation, depreciation, amortization and depletion within commonly
presented expense captions during the period. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The amendments should be applied either (1) prospectively to financial statements issued for reporting periods
after the effective date or (2) retrospectively to any or all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the ASU to determine its
impact on the Company's disclosures.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures," which enhances the disclosure requirements for
income taxes primarily related to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid information. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024.
Early adoption is permitted. The amendment should be applied on a prospective basis. Retrospective application is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
this guidance will have on the Company's disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, "Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures," which updates reportable segment
disclosure requirements primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The amendments should be applied retrospectively to all prior periods
presented in the financial statements. The Company adopted the standard in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2025. Refer to Note 19 for further discussion.

In September 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-04, "Liabilities—Supplier Finance Programs (Subtopic 405-50): Disclosure of Supplier Finance Program Obligations," which
requires a buyer in a supplier finance program to disclose information about the program’s nature, activity during the period, changes from period to period, and potential
magnitude. To achieve that objective, the buyer should disclose qualitative and quantitative information about its supplier finance programs, including the outstanding amount
under the program, the balance sheet presentation of the outstanding amount, and a rollforward of the obligations in the program. This ASU should be adopted retrospectively
for each balance sheet period presented; however, the rollforward
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information should be provided prospectively. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within
those fiscal years, except for the amendment on rollforward information, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. Early adoption is permitted. The
Company adopted the guidance on July 1, 2023, except for the rollforward requirement, which was adopted in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2025. The adoption did not have a
material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. Refer to Note 8 for further discussion.

2.    Revenue recognition

Revenue is derived primarily from the sale of products in the aerospace & defense, in-plant & industrial equipment, transportation, off-highway, energy, and HVAC &
refrigeration markets. A majority of the Company’s revenues are recognized at a point in time. However, a portion of the Company’s revenues are recognized over time.

Disaggregation of revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers is disaggregated by technology platform for the Diversified Industrial Segment, by market segment for the Aerospace Systems Segment
and by geographic location for the total Company.

The Diversified Industrial Segment is an aggregation of several business units, which manufacture a broad range of motion-control systems and components for builders and
users of various types of manufacturing, packaging, processing, transportation, agricultural, construction, and military vehicles and equipment. Contracts consist of individual
purchase orders for standard product, blanket purchase orders and production contracts. Blanket purchase orders are often associated with individual purchase orders and have
terms and conditions which are subject to a master supply or distributor agreement. Individual production contracts, some of which may include multiple performance
obligations, are typically for products manufactured to the customer's specifications. Revenue in the Diversified Industrial Segment is typically recognized at the time of
product shipment, but a portion of revenue may be recognized over time for installation services or in situations where the product has no alternative use and we have an
enforceable right to payment.

Diversified Industrial Segment revenues by technology platform:
2025 2024 2023

Motion Systems $ 3,341  $ 3,706  $ 3,830 
Flow and Process Control 4,518  4,673  4,939 
Filtration and Engineered Materials 5,806  6,079  5,936 
Total $ 13,665  $ 14,458  $ 14,705 

The Aerospace Systems Segment produces engine and airframe components and systems, which are utilized on virtually every major commercial and military aircraft.
Contracts generally consist of blanket purchase orders and individual long-term production contracts. Blanket purchase orders, which have terms and conditions subject to long-
term supply agreements, are typically associated with individual purchase orders. Revenue in the Aerospace Systems Segment is typically recognized at the time of product
shipment, but a portion of revenue may be recognized over time in situations where the customer controls the asset as it is produced or the product has no alternative use and we
have an enforceable right to payment.

Aerospace Systems Segment revenues by market segment:
2025 2024 2023

Commercial OEM $ 1,915  $ 1,779  $ 1,462 
Commercial aftermarket 2,214  1,814  1,364 
Defense OEM 1,138  1,125  905 
Defense aftermarket 918  754  629 
Total $ 6,185  $ 5,472  $ 4,360 
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Total revenues by geographic region based on the Company's selling operation's location:
2025 2024 2023

North America $ 13,406  $ 13,512  $ 12,690 
Europe 3,862  3,916  3,778 
Asia Pacific 2,364  2,278  2,380 
Latin America 218  224  217 
Total $ 19,850  $ 19,930  $ 19,065 

The majority of revenues from the Aerospace Systems Segment is generated from sales within North America.

Contract balances

Contract assets and contract liabilities are reported on a contract-by-contract basis. Contract assets reflect revenue recognized and performance obligations satisfied in advance
of customer billing. Contract liabilities relate to payments received in advance of the satisfaction of performance under the contract. Payments from customers are received
based on the terms established in the contract with the customer.

Total contract assets and contract liabilities are as follows:
2025 2024

Contract assets, current (included within Other current assets) $ 149  $ 137 
Contract assets, noncurrent (included within Other assets) 16  21 

Total contract assets 165  158 
Contract liabilities, current (included within Other accrued liabilities) (211) (184)
Contract liabilities, noncurrent (included within Other liabilities) (71) (78)

Total contract liabilities (282) (262)
Net contract liabilities $ (117) $ (104)

Net contract liabilities at June 30, 2025 increased from the prior year amount due to timing differences between when revenue was recognized and the receipt of advance
payments. During 2025, approximately $165 million of revenue was recognized that was included in the contract liabilities at June 30, 2024.

Remaining performance obligations

Our backlog represents written firm orders from a customer to deliver products and, in the case of blanket purchase orders, only includes the portion of the order for which a
schedule or release has been agreed to with the customer. We believe our backlog represents our unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied performance obligations. Backlog at
June 30, 2025 was $11.0 billion, of which approximately 71 percent is expected to be recognized as revenue within the next 12 months and the balance thereafter.

3.    Acquisitions and Divestitures

Pending Acquisition

On June 30, 2025, the Company announced that it has agreed to acquire Curtis Instruments, Inc. from Rehlko, for approximately $1.0 billion in cash.

Curtis designs and manufactures motor speed controllers, instrumentation, power conversion and input devices that complement Parker’s strength in electric vehicle motors,
hydraulic and electrification technologies. The transaction is subject to customary closing conditions, including receipt of applicable regulatory approvals, and is expected to
close by the end of calendar year 2025.

Acquisitions

On September 12, 2022, we completed the acquisition of all the outstanding ordinary shares of Meggitt for 800 pence per share, resulting in an aggregate cash purchase price of
$7.2 billion, including the assumption of debt.

Meggitt is a leader in design, manufacturing and aftermarket support of technologically differentiated systems and equipment in aerospace, defense and selected energy markets
with annual sales of approximately $2.1 billion for the year ended December 31, 2021. For segment reporting purposes, the majority of Meggitt's sales are included in the
Aerospace Systems Segment, with the remainder attributed to the Diversified Industrial Segment.
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Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognized at their respective fair values as of the acquisition date. The process of estimating the fair values of certain tangible
assets, identifiable intangible assets and assumed liabilities requires the use of judgment in determining the appropriate assumptions and estimates. During the measurement
period which ended in September 2023, adjustments did not have a material impact on the Consolidated Statement of Income. The following table presents the final estimated
fair values of Meggitt's assets acquired and liabilities assumed on the acquisition date.

June 30, 2023 (previously
reported)

Measurement Period
Adjustments September 12, 2022 (Final)

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 90  $ —  $ 90 
Accounts receivable 410  1  411 
Inventories 739  14  753 
Prepaid expenses and other 102  21  123 
Property, plant and equipment, net 659  (1) 658 
Deferred income taxes 34  (19) 15 
Other assets 181  (1) 180 
Intangible assets 5,679  (28) 5,651 
Goodwill 2,789  11  2,800 

Total assets acquired $ 10,683  $ (2) $ 10,681 
Liabilities:
Notes payable and long-term debt payable within one year $ 308  $ —  $ 308 
Accounts payable, trade 220  (1) 219 
Accrued payrolls and other compensation 87  —  87 
Accrued domestic and foreign taxes 21  (1) 20 
Other accrued liabilities 322  158  480 
Long-term debt 712  —  712 
Pensions and other postretirement benefits 100  (2) 98 
Deferred income taxes 1,259  (19) 1,240 
Other liabilities 418  (137) 281 

Total liabilities assumed 3,447  (2) 3,445 
Net assets acquired $ 7,236  $ —  $ 7,236 

Goodwill is calculated as the excess of the purchase price over the net assets acquired and represents cost synergies and enhancements to our existing technologies. For tax
purposes, Meggitt's goodwill is not deductible. Based upon a final acquisition valuation, we acquired $4.2 billion of customer-related intangible assets, $1.1 billion of
technology and $303 million of trade names, each with weighted-average estimated useful lives of 21, 22 and 18 years, respectively. These intangible assets were valued using
the income approach, which includes significant assumptions around future revenue growth, earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, royalty rates and
discount rates. Such assumptions are classified as level 3 inputs within the fair value hierarchy.

Based upon a final acquisition valuation, the fair value of the assets acquired includes $115 million and $91 million of operating and finance lease right-of-use assets,
respectively. As of the acquisition date, the fair value of liabilities assumed includes $116 million and $90 million of operating and finance lease liabilities, respectively, of
which, $18 million and $1 million of operating and finance lease liabilities, respectively, are current liabilities.

Debt assumed included $900 million aggregate principal amount of private placement notes with fixed interest rates ranging from 2.78 percent to 3.60 percent, and maturity
dates ranging from July 2023 to July 2026. The private placement notes were recorded at fair value at acquisition. In October 2022, we paid off $300 million aggregate
principal amount of private placement notes in two tranches pursuant to an offer to noteholders according to change in control provisions. In June 2023, the Company paid the
remaining $600 million aggregate principal amount of private placement notes assumed in the acquisition, which resulted in a $10 million charge recorded in interest expense
in the Consolidated Statement of Income associated with the fair value discount.
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Based upon a final acquisition valuation, we also assumed $142 million of liabilities associated with environmental matters. As of the acquisition date, approximately $102
million of environmental matters are included within other accrued liabilities, and the remainder is included within other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The
environmental matters primarily relate to known exposures arising from environmental litigation, investigations and remediation of certain sites for which Meggitt has been
identified as a potentially responsible party. The liabilities are based on outcomes of litigation and estimates of the level and timing of remediation costs, including the period of
operating and monitoring activities required.

Our consolidated financial statements for 2023 include the results of operations of Meggitt from the date of acquisition through June 30, 2023. Net sales and segment operating
income attributable to Meggitt during 2023 were $2.1 billion and $23 million, respectively. Segment operating income attributable to Meggitt includes estimated amortization
and depreciation expense associated with the preliminary fair value estimates of intangible assets, plant and equipment, inventory, as well as acquisition integration charges.
Refer to Note 4 for further discussion of acquisition integration charges.

Acquisition-related transaction costs totaled $115 million in 2023. These costs are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statement of
Income.

The following table presents unaudited pro forma information for 2023 and 2022 as if the acquisition had occurred on July 1, 2021.

(Unaudited) 2023 2022

Net sales $ 19,447  $ 17,911 
Net income attributable to common shareholders 1,957  1,530 

The historical consolidated financial information of Parker and Meggitt has been adjusted in the pro forma information in the table above to give effect to events that are
directly attributable to the Acquisition and factually supportable. To reflect the occurrence of the acquisition on July 1, 2021, the unaudited pro forma information includes
adjustments for the amortization of the step-up of inventory to fair value and incremental depreciation and amortization expense resulting from the fair value adjustments to
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets. These adjustments were based upon a preliminary purchase price allocation. Additionally, adjustments to financing costs
and income tax expense were also made to reflect the capital structure and anticipated effective tax rate of the combined entity. Additionally, the pro forma information includes
adjustments for non-recurring transactions directly related to the acquisition, including the gain on the divestiture of the aircraft wheel and brake business, loss on deal-
contingent forward contracts, and transaction costs. These non-recurring adjustments totaled $199 million and $654 million in 2023 and 2022, respectively. The resulting pro
forma amounts are not necessarily indicative of the results that would have been obtained if the acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of the period presented or that may
occur in the future, and do not reflect future synergies, integration costs or other such costs or savings.

Divestitures

We continually assess our existing businesses and may divest those that are not considered to be a good long-term strategic fit for the Company.

During November 2024, we divested our CFC business within the North America businesses of the Diversified Industrial Segment, which was acquired in the acquisition of
Meggitt, for net proceeds of $555 million. The resulting pre-tax gain of $241 million is included in gain on sale of businesses and assets, net in the Consolidated Statement of
Income. The operating results and net assets of this business were immaterial to the Company's consolidated results of operations and financial position.

During November 2024, we divested a non-core filtration business within the North America businesses of the Diversified Industrial Segment for proceeds of $66 million. The
resulting pre-tax gain of $11 million is included in gain on sale of businesses and assets, net in the Consolidated Statement of Income. The operating results and net assets of
this business were immaterial to the Company's consolidated results of operations and financial position.

During December 2023, we divested our Filter Resources business, which was part of the Diversified Industrial Segment, for proceeds of $37 million. The resulting pre-tax
gain of $12 million is included in gain on sale of businesses and assets, net in the Consolidated Statement of Income. The operating results and net assets of the Filter Resources
business were immaterial to the Company's consolidated results of operations and financial position.

During September 2023, we divested the MicroStrain sensing systems business, which was part of the Diversified Industrial Segment, for proceeds of $37 million. The
resulting pre-tax gain of $13 million is included in gain on sale of businesses and assets, net in the Consolidated Statement of Income. The operating results and net assets of the
MicroStrain sensing systems business were immaterial to the Company's consolidated results of operations and financial position.
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During March 2023, we divested a French aerospace business, which was part of the Aerospace Systems Segment, for proceeds of $27 million. The resulting pre-tax loss of $12
million is included in gain on sale of businesses and assets, net in the Consolidated Statement of Income. The operating results and net assets of the French aerospace business
were immaterial to the Company's consolidated results of operations and financial position.

During September 2022, we divested our aircraft wheel and brake business, which was part of the Aerospace Systems Segment, for proceeds of $443 million. The resulting pre-
tax gain of $374 million is included in gain on sale of businesses and assets, net in the Consolidated Statement of Income. The operating results and net assets of the aircraft
wheel and brake business were immaterial to the Company's consolidated results of operations and financial position.

4.    Business Realignment and Acquisition Integration Charges

The Company incurred business realignment and acquisition integration charges in 2025, 2024 and 2023. Business realignment charges included severance costs related to
actions taken under the Company's simplification initiative aimed at reducing organizational and process complexity, as well as plant closures. In 2025, 2024 and 2023, a
majority of the business realignment charges were incurred in Europe. We believe the realignment actions will positively impact future results of operations but will not have a
material effect on liquidity and sources and uses of capital.

Business realignment charges by business segment are as follows:

2025 2024 2023

Diversified Industrial $ 53  $ 51  $ 24 
Aerospace Systems —  —  3 
Corporate general and administrative expenses 1  —  — 
Other (income) expense, net 2  2  — 

Workforce reductions in connection with such business realignment charges by business segment are as follows:

(Headcount in single units) 2025 2024 2023

Diversified Industrial 1,092  1,064  728 
Aerospace Systems 61  1  30 
Corporate general and administrative expenses 13  —  — 

The business realignment charges are presented in the Consolidated Statement of Income as follows:

2025 2024 2023

Cost of sales $ 31  $ 30  $ 16 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 23  21  11 
Gain on sale of businesses and assets, net 2  2  — 

During 2025, approximately $45 million in payments were made relating to business realignment charges. Remaining payments related to current-year and prior-year business
realignment actions of approximately $26 million, a majority of which are expected to be paid by December 31, 2025, are primarily reflected within the accrued payrolls and
other compensation and other accrued liabilities captions in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. Additional charges may be recognized in future periods related to the business
realignment and acquisition integration actions described above, the timing and amount of which are not known at this time.

We also incurred acquisition integration charges related to the Meggitt acquisition. Charges by business segment are as follows:
  2025 2024 2023

Diversified Industrial $ 3  $ 4  $ 9 
Aerospace Systems 19  34  86 

In 2025, 2024 and 2023, acquisition integration charges relate to the acquisition of Meggitt. These charges were primarily included in selling, general and administrative
expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
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5.    Income Taxes

Income before income taxes was derived from the following sources:

2025 2024 2023

United States $ 2,514  $ 2,120  $ 1,408 
Foreign 1,593  1,475  1,272 
Total $ 4,107  $ 3,595  $ 2,680 

Income taxes include the following:

2025 2024 2023

Federal
  Current $ 424  $ 328  $ 161 
  Deferred (98) 11  81 
Foreign
  Current 374  355  297 
  Deferred (154) 16  (13)
State and local
  Current 81  34  46 
  Deferred (52) 6  24 
Total $ 575  $ 750  $ 596 

A reconciliation of the effective income tax rate to the statutory federal rate follows:

2025 2024 2023

Statutory federal income tax rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
State and local income taxes 0.6  0.9  2.1 
Tax related to international activities (2.8) 2.3  1.2 
Cash surrender value of life insurance (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)
Foreign derived intangible income deduction (1.3) (1.5) (1.1)
Research tax credit (0.4) (0.6) (0.7)
Share-based compensation (1.2) (1.2) (1.0)
Other (1.8) 0.1  0.8 
Effective income tax rate 14.0 % 20.9 % 22.2 %

In December 2021, the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development ("OECD") published a framework, known as Pillar Two, defining a global minimum tax of
15 percent on large corporations. The OECD has since issued administrative guidance providing transition and safe harbor rules around the implementation of the Pillar Two
global minimum tax. Several countries have proposed or enacted legislation to implement core elements of the Pillar Two proposal effective for years beginning after December
31, 2023, which for us is fiscal year 2025. Pillar Two does not currently have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements. Future legislation and guidance may
result in a change to our assessment.

On July 4, 2025, H.R. 1, commonly referred to as the One Big Beautiful Bill Act, (the "Act"), was signed into law. The Act makes various provisions of the 2017 Tax Cuts and
Jobs Act permanent while also restoring full expensing of research & development costs and capital investments. The majority of these provisions will impact us starting in
fiscal year 2027. We continue to evaluate the future impacts of these provisions and, as of June 30, 2025, have not recorded the impact of any future provisions. We do not
expect The Act to have a material impact on our financial statements.
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Deferred income taxes are provided for the temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. The differences comprising the
net deferred taxes shown on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at June 30 were as follows:

2025 2024

Retirement benefits $ 27  $ 124 
Other liabilities and reserves 189  214 
Long-term contracts 41  45 
Stock-based compensation 38  34 
Loss carryforwards 114  1,064 
Inventory 70  68 
Capitalized research and development 172  146 
Tax credit carryforwards 45  36 
Unrealized currency exchange gains and losses 5  (18)
Undistributed foreign earnings (32) (30)
Depreciation and amortization (1,748) (2,104)
Valuation allowance (141) (1,070)
Net deferred tax (liability) $ (1,220) $ (1,491)

Change in net deferred tax (liability):
Provision for deferred tax $ 304  $ (32)
Items of other comprehensive (loss) income (44) (24)
Acquisitions and other 11  133 
Total change in net deferred tax $ 271  $ 77 

The following schedule presents the changes in deferred tax asset valuation allowance as follows:

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

(Deductions)/Additions
Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

Other
(Deductions)/
Additions

Balance
at End

of Period

Deferred tax asset valuation allowance:
Year ended June 30, 2023 $ 902  $ 163  $ 13  $ 1,078 
Year ended June 30, 2024 1,078  (10) 2  1,070 
Year ended June 30, 2025 1,070  (929) —  141 

 The balance primarily represents adjustments due to acquisitions.

During the year ended June 30, 2025, we completed an initiative that simplified our foreign legal entity structure. The initiative impacted our evaluation of certain foreign tax
loss carryforwards whose realizability was previously considered to be remote. This led to a valuation allowance release and the recording of a $180 million discrete tax
benefit. Additionally, as a result of the initiative, $784 million in deferred tax assets for certain other foreign tax loss carryforwards whose realizability was previously
considered to be remote, and the associated valuation allowances, were also written off.

As of June 30, 2025, we recorded deferred tax assets of $114 million resulting from $492 million in loss carryforwards. A valuation allowance of $106 million related to the
loss carryforwards has been established due to the uncertainty of their realization. Of this valuation allowance, $92 million relates to non-operating entities whose loss
carryforward utilization is considered to be remote. Some of the loss carryforwards can be carried forward indefinitely; others can be carried forward from three years to 20
years. In addition, a valuation allowance of $35 million related to other future deductible items has been established due to the uncertainty of their realization.

Although future distributions of foreign earnings to the United States should not be subject to U.S. federal income taxes, other U.S. or foreign taxes may be imposed on such
earnings. We have analyzed existing factors and determined we will no longer permanently reinvest certain foreign earnings. On these undistributed foreign earnings of
approximately $484 million that are no longer permanently reinvested outside of the United States, we have recorded a deferred tax liability of $16 million. The

(1)

(1)
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remaining undistributed foreign earnings of approximately $1,011 million remain permanently reinvested outside the United States at June 30, 2025. Of these undistributed
earnings, we have recorded a deferred tax liability of $17 million where certain foreign holding companies are not permanently reinvested in their subsidiaries. It is not
practicable to estimate the additional taxes, including applicable foreign withholding taxes, that might be payable on the potential distribution of such permanently reinvested
foreign earnings.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

2025 2024 2023

Balance July 1 $ 102  $ 114  $ 91 
Additions for tax positions related to current year 6  6  9 
Additions for tax positions of prior years 19  —  6 
Additions for acquisitions —  4  26 
Reductions for tax positions of prior years —  (5) (3)
Reductions for settlements —  —  (7)
Reductions for expiration of statute of limitations (27) (15) (11)
Effect of foreign currency translation 4  (2) 3 
Balance June 30 $ 104  $ 102  $ 114 

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate was $104 million, $102 million and $114 million as of June 30, 2025, 2024
and 2023, respectively. The accrued interest related to the gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluded from the amounts above, was $28 million, $27 million, and $21 million as
of June 30, 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The accrued penalties related to the gross unrecognized tax benefits, excluded from the amounts above, was $2 million as of
June 30, 2025, 2024, and 2023.

It is reasonably possible that, within the next 12 months, the amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits could be reduced by up to approximately $60 million as a result of the
revaluation of existing uncertain tax positions arising from developments in the examination process or the closure of tax statutes. Any increase in the amount of unrecognized
tax benefits within the next 12 months is expected to be insignificant.

We file income tax returns in the United States and in various foreign jurisdictions. In the normal course of business, we are subject to examination by taxing authorities
throughout the world. We are open to assessment of our U.S. federal income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service for years after 2013, and our state and local income tax
returns for years after 2018. We are open to assessment for significant foreign jurisdictions for years after 2013.

6.    Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share are computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share are computed using the
weighted-average number of common shares and common share equivalents outstanding during the year. Common share equivalents represent the dilutive effect of outstanding
equity-based awards. The reconciliation of the numerator and denominator of basic and diluted earnings per share was as follows (shares in millions):

2025 2024 2023

Numerator:
Net income attributable to common shareholders $ 3,531  $ 2,844  $ 2,083 
Denominator:
Basic - weighted-average common shares 128.3  128.5  128.4 
Dilutive effect of equity-based awards 1.9  1.7  1.5 
Diluted - weighted-average common shares 130.2  130.2  129.9 
Basic earnings per share $ 27.52  $ 22.13  $ 16.23 
Diluted earnings per share $ 27.12  $ 21.84  $ 16.04 

Figures in the table may not recalculate exactly due to rounding. Earnings per share is calculated using unrounded numbers.

For 2025, 2024 and 2023, 0.3 million, 0.4 million and 1.0 million common shares, respectively, subject to equity-based awards were excluded from the computation of diluted
earnings per share because the effect of their exercise would be anti-dilutive.

(1)

(1)

(1) 

48



Table of Contents

7.    Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value using the first-in, first-out ("FIFO") method. Cost components include raw materials, purchased components,
labor and overhead.

The inventories caption in the Consolidated Balance Sheet is comprised of the following components:
June 30, 2025 2024

Finished products $ 778  $ 778 
Work in process 1,485  1,421 
Raw materials 576  588 
Total $ 2,839  $ 2,787 

8.    Supply Chain Financing

We have SCF programs with financial intermediaries, which provide certain suppliers the option to be paid by the financial intermediaries earlier than the due date on the
applicable invoice. We are not a party to the agreements between the participating financial intermediaries and the suppliers in connection with the programs. The range of
payment terms we negotiate with our suppliers is consistent, irrespective of whether a supplier participates in the SCF programs. We do not reimburse suppliers for any costs
they incur for participation in the SCF programs and their participation is voluntary.

The following table summarizes the changes in amounts due to our suppliers that elected to participate in the SCF programs. These amounts are included in accounts payable,
trade on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, and payments made under the SCF programs are included within operating activities on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

2025 2024

Beginning balance $ 116  $ 85 
Invoices confirmed during the year 500  363 
Invoices settled during the year (446) (331)
Foreign currency translation adjustments 5  (1)
Ending balance $ 175  $ 116 

9.    Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:

Diversified Industrial
Segment

Aerospace Systems
Segment Total

Balance June 30, 2023 $ 7,683  $ 2,946  $ 10,629 
Acquisitions 1  10  11 
Divestitures (25) —  (25)
Foreign currency translation (52) (56) (108)
Balance June 30, 2024 $ 7,607  $ 2,900  $ 10,507 
Divestitures (90) —  (90)
Foreign currency translation 211  66  277 
Balance June 30, 2025 $ 7,728  $ 2,966  $ 10,694 

Acquisitions represent goodwill resulting from the purchase price allocation for the acquisition of Meggitt during the measurement period. Refer to Note 3 for further
discussion.

Divestitures represent goodwill associated with the sale of businesses during 2025 and 2024.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting unit level annually and between annual tests whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of a reporting
unit may exceed its fair value. Our annual impairment tests performed in 2025, 2024 and 2023 resulted in no impairment loss being recognized.
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Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line method over their legal or estimated useful lives. The gross carrying value and accumulated amortization for each major
category of intangible asset at June 30 are as follows:

2025 2024

Gross Carrying Amount
Accumulated
Amortization Gross Carrying Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Patents and technology $ 2,134  $ 556  $ 2,117  $ 452 
Trade names 1,037  499  1,042  441 
Customer relationships and other 8,194  2,936  8,044  2,494 
Total $ 11,365  $ 3,991  $ 11,203  $ 3,387 

Total intangible asset amortization expense in 2025, 2024 and 2023 was $553 million, $578 million and $501 million, respectively. The estimated intangible asset amortization
expense for the five years ending June 30, 2026 through 2030 is $550 million, $547 million, $539 million, $518 million and $489 million, respectively.

Intangible assets are evaluated for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the undiscounted net cash flows to be generated by their use over their expected
useful lives and eventual disposition may be less than their net carrying value. No material intangible asset impairments occurred in 2025, 2024 or 2023.

10.    Financing Arrangements

As of June 30, 2025, the Company had a line of credit totaling $3.0 billion through a multi-currency revolving credit agreement with a group of banks with $1.2 billion
available for borrowing under the credit agreement. On August 21, 2025, the multi-currency revolving credit agreement was amended to increase the total line of credit by
$750 million to $3.75 billion. The credit agreement expires June 2028; however, the Company has the right to request a one-year extension of the expiration date on an annual
basis, which may result in changes to the current terms and conditions of the credit agreement. Advances from the credit agreement can be used for general corporate purposes,
including acquisitions, and for the refinancing of existing indebtedness. The credit agreement supports our commercial paper program, and issuances of commercial paper
reduce the amount of credit available under the agreement. The credit agreement requires the payment of an annual facility fee, the amount of which may increase in the event
our credit ratings are lowered. Although a lowering of our credit ratings would likely increase the cost of future debt, it would not limit our ability to use the credit agreement
nor would it accelerate the repayment of any outstanding borrowings.

The Company was authorized to sell up to $3.0 billion of short-term commercial paper notes as of June 30, 2025 with commercial paper notes outstanding as of June 30, 2025
and 2024 of $1.8 billion and $2.1 billion, respectively. On August 21, 2025, the authorization limit for short-term commercial paper notes increased to $3.75 billion. The
Company had $10 million outstanding borrowings from foreign banks at June 30, 2025 and no outstanding borrowings at June 30, 2024. The weighted-average interest rate on
notes payable outstanding at June 30, 2025 and 2024 was 4.6 percent and 5.5 percent, respectively.

In the ordinary course of business, some of our locations may enter into financial guarantees through financial institutions which enable customers to be reimbursed in the event
of nonperformance by the Company.

The Company's credit agreements and indentures governing certain debt agreements contain various covenants, the violation of which would limit or preclude the use of the
applicable agreements for future borrowings, or might accelerate the maturity of the related outstanding borrowings covered by the applicable agreements. Based on our rating
level at June 30, 2025, the most restrictive financial covenant provides that the ratio of debt to debt-shareholders' equity cannot exceed 0.65 to 1.0. As of June 30, 2025, our
debt to debt-shareholders' equity ratio was 0.41 to 1.0. We are in compliance with all covenants.
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11.    Debt

June 30, 2025 2024

Domestic:
3.30% Fixed-rate medium term notes, due 2025 $ —  $ 500 
4.20% Fixed-rate medium term notes, due 2035 500  500 
6.25% Fixed-rate medium term notes, due 2038 325  325 
4.45% Fixed-rate medium term notes, due 2045 500  500 
3.25% Senior Notes, due 2027 700  700 
4.25% Senior Notes, due 2028 1,200  1,200 
3.25% Senior Notes, due 2029 1,000  1,000 
4.50% Senior Notes, due 2030 1,000  1,000 
4.10% Senior Notes, due 2047 600  600 
4.00% Senior Notes, due 2049 800  800 
Term Loan Facility, due 2026 —  490 

Foreign:
1.125% Euro Senior Notes, due 2025 —  750 
2.90% Euro Senior Notes, due 2030 821  — 

Other long-term debt (includes finance leases) 109  105 
Deferred debt issuance costs (54) (58)
Total 7,501  8,412 
Less: Long-term debt payable within one year 7  1,255 

Long-term debt $ 7,494  $ 7,157 

During 2025, the company issued €700 million aggregate principal amount of 2.90 percent Senior Notes due March 1, 2030. Interest will be paid annually on March 1st of each
year, commencing March 1, 2026. We used the net proceeds from the issuance, together with cash on hand, to repay the €700 million aggregate principal amount of 1.125
percent Senior Notes upon maturity in March 2025.

Our debt portfolio previously included a Term Loan Facility. During 2025, we repaid the remaining principal balance of $490 million of the Term Loan Facility. Additionally,
we repaid the $500 million aggregate principal amount of fixed rate medium-term notes bearing interest of 3.30 percent upon maturity in November 2024.

In 2024, we repaid in full $575 million and $1.4 billion aggregate principal amount of Senior Notes, with interest rates of 2.70 percent and 3.65 percent, respectively, which
matured in 2024.

Principal amounts of long-term debt payable in the five years ending June 30, 2026 through 2030 are $7 million, $706 million, $1.2 billion, $1.0 billion and $1.8 billion,
respectively. The principal amounts of long-term debt payable exclude the amortization of debt issuance costs.

12.     Leases

We primarily enter into lease agreements for office space, distribution centers, certain manufacturing facilities and equipment. Certain leases contain options that provide us
with the ability to extend the lease term. Such options are included in the lease term when it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. When accounting for leases,
we combine payments for leased assets, related services and other components of a lease. Payments within certain lease agreements are adjusted periodically for changes in an
index or rate. In addition, leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The discount rate implicit within our leases is generally not determinable, and therefore we determine the discount rate based on our incremental borrowing rate. The
incremental borrowing rate for our leases is determined based on lease term and the currency in which lease payments are made.
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The components of lease expense are as follows:
2025 2024 2023

Operating lease expense $ 64  $ 68  $ 60 
Finance lease cost:
   Amortization of lease assets 8  7  6 
   Interest on lease liabilities 5  5  4 
Short-term lease cost 13  9  8 
Variable lease cost 6  6  6 

Total lease cost $ 96  $ 95  $ 84 

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows:
2025 2024 2023

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash outflows - payments on operating leases $ 64  $ 65  $ 58 
Operating cash outflows - interest payments on finance leases 5  5  4 
Financing cash outflows - payments on finance lease obligations 5  5  5 

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease obligations 18  42  45 
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for finance lease obligations 2  4  1 

Supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases is as follows:

2025 2024

Operating Leases
Operating lease right-of-use assets (included within Other assets) $ 192 $ 226

Current operating lease liabilities (included within Other accrued liabilities) $ 47 $ 54
Long-term operating lease liabilities (included within Other liabilities) 154 180

Total operating lease liabilities $ 201 $ 234

Finance Leases
Property, plant and equipment $ 127 $ 116
Accumulated depreciation (25) (15)
   Property, plant and equipment, net $ 102 $ 101

Notes payable and long-term debt payable within one year $ 6 $ 5
Long-term debt 102 98
   Total finance lease liabilities $ 108 $ 103

Weighted-average remaining lease term
Operating leases 6.3 years 6.4 years
Finance leases 18.8 years 19.5 years

Weighted-average discount rate
Operating leases 4.3 % 4.2 %
Finance leases 5.2 % 5.2 %
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Maturities of lease liabilities at June 30, 2025 are as follows:
Operating Leases Finance Leases

2026 $ 54  $ 11 
2027 43  11 
2028 33  10 
2029 24  10 
2030 17  10 
Thereafter 62  119 

Total lease payments $ 233  $ 171 
Less imputed interest 32  63 

Total lease liabilities $ 201  $ 108 

13.    Retirement Benefits

Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits

The Company has noncontributory defined benefit pension plans covering eligible employees, including certain employees in foreign countries. Our largest plans are generally
closed to new participants. Plans for most salaried employees provide pay-related benefits based on years of service. Plans for hourly employees generally provide benefits
based on flat-dollar amounts and years of service. We also have arrangements for certain key employees, which provide for supplemental retirement benefits. In general, the
Company's policy is to fund these plans based on legal requirements, tax considerations, local practices and investment opportunities.

The Company provides postretirement medical and life insurance benefits to certain retirees and eligible dependents through an unfunded plan. The plan is contributory, with
retiree contributions adjusted annually, and pays stated percentages of covered medically necessary expenses incurred by retirees after subtracting payments by Medicare or
other providers and after stated deductibles have been met. The Company has established cost maximums to more effectively control future health care costs. We have reserved
the right to change this benefit plan.

A summary of the Company's defined benefit pension and other postretirement benefit plans follows:

U.S. Pension Benefits Non-U.S. Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023

Benefit cost
Service cost $ 28  $ 29  $ 35  $ 22  $ 22  $ 23  $ —  $ —  $ — 
Interest cost 184  190  165  76  80  60  4  4  3 
Expected return on plan assets (245) (258) (238) (87) (95) (73) —  —  — 
Amortization of prior service cost 3  1  1  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Amortization of net actuarial loss (gain) 7  2  8  7  6  9  (2) (2) (1)
Settlements 3  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  — 
Divestitures —  —  —  —  —  (3) —  —  — 
Net periodic benefit cost (credit) $ (20) $ (36) $ (29) $ 18  $ 13  $ 16  $ 2  $ 2  $ 2 

Components of net periodic benefit cost, other than service cost, are included in other (income) expense, net in the Consolidated Statement of Income.
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U.S. Pension Benefits Non-U.S. Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 3,723  $ 4,008  $ 1,817  $ 1,828  $ 71  $ 79 
Service cost 28  29  22  22  —  — 
Interest cost 184  190  76  80  4  4 
Acquisition —  —  —  —  —  — 
Actuarial gain (12) (106) (104) (6) (6) (5)
Benefits paid (254) (414) (88) (81) (6) (7)
Settlements (55) —  (6) —  —  — 
Plan amendments 1  16  —  —  —  — 
Foreign currency translation and other —  —  168  (26) —  — 
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 3,615  $ 3,723  $ 1,885  $ 1,817  $ 63  $ 71 

Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 3,363  $ 3,548  $ 2,003  $ 1,907  $ —  $ — 
Actual return on plan assets 347  179  —  98  —  — 
Employer contributions 62  50  87  105  6  7 
Benefits paid (254) (414) (88) (81) (6) (7)
Settlements (55) —  (6) —  —  — 
Foreign currency translation and other —  —  187  (26) —  — 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 3,463  $ 3,363  $ 2,183  $ 2,003  $ —  $ — 

Funded status $ (152) $ (360) $ 298  $ 186  $ (63) $ (71)

 The actuarial gain for the Non-U.S. pension plans in 2025 was primarily driven by an increase in discount rates. Additionally, both the U.S. and Non-U.S. pension plans generated actuarial
gains in 2025 due to favorable demographic experience. The actuarial gain for the U.S. pension plans in 2024 was primarily driven by an increase in discount rates.

U.S. Pension Benefits Non-U.S. Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024

Amounts recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheet
Other assets $ —  $ —  $ 346  $ 244  $ —  $ — 
Other accrued liabilities (11) (63) (1) (2) (6) (7)
Pensions and other postretirement benefits (141) (297) (47) (56) (57) (64)
Net amount recognized $ (152) $ (360) $ 298  $ 186  $ (63) $ (71)

Pre-tax amounts recognized in Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Loss
Net actuarial loss (gain) $ 191  $ 315  $ 230  $ 233  $ (25) $ (20)
Prior service cost 18  20  2  2  —  — 
Net amount recognized $ 209  $ 335  $ 232  $ 235  $ (25) $ (20)

In addition to the pension and other postretirement benefit obligations shown in the tables above, pensions and other postretirement benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheet
includes other immaterial international pension related liabilities.

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit plans was $5.4 billion and $5.4 billion at June 30, 2025 and 2024, respectively.

(1)

(1)
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Information for pension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets:

2025 2024

Accumulated benefit obligation
$ 316  $ 3,778 

Fair value of plan assets
171  3,502 

Information for pension plans with projected benefit obligations in excess of plan assets:
2025 2024

Projected benefit obligation
$ 3,865  $ 4,211 

Fair value of plan assets
3,665  3,794 

Expected Contributions and Benefit Payments - We expect to make cash contributions of approximately $58 million to our defined benefit pension plans in 2026, of which
$11 million and $47 million relate to U.S. and non-U.S. plans, respectively.

The following estimated benefit payments are expected to be paid during each respective year:

U.S. Pension Benefits
Non-U.S. Pension

Benefits
Other Postretirement

Benefits

2026 $ 273  $ 104  $ 6 
2027 275  108  6 
2028 276  110  6 
2029 286  97  6 
2030 279  80  5 
2031 - 2035 1,387  614  24 

Assumptions - The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to measure the net periodic benefit cost and benefit obligations are:

U.S. Pension Benefits Non-U.S. Pension Benefits Other Postretirement Benefits
2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023

Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Discount rate 5.27 % 4.88 % 4.36 % 4.19 % 4.24 % 3.40 % 5.23 % 4.86 % 4.26 %
Average increase in compensation 3.81 % 3.81 % 3.35 % 2.73 % 2.76 % 2.87 % NA NA NA
Expected return on plan assets 7.00 % 7.00 % 6.50 % 4.47 % 5.22 % 4.13 % NA NA NA

Benefit Obligation
Discount rate 5.27 % 5.27 % 4.88 % 4.36 % 4.19 % 4.24 % 5.18 % 5.23 % 4.86 %
Average increase in compensation 3.79 % 3.76 % 3.81 % 2.65 % 2.73 % 2.76 % NA NA NA

The discount rate assumption is based on current rates of high-quality, long-term corporate bonds over the same estimated time period that benefit payments will be required to
be made. The expected return on plan assets assumption is based on the weighted-average expected return of the various asset classes in the plans' portfolio. The asset class
return is developed using historical asset return performance as well as current market conditions such as inflation, interest rates and equity market performance.

The health care cost trend rate assumptions used to measure the postretirement benefit obligations are:

2025 2024

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 9.73 % 10.35 %
Ultimate health care cost trend rate 4.50 % 4.50 %
Year that the ultimate rate is reached 2035 2034
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Plan Assets - The weighted-average allocation of the majority of the assets related to the defined benefit plans is as follows:

2025 2024

Equities 20 % 26 %
Fixed income 46 % 45 %
Other investments 34 % 29 %

100 % 100 %

The weighted-average target asset allocation as of June 30, 2025 is 20 percent equities, 48 percent fixed income and 32 percent other investments. The investment strategy for
the Company's worldwide defined benefit pension plan assets focuses on achieving prudent actuarial funding ratios while maintaining acceptable levels of risk in order to
provide adequate liquidity to meet immediate and future benefit requirements. This strategy requires investment portfolios that are broadly diversified across various asset
classes and external investment managers. Assets held in the U.S. and U.K. defined benefit plans account for 61 percent and 24 percent, respectively, of our total defined benefit
plan assets. The overall investment strategy with respect to our U.S. defined benefit plan is to use a funding strategy more heavily weighted toward liability-hedging assets as
the funded status improves. Over time, we will increase the allocation to long duration fixed income investments and reduce exposure to return seeking assets such as equities
and alternatives. The strategy utilizes fixed income investments aligned with the duration and cash flow profile of the plan's liabilities to hedge the impact of interest rate and
inflation changes. For the overfunded U.K. defined benefit plans, the overall investment strategy primarily focuses on utilizing fixed income investments to achieve a rate of
return that is at least commensurate with the changes in the cost of providing fixed and index-linked annuities.

Certain investments that are measured at their fair value using the Net Asset Value ("NAV") per share (or its equivalent) as a practical expedient have not been classified in the
fair value hierarchy. The fair values of pension plan assets at June 30, 2025 and at June 30, 2024, by asset class, are as follows:

June 30, 2025 June 30, 2024
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 NAV

Cash and cash equivalents $ 540  $ 459  $ 76  $ —  $ 5  $ 461  $ 450  $ 6  $ —  $ 5 
Equities

U.S. equity securities 7  7  —  —  —  680  680  —  —  — 
Non-U.S. equity securities 57  57  —  —  —  58  50  8  —  — 
Commingled equity funds 1,059  —  106  —  953  652  50  52  —  550 

Fixed income
Corporate bonds 801  4  797  —  —  589  16  573  —  — 
Government issued securities 552  521  31  —  —  574  544  30 
Commingled fixed income funds 1,293  —  350  —  943  1,298  23  525  —  750 

Alternatives 778  —  —  —  778  770  —  56  714 
Other 648  66  (1) 583  —  341  12  329  —  — 

$ 5,735  $ 1,114  $ 1,359  $ 583  $ 2,679  $ 5,423  $ 1,825  $ 1,579  $ —  $ 2,019 

(Payables) receivables, net (89) (57)
Total $ 5,646  $ 5,366 

Alternatives includes investments in real estate, hedge funds and private debt.

Other investments primarily includes insurance contracts held under our non-U.S. plans.

(1)

(2)

(1) 

(2) 
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The fair value measurement of plan assets using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) changed during 2025 and 2024 due to the following:
2025 2024

Balance at beginning of year $ —  $ — 
Actual return on plan assets still held at year-end 12  — 
Purchases, sales, settlements - net 203  — 
Transfers into Level 3 325  — 
Changes due to exchange rates 43  — 

Balance at end of year $ 583  $ — 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of direct cash holdings and short-term investment vehicles. Cash is valued at cost, which approximates fair value. Short-term investments are
primarily valued at quoted prices in active markets and are classified within Level 1. The U.S. defined benefit plan uses a liability-hedging initiative that requires the plan to
maintain a certain cash balance.

Equity securities are valued at the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual securities are traded. Substantially all equity securities are classified
within Level 1. As of June 30, 2024, the U.S. defined benefit plan held $672 million worth of Parker stock, which was divested in 2025.

Corporate bonds and fixed income securities categorized as Level 2 are valued using observable inputs for similar assets that are traded on an active market. The fair value of
government issued securities categorized in Level 1 are primarily based on observable quoted prices on the active markets on which the security trades.

Commingled equity and fixed income funds consist of common/collective trusts or other investment vehicles. Most of these funds are valued using the NAV provided by the
fund administrator and are based on the fair value of the underlying assets. Commingled funds classified within Level 1 are valued using the closing market price reported on
the active market. When quoted market prices for funds are not available in an active market, they are classified as Level 2. Most of these funds have no redemption restrictions
or lock-up periods and can be liquidated within 90 days.

Alternatives include investments in real estate, hedge funds, and private debt, which are valued using the fund's NAV based on the fair value of the underlying investments.
Funds within this asset class may be subject to redemption restrictions, and valuations for certain real estate and private debt funds may be lagged up to 6 months. For these
funds, the NAV is adjusted for cash flows through year end.

Other investments primarily include insurance contracts within the Non-U.S. pension plans' asset portfolio. Insurance contracts, which are categorized as Level 3, are valued as
reported by the insurer which include adjustments for changes in the underlying assets, or are valued using other pricing sources which use unobservable inputs. Other
investments also includes derivative instruments which are generally associated with our liability hedging strategies and are valued based on the closing prices of contracts or
market observable inputs.

Defined Contribution Plans

We sponsor various defined contribution plans both in the U.S. and internationally, including in the United Kingdom, Germany, Sweden, Canada and South Korea.

Under our primary U.S. 401(k) plan, the Company matches employee contributions up to a maximum of five percent of eligible compensation. Participants may direct the
matching contributions among various investment choices, including our common stock held within an employee stock ownership plan ("ESOP"). In addition to shares within
the ESOP, employees may elect to invest in our common stock through a company stock fund offered within the primary U.S. 401(k) plan. As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the
plan held 4.0 million and 4.5 million shares of our common stock. The Company also maintains a retirement income account ("RIA") within the primary U.S. 401(k) plan. We
make annual cash contributions to eligible participant's RIA, with most participants receiving a flat three percent contribution of eligible compensation. Some grandfathered
participants receive contributions calculated at a higher percentage, but no participant receives less than the flat three percent. Participants do not contribute to the RIA.
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Matching and other contributions under all defined contribution plans are expensed as incurred. Expense recognized under the U.S. plans was $187 million, $194 million, and
$167 million in 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Expense recognized under the international plans was $33 million, $31 million and $30 million in 2025, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

Other

The Company has established unfunded nonqualified deferred compensation programs, that allow officers, directors and certain management employees to annually elect to
defer a portion of their compensation on a pre-tax basis until retirement. The retirement benefit to be provided is based on the amount of compensation deferred, company
matching contributions and earnings on the deferrals. The Company has invested in corporate-owned life insurance policies to assist in meeting the obligations under these
programs. The policies are held in a rabbi trust and are considered general corporate assets. Net gains and losses related to these assets and liabilities are reflected in selling,
general and administrative expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Income and are immaterial in total.

As of June 30, 2025 and 2024, the cash surrender values of the corporate-owned life insurance policies were $260 million and $238 million, and the balances of the deferred
compensation liabilities were $171 million and $164 million, respectively. These amounts are included in other assets and other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

14.    Equity

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss in shareholders' equity by component:

2025 2024 2023

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment and Other
Beginning balance $ (1,130) $ (962) $ (1,149)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 418  (153) 225 
Income tax (5) (15) (38)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 413  (168) 187 

Ending balance $ (717) $ (1,130) $ (962)
Retirement Benefit Plans
Beginning balance $ (308) $ (331) $ (394)

Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 163  23  75 
Income tax (34) (6) (22)
Reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss:

Amortization of net actuarial loss and other 18  8  14 
Tax benefit (5) (2) (4)

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 142  23  63 
Ending balance $ (166) $ (308) $ (331)
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss ending balance $ (883) $ (1,438) $ (1,293)

The amounts reclassified include the amortization of net actuarial loss, amortization of prior service cost and gains or losses related to settlements and divestitures. These costs are included in
the computation of net periodic benefit cost which is recorded in other income, net. Refer to Note 13 for additional information.

Share Repurchases - On October 22, 2014, the Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program authorizing the repurchase of up to 35.0 million of the Company's
common shares. Under this program, we repurchased 2.5 million, 0.4 million, and 0.7 million shares for $1.6 billion, $200 million and $200 million during 2025, 2024 and
2023, respectively. As of June 30, 2025, we had 4.8 million shares available under this repurchase authorization. On August 21, 2025, the Board of Directors approved an
update to the number of shares available under the Company's existing share repurchase authorization so that the aggregate number of shares available for repurchase as of such
date was 20.0 million. There is no limitation on the number of shares that can be repurchased in a year and there is no expiration date for the program. Repurchases may be
funded primarily from operating cash flows and commercial paper borrowings and the shares are initially held as treasury shares.

(1)

(1) 
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15.    Stock Incentive Plans

The Company's 2023 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan ("2023 SIP") provides for the granting of stock-based incentive awards in the form of nonqualified stock options, stock
appreciation rights ("SARs"), restricted stock units ("RSUs") and restricted and unrestricted stock to officers and key employees of the Company. The aggregate number of
shares of common stock authorized for issuance under the 2023 SIP is 11.3 million. At June 30, 2025, 7.2 million common stock shares were available for future issuance.

The Company also maintains a Global Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP"), which is offered in a limited number of international countries. The ESPP is intended to
provide eligible employees with the opportunity to acquire interest in the Company's common shares for 90 percent of the fair market value per share. The maximum number of
shares that may be issued under the ESPP is 10.0 million shares, of which approximately 9.9 million shares are still available for future issuance. Activity under this plan is not
material.

We satisfy stock-based incentive award obligations by issuing shares of common stock out of treasury, which have been repurchased pursuant to our share repurchase program
described in Note 14, or through the issuance of previously unissued common stock.

Total stock-based compensation expense and the related tax benefits were as follows:

2025 2024 2023

Stock-based compensation expense $ 159  $ 156  $ 143 
Income tax benefits $ 23  $ 20  $ 20 

At June 30, 2025, $142 million of total unrecognized compensation costs related to stock-incentive awards has yet to be recognized and will be amortized into expense over a
weighted-average period of approximately 1.8 years. The Company also realized income tax benefits related to the exercise and issuance of awards for $54 million, $52 million
and $33 million during 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

SARs - SARs vest ratably over a three-year service period and expire ten years from the grant date. Upon exercise, SARs entitle the participant to receive shares of common
stock equal to the increase in value of the award between the grant date and the exercise date.

The fair value of each SAR award granted in 2025, 2024 and 2023 was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing model.

2025 2024 2023

Weighted-average grant date fair value $ 205.79  $ 146.72  $ 97.70 
Assumptions:

Risk-free interest rate 3.7 % 4.4 % 3.0 %
Expected life of award 5.7 years 5.5 years 5.6 years
Expected dividend yield of stock 1.1 % 1.8 % 1.8 %
Expected volatility of stock 35.7 % 39.0 % 37.1 %

The risk-free interest rate was based on U.S. Treasury yields with a term similar to the expected life of the award. The expected life of the award was derived by referring to
actual exercise and post-vesting employment termination experience. The expected dividend yield was based on the annual rate of dividends per share over the market value of
the stock on the grant date. The expected volatility of stock was derived by referring to changes in our historical common stock prices over a time-frame similar to the expected
life of the award.
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SAR activity during 2025 is as follows:    

(Shares in thousands) Number of Shares
Weighted-Average Exercise

Price

Weighted-Average
Remaining Contractual

Term Aggregate Intrinsic Value

Outstanding June 30, 2024 3,495  $ 238.15 
Granted 347  $ 578.39 
Exercised (733) $ 180.74 
Canceled and forfeited (21) $ 445.30 
Outstanding June 30, 2025 3,088  $ 288.60  5.8 years $ 1,266 
Exercisable June 30, 2025 2,230  $ 226.33  4.9 years $ 1,053 

A summary of the status and changes of shares subject to SAR awards and the related average price per share follows:

(Shares in thousands)
Number of

Shares
Weighted-Average Grant

Date Fair Value

Nonvested June 30, 2024 1,050  $ 119.05 
Granted 347  $ 205.79 
Vested (519) $ 109.06 
Canceled and forfeited (21) $ 155.39 
Nonvested June 30, 2025 857  $ 159.29 

The total fair value of shares vested during 2025, 2024 and 2023 was $57 million, $45 million and $34 million, respectively. The total intrinsic value of SAR awards exercised
during 2025, 2024 and 2023 was $340 million, $270 million and $158 million, respectively.

RSU & LTIP Awards - RSUs constitute an agreement to deliver shares of common stock to the participant at the end of a vesting period. Generally, the RSUs vest ratably over
a three-year service period. For each nonvested RSU, recipients are entitled to receive a dividend equivalent, payable in cash or common shares, equal to the cash dividend per
share paid to common shareholders.

We also granted RSUs with a one-year vesting period to non-employee members of the Board of Directors. Recipients receive a dividend equivalent payable in common shares,
equal to the cash dividend per share paid to common shareholders.

The Company's Long Term Incentive Plans ("LTIP") provide for the issuance of unrestricted stock to certain officers and key employees based on the attainment of certain
goals relating to our revenue growth, earnings per share growth and return on invested capital during a three-year performance period. The number of shares earned at the end
of the performance period could vary, based on actual performance, between zero and 200 percent of the target LTIP awards granted. These nonvested LTIP awards entitle
participants to earn dividend equivalent units, payable in common shares, equal to the cash dividend per share paid to common shareholders and are subject to the same
performance goals as the initial award granted.

A summary of the status and changes of shares subject to RSU and LTIP awards for employees and the related average price per share follows:

RSU LTIP Awards

(Shares in thousands)
Number of

Shares
Weighted-Average Grant

Date Fair Value
Number of

Shares
Weighted-Average Grant

Date Fair Value

Nonvested June 30, 2024 182  $ 345.45  348  $ 350.75 
Granted 60  $ 582.76  146  $ 465.01 
Vested (91) $ 329.00  (213) $ 313.89 
Canceled (5) $ 462.19  (6) $ 436.67 
Nonvested June 30, 2025 146  $ 449.11  275  $ 438.35 

LTIP awards granted includes an adjustment for actual performance achieved.

The fair value of each RSU and LTIP award granted in 2025, 2024 and 2023 was based on the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. A summary of the
fair value information for awards vested and granted were as follows:

(1)

(1) 
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Fair Value of Awards Vested Weighted-Average Grant Date Fair Value
2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023

RSU $ 30  $ 29  $ 32  $ 582.76  $ 401.86  $ 297.43 
LTIP awards $ 64  $ 45  $ 58  $ 465.01  $ 380.97  $ 301.64 

16.    Research and Development

Independent research and development costs amounted to $240 million in 2025, $253 million in 2024 and $258 million in 2023. Pre-production expense incurred in connection
with development contracts amounted to $58 million in 2025, $45 million in 2024 and $73 million in 2023.

17.    Financial Instruments

The Company utilizes derivative and non-derivative financial instruments, including forward exchange contracts, costless collar contracts, cross-currency swap contracts and
certain foreign currency denominated debt, to manage foreign currency transaction and translation risk. The derivative financial instrument contracts are with major investment
grade financial institutions, and the Company does not anticipate any material non-performance by any of the counterparties. The Company does not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes.

Net Investment Hedges

The Company uses cross-currency swap contracts and foreign currency denominated debt, a non-derivative financial instrument, to hedge portions of the Company's
investments in foreign subsidiaries and manage foreign exchange risk. The effect of translating the debt into U.S. dollars is recorded in foreign currency translation within
accumulated other comprehensive loss and remains there until the underlying net investment is sold or substantially liquidated. For the cross-currency swap contracts that are
designated and qualify as a net investment hedges, we assess the effectiveness using the spot method and the net gains or losses attributable to changes in the spot rate are
recorded in foreign currency translation within accumulated other comprehensive loss. Any ineffective portions of the net investment hedges are reclassified from accumulated
other comprehensive loss into earnings through interest expense during the period of change. During 2025, 2024, and 2023, the periodic interest settlements related to the cross-
currency swaps were not material.

The notional amounts for the cross-currency swap contracts designated as hedging instruments were €69 million, €290 million and ¥2.1 billion as of June 30, 2025 and 2024.

During 2025, the Company issued €700 million aggregate principal amount of 2.90 percent Senior Notes due 2030. We used the net proceeds from the issuance, together with
cash on hand, to repay the €700 million aggregate principal amount of 1.125 percent Senior Notes due 2025. The Company’s €700 million aggregate principal amount of 2.90
percent Senior Notes due 2030 have been designated as a hedge of the Company’s net investment in certain foreign subsidiaries.

Non-Designated Derivative Contracts

In addition to the net investment hedges, the Company utilizes derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments but serve as economic hedges of forecasted
transactions. These include forward exchange, cross-currency swap, deal-contingent forward and costless collar contracts, which are used to mitigate foreign exchange risk.
Changes in the fair value of these instruments are recorded in other (income) expense, net in the Consolidated Statement of Income.

In connection with the acquisition of Meggitt, the Company entered into deal-contingent forward contracts during October 2021 to mitigate the risk of appreciation in the GBP-
denominated purchase price. The deal-contingent forward contracts had an aggregate notional amount of £6.4 billion, and were settled in September 2022 in connection with
the acquisition of Meggitt. In June 2022, we amended the agreement to include a credit support annex obligating Parker to post $250 million of cash collateral. In July 2022, the
Company received the $250 million cash collateral previously posted. Cash flows associated with the cash collateral are recorded in cash flow from investing activities on the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.

Financial Statement Impact

Derivative financial instruments are recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as either assets or liabilities and are measured at fair value. The location and fair value of
derivative financial instruments reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet are as follows:
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Balance Sheet Caption 2025 2024

Net investment hedges
Cross-currency swap contracts Other assets $ 4  $ 16 
Cross-currency swap contracts Other liabilities 26  — 

Non-designated derivative contracts
Forward exchange contracts Non-trade and notes receivable 3  8 
Forward exchange contracts Other accrued liabilities 38  — 

The cross-currency swap and forward exchange contracts are reflected on a gross basis in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The Company has not entered into any master
netting arrangements.

(Losses) gains on derivative financial instruments were recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Income as follows:

2025 2024 2023

Deal-contingent forward contracts $ —  $ —  $ (390)
Forward exchange contracts (63) 11  (7)
Costless collar contracts —  —  12 
Cross-currency swap contracts —  —  (19)

(Losses) gains on derivative and non-derivative financial instruments that were recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the Consolidated Balance Sheet are as
follows:

2025 2024

Cross-currency swap contracts $ (30) $ (4)
Foreign currency denominated debt (56) 10 

Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and long-term investments, as well as obligations under accounts
payable, trade, notes payable and long-term debt. Due to their short-term nature, the carrying values for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, trade
and notes payable approximate fair value.

The carrying value of long-term debt, which excludes the impact of net unamortized debt issuance costs, and estimated fair value of long-term debt at June 30 are as follows:

2025 2024

Carrying value of long-term debt $ 7,555  $ 8,470 
Estimated fair value of long-term debt 7,174  7,885 

The fair value of long-term debt is classified within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

A summary of derivative assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis at June 30, 2025 and 2024 are as follows:
June 30, 2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Derivative assets $ 7  $ —  $ 7  $ — 
Derivative liabilities 64  —  64  — 

June 30, 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Derivative assets $ 24  $ —  $ 24  $ — 

The calculation of fair value for cross-currency swaps and forward contracts utilizes market observable inputs including both spot and forward prices for the same underlying
currencies. The calculation of fair value of the cross-currency swap contracts also utilizes a present value cash flow model.
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18.    Contingencies

The Company is involved in various litigation matters arising in the normal course of business, including proceedings based on product liability claims, workers' compensation
claims, employee claims, class action lawsuits, and alleged violations of various environmental laws. We are self-insured in the United States for health care, workers'
compensation, general liability and product liability up to predetermined amounts, above which third-party insurance applies. Management regularly reviews the probable
outcome of these proceedings, the expenses expected to be incurred, the availability and limits of the insurance coverage and the established accruals for liabilities. While the
outcome of pending proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, management believes that any liabilities that may result from these proceedings will not have a material
adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition or results of operations.

Environmental - We are currently responsible for environmental matters primarily relating to known exposures arising from environmental litigation, investigations, and
remediation at various manufacturing facilities presently or formerly operated by Parker and for which we have been named as a “potentially responsible party,” along with
other companies, at off-site waste disposal facilities and regional sites.

As of June 30, 2025, we had an accrual of $88 million for environmental matters, which are probable and reasonably estimable. The accrual is recorded based upon the best
estimate of costs to be incurred in light of the progress made in determining the magnitude of remediation costs, the timing and extent of remedial actions required by
governmental authorities, the amount of our liability in proportion to other responsible parties, and outcomes of litigation.

Our estimated total liability for environmental matters ranges from a minimum of $88 million to a maximum of $290 million. The largest range for any one site is
approximately $85 million. The actual costs we will incur are dependent on final determination of contamination and required remedial action, negotiations with governmental
authorities with respect to cleanup levels, changes in regulatory requirements, innovations in investigatory and remedial technologies, effectiveness of remedial technologies
employed, the ability of other responsible parties to pay, outcomes of litigation, and any insurance or other third-party recoveries.

19.    Business Segment Information

The Company operates in two reportable business segments: Diversified Industrial and Aerospace Systems. Both segments utilize eight core technologies, including hydraulics,
pneumatics, electromechanical, filtration, fluid & gas handling, process control, engineered materials, and climate control, to drive superior customer problem solving and value
creation.

The Diversified Industrial Segment is an aggregation of several business units that design, manufacture, and provide aftermarket support for highly engineered solutions that
create value for customers primarily in aerospace and defense, in-plant and industrial equipment, transportation, off-highway, energy, and HVAC and refrigeration markets
around the world. Diversified Industrial Segment products are marketed direct to OEMs and independent distributors through field sales employees. The Diversified Industrial
North America businesses have manufacturing plants and distribution networks throughout the United States, Canada and Mexico and primarily service North America. The
Diversified Industrial International businesses provide Parker products and services to 40 countries throughout Europe, Asia Pacific, Latin America, the Middle East and Africa.

The Aerospace Systems Segment designs, manufactures and provides aftermarket support for highly engineered airframe and engine solutions for both OEMs and end users.
Our components and systems are utilized across commercial transport, defense fixed wing, business jets, regional transport, helicopter and energy applications. Aerospace
Systems Segment products are marketed by field sales employees and are sold directly to manufacturers and end users.

The accounting policies of the business segments are the same as those described in the Significant Accounting Policies footnote. The business segment results are prepared on
a basis that is consistent with the manner in which the Company’s management disaggregates financial information for internal review and decision-making.

The Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) is the Chief Executive Officer.  The CODM uses Segment Operating Income as a measure to assess performance,
drive decisions and allocate human and financial capital to our reportable segments.  Annual plan, monthly forecasts and prior year results are continually compared to these
measures when evaluating performance.  Other segment items are managed on a consolidated basis for the CODM’s review.
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2025 2024 2023

Net Sales:
Diversified Industrial $ 13,665  $ 14,458  $ 14,705 
Aerospace Systems 6,185  5,472  4,360 

$ 19,850  $ 19,930  $ 19,065 
Other Segment Items:
Diversified Industrial $ 10,545  $ 11,282  $ 11,634 
Aerospace Systems 4,744  4,361  3,797 

$ 15,289  $ 15,643  $ 15,431 
Segment Operating Income:
Diversified Industrial $ 3,120  $ 3,176  $ 3,071 
Aerospace Systems 1,441  1,111  563 
Total segment operating income 4,561  4,287  3,634 
Corporate general and administrative expenses 214  218  230 
Income before interest expense and other (income) expense, net 4,347  4,069  3,404 
Interest expense 409  506  574 
Other (income) expense, net (169) (32) 150 
Income before income taxes $ 4,107  $ 3,595  $ 2,680 

Other segment items are primarily comprised of cost of sales; selling, general and administrative expenses; and income related to equity method investments.

Assets Property Additions
2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023

Diversified Industrial $ 15,953  $ 16,174  $ 15,573  $ 310  $ 303  $ 293 
Aerospace Systems 12,218  12,016  13,661  88  90  81 
Corporate 1,323  1,108  730  37  7  7 
Total $ 29,494  $ 29,298  $ 29,964  $ 435  $ 400  $ 381 

Assets include an investment in a joint venture in which ownership is 50 percent or less and in which the Company does not have operating control (2025 - $226 million; 2024 - $218 million;
2023 - $216 million).

Depreciation Amortization
2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023

Diversified Industrial $ 228  $ 232  $ 205  $ 253  $ 266  $ 268 
Aerospace Systems 114  108  104  300  312  233 
Corporate 12  9  8  —  —  — 
Total $ 354  $ 349  $ 317  $ 553  $ 578  $ 501 

Geographic Area - Net sales are attributed to countries based on the location of the selling unit. North America includes the United States, Canada and Mexico. No country
other than the United States represents greater than 10 percent of consolidated sales. Long-lived assets are comprised of property, plant and equipment based on physical
location.

Net Sales Long-Lived Assets
2025 2024 2023 2025 2024 2023

North America $ 13,406  $ 13,512  $ 12,690  $ 1,874  $ 1,864  $ 1,828 
International 6,444  6,418  6,375  1,063  1,012  1,037 
Total $ 19,850  $ 19,930  $ 19,065  $ 2,937  $ 2,876  $ 2,865 

(1)

(1) 

(1)

(1) 
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20.    Other (income) expense, net

The table below includes the components of other (income) expense, net in the Consolidated Statement of Income:

2025 2024 2023

Foreign currency transaction loss (gain) $ 46  $ (38) $ 46 
Income related to equity method investments (178) (152) (124)
Non-service components of retirement benefit cost (51) (73) (67)
Interest income (11) (15) (46)
Saegertown incident 8  —  — 
Loss on deal-contingent forward contracts —  —  390 
Other items, net 3  2  (15)
Total other (income) expense, net $ (183) $ (276) $ 184 

 Foreign currency transaction loss (gain) primarily relates to the impact of exchange rates on cash, forward contracts and intercompany transactions.
 Equity method investments consist of investments in joint venture companies in which ownership is 50 percent or less and in which the Company does not have operating control. The
Company's share of earnings from investments in joint venture companies are reflected in other (income) expense, net. Sales to and services performed for joint venture companies totaled $96
million, $74 million and $64 million in 2025, 2024 and 2023, respectively. We received cash dividends from joint venture companies of $167 million, $148 million and $114 million in 2025,
2024 and 2023, respectively.
 For further discussion of the non-service components of retirement benefit cost refer to Note 13.
 The Saegertown incident represents the deductible and retained liability expense associated with a fire at our plant in Saegertown, Pennsylvania in February 2025.
 Loss on deal-contingent forward contracts includes a loss on the deal-contingent forward contracts related to the acquisition of Meggitt. Refer to Note 17 for further discussion.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)
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ITEM 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

ITEM 9A. Controls and Procedures

The Company carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s management, including the Company’s principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30, 2025. Based on this evaluation, the Company’s principal
executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that, as of June 30, 2025, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change to our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of 2025 that materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

Management's Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management, including the principal executive officer and the principal financial officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)). We assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30,
2025. In making this assessment, we used the criteria established by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in “Internal Control-Integrated
Framework (2013).” We concluded that based on our assessment, the Company's internal control over financial reporting was effective as of June 30, 2025.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Company's consolidated financial statements, has issued an attestation report on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2025, which is included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 9B. Other Information

None of the Company's directors or officers adopted, modified or terminated a Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement or a non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement during the
Company's fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2025.

ITEM 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not Applicable.

PART III

ITEM 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Information required with respect to the Directors of the Company is set forth under the caption "Item I – Election of Directors" in the definitive Proxy Statement for the
Company’s 2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be held October 22, 2025 (the "2025 Proxy Statement"), and is incorporated herein by reference. Information with respect
to the executive officers of the Company is included in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption "Information about our Executive Officers."

The information set forth under the caption "Insider Trading and Prohibited Transactions in Company Securities" in the 2025 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by
reference.

The Company has adopted a Global Code of Business Conduct that applies to its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Controller. The Global Code of Business
Conduct is posted on the Company’s investor relations internet website at investors.parker.com under the Governance page. Any amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of
the Company’s Global Code of Business Conduct that applies to its Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer or Controller will also be posted at investors.parker.com
under the Corporate Governance page.

The information set forth under the captions "Board Committees; Committee Charters - Audit Committee" and "Board and Committee Structure - Board Committees;
Committee Charters" in the 2025 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 11. Executive Compensation

The information set forth under the captions "Compensation Discussion and Analysis," "Compensation Committee Report," "Pay Versus Performance Disclosure" and
"Compensation Tables" in the 2025 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information set forth under the caption "Principal Shareholders" in the 2025 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Equity Compensation Plan Information. The following table sets forth certain information regarding the Company's equity compensation plans as of June 30, 2025, unless
otherwise indicated.

Plan Category

Number of securities to be
issued upon exercise of

outstanding options, warrants
and rights

Weighted-average exercise price
of outstanding options, warrants

and rights

Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance
under Equity compensation

plans
Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 3,783,595 $288.60 17,153,703
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders — — —
Total 3,783,595 $288.60 17,153,703

Includes the maximum future payouts of common stock that may be issued under the calendar year 2023-24-25, 2024-25-26 and 2025-26-27 long term incentive performance awards ("LTIP
awards"). For these LTIP awards, payouts will be determined based on achieving an average return on average equity of four percent or an average free cash flow margin of four percent. If
these performance measures are achieved, the participants will be eligible to receive the maximum payout of 200 percent. The Human Resources and Compensation Committee will then
compare our performance to that of a group of our peers and, if appropriate, apply its discretion to reduce the final payouts based on any performance measures that the Committee
determines to be appropriate.

The maximum number of shares of our common stock that may be issued under the 2023 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan is 11.3 million shares, of which approximately 7.2 million shares are
available for future issuance. The maximum number of shares that may be issued under the Global Employee Stock Purchase Plan is 10.0 million shares, of which approximately 9.9 million
shares are still available for future issuance.

ITEM 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information set forth under the captions "Other Governance Matters - Review and Approval of Transactions with Related Persons" and "Item 1 - Election of Directors -
Director Independence" in the 2025 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information set forth under the captions "Audit Fees and All Other Fees" and "Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures" in the 2025 Proxy Statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

(1) (2)

(1)

(2)
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PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

a. The following are filed as part of this report:

Page Number
in Form 10-K

1. Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Income 33
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 34
Consolidated Balance Sheet 35
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 36
Consolidated Statement of Equity 37
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 38

2. Exhibits

Description of Exhibit

Plans of Acquisition, Reorganization, Arrangement, Liquidation or Succession:

(2)(a) Rule 2.7 Announcement in connection with Parker-Hannifin Corporation's acquisition of Meggitt plc, dated August 2, 2021, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Registrant's Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 3, 2021 (Commission file No. 1-4982).

Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws:
(3)(a) Amended Articles of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(a) to Registrant's Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June

30, 2016 (Commission File No. 1-4982).

(3)(b) Amended and Restated Regulations, dated as of April 27, 2023, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3(a) to the Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2023 (Commission File No. 1-4982).
Instruments Defining Rights of Security Holders:

(4)(a) Description of Parker-Hannifin's Securities, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4(a) to Registrant's Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June
30, 2019 (Commission File No. 1-4982).

Material Contracts:

(10)(a) Form of Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated Change in Control Severance Agreement entered into by Registrant and its executive
officers, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2008
(Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(b) Form of Parker-Hannifin Corporation Change in Control Severance Agreement for Executive Officers elected after September 1, 2015 at or above
Grade 29, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(c) to Registrant's Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 (Commission
File No. 1-4982).**
 

(10)(c) Form of Parker-Hannifin Corporation Change in Control Severance Agreement for Executive Officers dated after September 1, 2015 below Grade
29, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(d) to Registrant's Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016(Commission File No.
1-4982).**
 

(10)(d) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated Change in Control Severance Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(b) to Registrant’s
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2008 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(e) Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by the Registrant and its directors and executive officers incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10(c) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**
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(10)(f) Description of the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Officer Life Insurance Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(h) to Registrant’s Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(g) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated Supplemental Executive Retirement Benefits Program effective July 1, 2014, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2016 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(h) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated Defined Contribution Supplemental Executive Retirement Program, effective January 22,
2015, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(c) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31,
2015(Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(i) Summary of the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Executive Disability Insurance Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(j) to Registrant's Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(j) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated 2003 Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(b) to Registrant’s Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2010 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(k) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated 2009 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Registrant’s
Definitive Proxy Statement filed with the Commission on September 24, 2012 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(l) Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2016 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Annex B to Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement
on Schedule 14A, filed with the SEC on September 26, 2016 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(m) Parker-Hannifin Corporation First Amendment to 2016 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan, effective April 1, 2017, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10(a) to Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2017 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(n) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated 2016 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan, effective as of October 23, 2019, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 28, 2019 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(o) Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2015 Performance Bonus Plan, incorporated by reference to Appendix B to Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement
filed with the Commission on September 28, 2015 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(p) Form of 2010 Notice of Stock Options with Tandem Stock Appreciation Rights for Executive Officers, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(d)
to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2009 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(q) Form of 2011 Parker-Hannifin Corporation Stock Appreciation Rights Award Agreement for executive officers, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 17, 2010 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(r) 2011 Parker-Hannifin Corporation Stock Appreciation Rights Terms and Conditions for executive officers, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 17, 2010 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(s) Form of Parker-Hannifin Corporation Stock Appreciation Rights Award Agreement, for executive officers, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10(a) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2011 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(t) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Stock Appreciation Rights Terms and Conditions for executive officers, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(b) to
Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2011 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(u) Form of 2018 Parker-Hannifin Corporation Stock Appreciation Rights Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(d) to Registrant's
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2018 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(v) 2018 Parker-Hannifin Corporation Stock Appreciation Rights Terms and Conditions, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(e) to Registrant's
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2018 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(w) Form of 2024 Parker-Hannifin Corporation Stock Appreciation Rights Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Registrant's
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2024 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**
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(10)(x) 2024 Parker-Hannifin Corporation Stock Appreciation Rights Terms and Conditions, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Registrant's
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2024 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(y) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Target Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(d) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2010 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(z) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Target Incentive Plan Subject to Performance Bonus Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(e) to Registrant’s
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2010 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(aa) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Long-Term Incentive Performance Plan Under the Performance Bonus Plan, as amended and restated, effective
January 20, 2016, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(aa) to Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016
(Commission file No. 1-4982).**

(10)(bb) Form of Notice of Award under the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Long-Term Incentive Performance Plan Under the Performance Bonus Plan (as
Amended and Restated), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(bb) to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2016 (Commission file No. 1-4982).**

(10)(cc) Form of Notice of Award under the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan Under the Performance Bonus Plan (as Amended and
Restated), effective as of January 23, 2019, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(f) to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarterly period ended December 31, 2018 (Commission file No. 1-4982).**
 

(10)(dd) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Long-Term Incentive Performance Plan Under the Performance Bonus Plan (as Amended and Restated), effective as
of January 23, 2019, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(g) to the Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December
31, 2018 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(ee) Form of Award Under the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan Under the Performance Bonus Plan (as Amended and Restated)
effective as of January 27, 2021, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to the Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
March 31, 2021 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(ff) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Long-Term Incentive Performance Plan Under the Performance Bonus Plan, as Amended and Restated, effective as
of January 27, 2022, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to the Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31,
2022 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(gg) Form of Notice of Award under the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan Under the Performance Bonus Plan, as Amended and
Restated, effective as of January 27, 2022, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to the Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended March 31, 2022 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(hh) Form of Notice of Award under the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Long-Term Incentive Performance Plan, as Amended and Restated, effective as of
January 22, 2025.**

(10)(ii) Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2022 Performance Bonus Plan, effective as of July 1, 2021, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to the
Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2021 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(jj) Form of Parker-Hannifin Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Registrant's Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2018 (Commission file No. 1-4982).**

(10)(kk) Form of Parker-Hannifin Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(b) to Registrant's Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2018 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(ll) Form of Parker-Hannifin Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Terms and Conditions for Awards Granted, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(c)
to Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2018 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(mm) Form of 2018 Parker-Hannifin Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement to Certain Executive Officers, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10(b) to Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(nn) Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2018 Restricted Stock Unit Terms and Conditions for Certain Executive Officers, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10(c) to Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**
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(10)(oo) Form of 2023 Parker-Hannifin Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement and Terms and Conditions for Certain Executive Officers
(Amended and Restated 2016 Plan).**

(10)(pp) Form of 2023 Parker-Hannifin Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement and Terms and Conditions for Certain Executive Officers
(2023 Plan).**

(10)(qq) Form of Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2024 Non-Employee Directors' Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement.**

(10)(rr) Form of Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2024 Non-Employee Directors' Restricted Stock Unit Terms and Conditions.**
(10)(ss) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Profitable Growth Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(c) to Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for

the quarterly period ended September 30, 2014 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(tt) Form of Notice of RONA Bonus Award Under the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Performance Bonus Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10(h) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2009 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(uu) Parker-Hannifin Corporation RONA Plan Subject to Performance Bonus Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(f) to Registrant’s Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2010 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(vv) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Summary of RONA Bonus Awards in Lieu of Certain Executive Perquisites, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10(h) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2008 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(ww) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Savings Restoration Plan, restated as of September 1, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(t) to Registrant’s
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(xx) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated Savings Restoration Plan, effective January 1, 2016, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10(b) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2016 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(yy) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated Pension Restoration Plan, effective July 1, 2016, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(mm)
to Registrant's Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(zz) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Executive Deferral Plan, restated as of September 1, 2004, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(v) to Registrant’s
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(aaa) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated Executive Deferral Plan, effective September 2, 2015, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10(pp) to Registrant's Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(bbb) Amendment Two to the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated Executive Deferral Plan (effective September 2, 2015), dated and
effective October 14, 2019, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on February 5, 2020
(Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(ccc) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Global Employee Stock Purchase Plan, incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Registrant's Definitive Proxy
Statement filed with the SEC on September 22, 2014 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(ddd) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Global Employee Stock Purchase Plan (As Amended and Restated August 7, 2023), incorporated by reference to
Exhibit B to Registrant's Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on September 22, 2023 (Commission File No. 1-
4982).**

(10)(eee) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Claw-back Policy, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Registrant’s Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on August 18, 2009 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(fff) Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors of Parker-Hannifin Corporation, effective January 22, 2015, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(i) to Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2015 (Commission File No. 1-
4982).**

(10)(ggg) Summary of the Compensation of the Non-Employee Members of the Board of Directors, effective October 24, 2018, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10(a) to Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**
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(10)(hhh) Amendment One to the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated Defined Contribution Supplemental Executive Retirement Program,
effective August 1, 2022, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September
30, 2022 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(iii) Amendment Three to the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated Executive Deferral Plan, effective August 1, 2022, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(b) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2022 (Commission File No. 1-
4982).**

(10)(jjj) Amendment One to the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated Savings Restoration Plan, effective August 1, 2022, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(c) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2022 (Commission File No. 1-
4982).**

(10)(kkk) Amendment One to the Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors of Parker-Hannifin Corporation, effective August 1,
2022, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(d) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2022
(Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(lll) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Annual Cash Incentive Plan, effective July 1, 2022, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(e) to Registrant’s Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2022 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(mmm) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan, effective January 1, 2023, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(f) to Registrant’s
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2022 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(nnn) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Deferred Compensation Plan Adoption Agreement, effective January 1, 2023, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10(g) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 2022 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(ooo) Form of Notice of Award under the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan Under the Performance Bonus Plan, as Amended and
Restated, effective as of January 25, 2023, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Registrant’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended March 31, 2023 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(ppp) Form of Notice of Award under the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan Under the Performance Bonus Plan, as Amended and
Restated, effective as of January 24, 2024, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(a) to Registrant's Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended March 31, 2024 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(10)(qqq) Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2023 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to Registrant's Definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A, filed with the SEC on September 22, 2023 (Commission File No. 1-4982).**

(19) Insider Trading Policy, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 19 to Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024
(Commission File No. 1-4982).*

(21) List of Subsidiaries of Registrant.*

(23) Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.*
(24) Power of Attorney.*
(31)(a) Certification of the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002.*
(31)(b) Certification of the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a), as Adopted Pursuant to §302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of

2002.*
(32) Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.*

(97) Parker-Hannifin Corporation Clawback Policy, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 97 to Registrant's Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2024 (Commission File No. 1-4982).*

101.INS The instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.*

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.*
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.*
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.*
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101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.*
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.*

104 Cover page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL with applicable taxonomy extension information contained in Exhibits 101).

*    Submitted electronically herewith.
**     Management contracts and compensatory plans or arrangements required to be filed as an exhibit hereto.

Attached as Exhibit 101 to this Annual Report are the following formatted in Inline XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statement of
Income for the years ended June 30, 2025, 2024 and 2023, (ii) Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the years ended June 30, 2025, 2024 and 2023,
(iii) Consolidated Balance Sheet at June 30, 2025 and 2024, (iv) Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended June 30, 2025, 2024 and 2023, (v) Consolidated
Statement of Equity for the years ended June 30, 2025, 2024 and 2023, and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Shareholders may request a copy of any of the exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K by writing to the Secretary, Parker-Hannifin Corporation, 6035 Parkland
Boulevard, Cleveland, Ohio 44124-4141.

Individual financial statements and related applicable schedules for the Registrant (separately) have been omitted because the Registrant is primarily an operating
company and its subsidiaries are considered to be wholly-owned.

ITEM 16. Form 10-K Summary. Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

PARKER-HANNIFIN CORPORATION
By:   /s/ Todd M. Leombruno

  Todd M. Leombruno
  Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 

August 22, 2025

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the date indicated.

Signature and Title

JENNIFER A. PARMENTIER, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer; ANGELA R. IVES, Principal Accounting Officer, Director; DENISE RUSSELL FLEMING, Director;
LANCE M. FRITZ, Director; LINDA A. HARTY, Director; KEVIN A. LOBO, Director; E. JEAN SAVAGE, Director; JOSEPH SCAMINACE, Director; LAURA K.
THOMPSON, Director; JAMES R. VERRIER, Director; and JAMES L. WAINSCOTT, Director.

Date: August 22, 2025
 

/s/ Todd M. Leombruno
Todd M. Leombruno, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer (Principal Financial Officer and Attorney-in-Fact for the
officers and directors signing in the capacities indicated)
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TO: [PARTICIPANT NAME]
PARKER-HANNIFIN CORPORATION

OFFICER LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PERFORMANCE PLAN (LTIP)

OFFICER AWARD AGREEMENT
(L34)

The Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) of Parker-Hannifin Corporation (the
“Company”) has awarded to you the contingent right to receive the following number of common shares of the Company (“Maximum Shares”)
under the Company’s Officer Long-Term Incentive Performance Plan (As Amended and Restated) (the “Plan”), which operates under the Parker-
Hannifin Corporation 2023 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (as defined in the Plan):

Grant Date: [Grant Date]
Performance Period: CY 2025-2026-2027
Maximum Shares: [Number]
Target Shares: [Number Granted]

The number of Maximum Shares and Target Shares granted is based on your grade level at the Grant Date and your expected service in your
position through the end of the Performance Period. The number of Maximum Shares and Target Shares granted is subject to adjustment in the
event of a change in your grade level or your employment status with the Company during the Performance Period as provided in the Plan. Your
award constitutes a performance-based Restricted Stock Unit Award for purposes of the Stock Incentive Plan.
Payout of Your Award. Your right to earn all or a portion of the Target Shares under your award will be based upon the Company’s performance
during the Performance Period in comparison to a defined peer group for certain key objective financial metrics described in the Plan, and the
Committee’s discretion to reduce the amount payable under your award (including for example, a possible reduction to the number of Target
Shares set out above), based on the Company’s performance in comparison to its peer group and otherwise as described in the Plan. Subject to
your continued employment through the end of the Performance Period, any amount payable under your award will be paid in the form of Shares
(as defined in the Plan), to be issued in April 2028 following the Committee’s certification of performance results of the Company, subject to the
Committee’s exercise of any discretion to reduce the amount payable, and the Committee’s authorization of payment.
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Subject to your continued employment through the end of the Performance Period, any Shares earned hereunder will be issued after the end of the
Performance Period following the Committee’s certification of performance results, authorization of any Share issuance, and considerations of
other appropriate factors as the Committee may determine.
Peer Group (as defined in the Plan):

• Caterpillar Inc. • Ingersoll Rand Inc.

• Cummins Inc. • ITT Inc.

• Deere & Company • Johnson Controls International plc

• Dover Corporation • Moog Inc.

• Eaton Corporation plc • RTX Corporation

• Emerson Electric Co. • Rockwell Automation Inc.

• Flowserve Corporation • Textron Inc.

• Fortive Corporation • Trane Technologies plc

• Honeywell International Inc. • 3M Co.

• Illinois Tool Works Inc.

Clawback Provisions. By accepting this award, you acknowledge and agree that the terms and conditions set forth in the Claw-back Policy of
Parker-Hannifin Corporation that applies to compensation granted or paid on or after July 1, 2009 (as may be amended and restated from time to
time, the “Clawback Policy”) and the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Section 16 Officer Clawback Policy (as may be amended and restated from
time to time, the “Dodd-Frank Policy”) are incorporated in this Award Agreement by reference. To the extent the Clawback Policy or the Dodd-
Frank Policy is applicable to you, it creates additional rights for the Company with respect to your award and other applicable compensation,
including, without limitation, annual cash incentive compensation awards granted to you by the Company. Notwithstanding any provisions in this
Award Agreement, the Plan or the Stock Incentive Plan to the contrary, any award granted under the Stock Incentive Plan and such other
applicable compensation, including, without limitation, annual cash incentive compensation, will be subject to potential mandatory cancellation,
forfeiture and/or repayment by you to the Company to the extent you are, or in the future become, subject to (a) any Company clawback or
recoupment policy, including the Clawback Policy, the Dodd-Frank Policy, and any other policies that are adopted by the Company, whether to
comply with the requirements of any applicable laws, rules, regulations, stock exchange listing standards or otherwise, or (b) any applicable laws
that impose mandatory clawback or recoupment requirements under the circumstances set forth in such laws, including as required by the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, or other applicable laws, rules, regulations or
stock exchange listing standards, as may be in effect from time to time, and which may operate to create additional rights for the Company with
respect to awards and the recovery of amounts relating thereto. By accepting this award and pursuant to this Award Agreement, you consent to be
bound by the terms of the Clawback Policy or the Dodd-Frank Policy, if applicable, and agree and acknowledge that you are obligated to
cooperate with, and provide any and all assistance
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necessary to, the Company in its efforts to recover or recoup this award, any gains or earnings related to this award, or any other applicable
compensation, including, without limitation, annual cash incentive compensation, that is subject to clawback or recoupment pursuant to such laws,
rules, regulations, stock exchange listing standards or Company policy. Such cooperation and assistance shall include, but is not limited to,
executing, completing and submitting any documentation necessary to facilitate the recovery or recoupment by the Company from you of any
such amounts, including from your accounts or from any other compensation, to the extent permissible under Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
Your Action Items. Please take the following actions:
Accept your Awards by clicking on the “Accept” button below. In relation to the award described herein (your “Award”), attached below for
your review and incorporated into this Award Agreement is the Plan. Inform the Company of any change in address or contact information, as
necessary. Refer to the section of the Plan titled “Notification of Change in Personal Data” for instructions on how to provide notification to the
Company.

Also available through your UBS One Source account are the following documents pertinent to your Award:

2023 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan
2023 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan Prospectus

Annual Report and Proxy Statement
Parker-Hannifin Corporation

Officer Long-Term Incentive Performance Plan (as Amended and Restated Effective January 22, 2025)

Summary and
Terms and Conditions

    1.    Effective Date and Purpose. Parker-Hannifin Corporation, an Ohio corporation (the “Company”), originally adopted this Plan effective as
of January 26, 2011, thereafter amended and restated the Plan from time to time, and most recently amended and restated the Plan effective as of
January 22, 2025. The purpose of this Plan is to attract and retain key executives for the Company and to provide such persons with incentives for
superior performance in the form of an opportunity to earn a long-term incentive award structured as a performance-based Restricted Stock Unit
Award under the Stock Incentive Plan and payable in Common Shares (“Shares”). This Plan and each Award Opportunity hereunder shall be
subject to the terms and conditions of this Plan and the applicable Award Agreement and the terms and conditions of the Stock Incentive Plan.
Capitalized terms not defined in this Plan shall have the meanings set forth in the Stock Incentive Plan.

2.     Eligibility. The Committee shall designate the Participants, if any, for each Performance Period. An Eligible Officer who is
designated as a Participant for a given
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Performance Period is not guaranteed of being selected as a Participant for any other Performance Period.

3.     Establishment of Award Opportunities. Not later than the 90  day of each Performance Period, the Committee shall establish the
Maximum Shares and Target Shares for each Participant’s Award Opportunity for the Performance Period. The Committee shall provide an Award
Agreement to each Participant as soon as practical following the establishment of the Maximum Shares and Target Shares under the Participant’s
Award Opportunity for the Performance Period.

4.    Dividend Equivalent Units; Voting and Other Rights.

A. Shareholder Rights Generally. A Participant shall have no rights of ownership in the Shares underlying an Award Opportunity
and no right to vote the Shares underlying an Award Opportunity until the date on which the Shares underlying such Award Opportunity are issued
or transferred to the Participant pursuant to Section 6 or Section 8 hereof.

B. Dividend Equivalent Units. With respect to each Award Opportunity, from and after the applicable Grant Date and until the
earlier of (i) the time when the Award Opportunity is paid in accordance with Section 6 or Section 8 hereof or (ii) the time when the applicable
Participant’s right to payment of the Award Opportunity is forfeited in accordance with Section 7 hereof or otherwise, on the date that the
Company pays a cash dividend (if any) to holders of Shares generally, such Participant shall be credited with a number of additional Target Shares
(the “Dividend Equivalent Units”) determined by dividing the aggregate amount of the cash dividend that would be payable on such date to a
holder of a number of Shares equal to the number of such Participant’s unpaid Target Shares with respect to such Award Opportunity by the
closing price per Share on the New York Stock Exchange on the last trading day preceding the dividend payment date. Any such Dividend
Equivalent Units will be considered Target Shares for purposes of the applicable Award Opportunity and this Plan, and will be subject to all of the
terms, conditions and restrictions set forth herein.

5.    Determination of Amount Payable Under Award Opportunities.

    A. Committee Certification of Management Objectives. Subject to potential reduction as set forth in Section 5.B and further subject to the
other terms and conditions of this Plan, the full number of Maximum Shares granted to a Participant with respect to a Performance Period shall be
earned as of the last day of such Performance Period, provided that (i) following the end of the Performance Period, the Committee has certified
that the Company has achieved either (a) average Return on Average Equity of 4% during the Performance Period, or (b) average Free Cash Flow
Margin of 4% during the Performance Period; and (ii) the Participant has been continuously employed by the Company and its Affiliates through
the last day of the Performance Period.

    B.    Committee Discretion to Reduce Long-Term Incentive Awards. Notwithstanding Section 5.A, the actual number of Shares
payable to a Participant with respect

th
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to a Performance Period may be reduced (including a reduction to zero) by the Committee in its sole and absolute discretion based on such factors
as the Committee determines to be appropriate including, without limitation, the Company’s performance with respect to the performance
measures (the “Peer Performance Measures”) set out below, with the number of a Participant’s Target Shares under an Award Opportunity
allocated to each of the Peer Performance Measures in proportion to the percentages set out below. Achievement with respect to the Peer
Performance Measures shall be determined for the Company at the conclusion of the Performance Period, in comparison to the performance of the
members of the Company’s Peer Group, determined for each member of the Peer Group based on its performance at the conclusion of the three
fiscal year period of such company ending with or immediately prior to the conclusion of the Performance Period.

Peer Performance Measure: Weight:
Revenue Growth 40%
Earnings Per Share Growth 40%
Average Return on Invested Capital 20%

It is the intention of the Committee that the Committee will exercise its discretion as it deems appropriate to reduce the number of Shares that may
be delivered to a Participant with respect to each Performance Period based on the Company’s percentile ranking among the members of the Peer
Group with respect to each Peer Performance Measure in accordance with the following table; provided, however, that the Committee reserves the
right to deviate from such approach and may exercise its discretion to reduce the number of Shares that may be delivered to a Participant with
respect to each Performance Period, if any, based on such other factors as the Committee in its sole and absolute discretion determines to be
appropriate:

Company Percentile Ranking Among Peer Group: % of Allocable Target Shares Earned:
75th percentile or higher 200%
50th percentile 100% (Target Shares)
25th percentile 50%
lower than 25th percentile 0%

To the extent that the Company’s percentile ranking among the members of the Peer Group with respect to a Peer Performance Measure is
between the 25  and the 50  percentile, or between the 50  and the 75  percentile, it is currently intended that the Committee will exercise its
discretion to determine the appropriate percentage of the allocable Target Shares that are earned by straight-line interpolation between the
percentages set out in the table above.

6.    Payment of Awards. Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, during the fourth month following the end of the applicable
Performance Period, the Company shall deliver to each Participant the Shares, if any, that the Committee has determined (in accordance with
Section 5) to be payable with respect to any Award Opportunity.

th th th th
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    7.    Terminations. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 7 or Section 8, a Participant must remain continuously employed by the
Company and its Affiliates through the last day of a Performance Period in order to be entitled to receive payment with respect to any Award
Opportunity pursuant to this Plan for such Performance Period.

        A.    Qualifying Retirement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a Participant’s termination of employment during a Performance
Period due to a Qualifying Retirement with respect to such Performance Period, the Participant will be entitled to receive the Shares, if any, that
the Committee determines (in accordance with Section 5) to be payable with respect to the Award Opportunity for such Performance Period, as if
the Participant had remained continuously employed through the end of the Performance Period. Any such Shares will be payable at the time
provided in Section 6, following the certification of the achievement of the management objectives by the Committee in accordance with Section
5.A.

        B.    Death, Disability, Termination Without Cause, Other Retirement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a Participant’s
termination of employment during a Performance Period due to death, Disability, termination of employment by the Company without Cause, or
Other Retirement, the Participant will be entitled to receive prorated Shares with respect to the Award Opportunity for that Performance Period
equal to the product of the number of Shares, if any, determined to be payable with respect to such Award Opportunity by the Committee (pursuant
to Section 5) multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of full months of continuous employment during the Performance
Period and the denominator of which is 36. Any such prorated amount will be payable at the time provided in Section 6, following the certification
of the achievement of the management objectives by the Committee in accordance with Section 5.A.

        C.    Other Terminations. Except as otherwise provided pursuant to Section 8, in the event of a Participant’s termination of employment
during a Performance Period for any reason other than Qualifying Retirement, Other Retirement, death, Disability, or termination of employment
by the Company without Cause, the Participant will forfeit his or her Award Opportunity for such Performance Period, without any further action
or notice.

8.    Change in Control. In the event of a Change in Control (as defined in the Stock Incentive Plan and including the date immediately
prior to an “Anticipatory Termination” as defined therein) of the Company during a Performance Period, each Participant then holding an
outstanding Award Opportunity granted under this Plan for such Performance Period shall receive payment of his or her Award Opportunity as
follows: (a) within fifteen (15) days following the date of the Change in Control, each such Participant shall receive a number of Shares equal to
the number of Target Shares subject to such Award Opportunity; and (b) within forty-five (45) days after the date of such Change in Control, each
such Participant shall receive a number of Shares equal to the excess, if any, of (i) the number of Shares that would be payable in accordance with
Section 5 if the Company had achieved the management objectives described in Section 5.A for the Performance Period, the Committee had
exercised its discretion to reduce the number of Shares payable in accordance with Section 5.B based on the Company’s percentile ranking among
the Peer Group with respect to the Peer Performance Measures as described
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therein, and the Company’s percentile ranking among the Peer Group for each of those Peer Performance Measures during the Performance Period
through the end of the fiscal quarter immediately preceding the date of the Change in Control continued throughout the Performance Period at the
same level; over (ii) the number of Target Shares subject to such Award Opportunity.

9.    Promotions and New Hires. With respect to a Participant who is newly hired or is promoted by the Company during a Performance
Period, the Committee shall grant an Award Opportunity, or adjust an Award Opportunity previously granted, to such Participant for such
Performance Period pursuant to the provisions of this Section 9.

    A.    Pro-Rated Award Opportunities for Newly-Eligible Executives. A Participant who is granted an Award Opportunity more than
90 days after the beginning of the Performance Period, either because the Participant is a newly hired Eligible Officer or is promoted into an
Eligible Officer position, will be granted an Award Opportunity under this Plan for such Performance Period based on the number of Maximum
Shares and Target Shares established by the Committee during the first 90 days of the Performance Period for the Participant’s grade level, with
the number of Maximum Shares and Target Shares pro-rated based on the ratio of the number of full months remaining in the Performance Period
on and after the date of hire or promotion (as applicable) to the total number of months in the Performance Period. For any salary grade created
between the salary grades for which the Committee has established the number of Maximum Shares and Target Shares as described above,
straight-line interpolation shall be used to determine the pro-rated number of Maximum Shares and Target Shares in accordance with this Section
9.A.

    B.    Adjustments to Outstanding Award Opportunities. If a Participant is promoted after the beginning of a Performance Period, the
Participant’s outstanding Award Opportunity granted for such Performance Period will be adjusted, effective as of the date of such promotion,
based on the number of Maximum Shares and Target Shares established by the Committee during the first 90 days of the Performance Period for
the Participant’s grade level. The adjustments to each such Participant’s Award Opportunity shall be pro-rated on a monthly basis, with the number
of Maximum Shares and Target Shares for the Participant’s original position applicable for the number of full months preceding the effective date
of the promotion and the number of Maximum Shares and Target Shares for the Participant’s new position applicable for the remaining number of
months in the Performance Period. For any salary grade created between the salary grades for which the Committee has established the number of
Maximum Shares and Target Shares as described above, straight-line interpolation shall be used to determine the pro-rated number of Maximum
Shares and Target Shares in accordance with this Section 9.B.

    C.    Negative Discretion. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 9, the Committee retains the discretion to reduce the
amount of any Award Opportunity, including a reduction of such amount to zero. By way of illustration, and not in limitation of the foregoing, the
Committee may, in its discretion, determine (i) not to grant a pro-rated Award Opportunity pursuant to Section 9.A above, (ii) not to adjust an
outstanding Award Opportunity
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pursuant to Section 9.B above, (iii) to grant a pro-rated Award Opportunity in a smaller amount than would otherwise be provided by Section 9.A
above, or (iv) to adjust an outstanding Award Opportunity to produce a smaller Award Opportunity than would otherwise be provided by Section
9.B above.

10.    Plan Administration. The Committee shall be responsible for administration of this Plan. The Committee is authorized to interpret
this Plan, to prescribe, amend and rescind regulations relating to this Plan, and to make all other determinations necessary or advisable for the
administration of this Plan, but only to the extent not contrary to the express provisions of this Plan and the Stock Incentive Plan. Determinations,
interpretations or other actions made or taken by the Committee pursuant to the provisions of this Plan shall be final, binding and conclusive for
all purposes and upon all Participants, Eligible Officers, Beneficiaries and all other persons who have or claim an interest herein. Subject to the
terms of the Stock Incentive Plan and applicable law and stock exchange requirements, the Committee may, in its discretion, delegate to one or
more directors or employees of the Company any of the Committee’s authority under this Plan. The acts of any such delegates shall be treated
under this Plan as acts of the Committee with respect to any matters so delegated, and any reference to the Committee in this Plan shall be deemed
a reference to any such delegates with respect to any matters so delegated.
    11.     Tax Withholding. Each Participant is responsible for any federal, state, local, foreign or other taxes with respect to any amount payable
under this Plan. To the extent the Company is required to withhold any federal, state, local, foreign or other taxes in connection with the delivery
of Shares or any other payment or vesting event under this Plan, then the Company may, in its sole discretion, (a) retain a number of Shares
otherwise deliverable hereunder with a value equal to the required withholding (based on the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Stock Incentive
Plan) of the Shares on the applicable date), (b) facilitate a sale of Shares payable pursuant to the Award Opportunity to cover such tax withholding
obligation, or (c) apply any other withholding method determined by the Company; provided that in no event shall the value of the Shares retained
or sold exceed the minimum amount of taxes required to be withheld or such other amount that will not result in a negative accounting impact.

    12.     Unfunded Plan. Each Award Opportunity granted under this Plan represents only a contingent right to receive all or a portion of the
number of Maximum Shares subject to the terms and conditions of the Award Agreement, this Plan, and the Stock Incentive Plan. Nothing in this
Plan shall be construed to create a trust or to establish or evidence any Participant’s claim of any right to payment of an Award Opportunity earned
under this Plan other than as an unsecured general creditor with respect to any payment to which he or she may be entitled under this Plan.

    13.     Rights of Employer; No Right to Future Awards. Neither anything contained in this Plan nor any action taken under this Plan or the
Award Agreement shall be construed as a contract of employment or as giving any Participant or Eligible Officer any right to continued
employment with the Company or any Affiliate. Each Award Opportunity granted under this Plan to a Participant is a voluntary, discretionary
award being made on a one-time basis and it does not constitute a commitment to make any future awards. The grant of an Award
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Opportunity and any payments made hereunder will not be considered salary or other compensation for purposes of any severance pay or similar
allowance, except as otherwise required by law.

    14.    Nontransferability. Except as otherwise provided in this Plan or the Award Agreement, the benefits provided under this Plan may not be
alienated, assigned, transferred, pledged or hypothecated by or to any person or entity, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and
these benefits shall be exempt from the claims of creditors of any Participant or other claimants and from all orders, decrees, levies, garnishment
or executions against any Participant to the fullest extent allowed by law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent permitted by the Company,
a Participant may designate a Beneficiary or Beneficiaries (both primary and contingent) to receive, in the event of the Participant’s death, any
Shares remaining to be delivered with respect to the Participant under this Plan. The Participant shall have the right to revoke any such designation
and to re-designate a Beneficiary or Beneficiaries in such manner as may be prescribed by the Company.

    15.     Successors. The rights and obligations of the Company under this Plan shall inure to the benefit of, and shall be binding upon, the
successors and assigns of the Company.

    16.     Governing Law. This Plan and all Award Opportunities shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws of the State of
Ohio, but without regard to its conflict of law provisions.

    17.     Amendment or Termination. The Committee reserves the right, at any time, without either the consent of, or any prior notification to,
any Participant, Eligible Officer or other person, to amend, suspend or terminate this Plan or any Award Opportunity granted thereunder, in whole
or in part, in any manner, and for any reason; provided that any such amendment shall not, after the end of the 90-day period described in Section
3 of this Plan, cause the amount payable under an Award Opportunity to be increased as compared to the amount that would have been paid in
accordance with the terms established as of the end of such period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment, suspension or termination of
this Plan following a Change in Control (as defined in the Stock Incentive Plan) may adversely affect in a material way any Award Opportunity
that was outstanding on the date of the Change in Control, without the consent of the affected Participant.

    18.    Claw-back Policy; Investigations.

A. Claw-back Policy. Each Award Opportunity granted, and each Share paid, pursuant to this Plan shall be subject to the terms and
conditions of the Claw-back Policy of Parker-Hannifin Corporation that applies to compensation granted or paid on or after July 1, 2009 (as may
be amended and restated from time to time) and the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Section 16 Officer Clawback Policy (as may be amended and
restated from time to time), to the extent provided under the terms of each such policy.
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B. Investigations. Notwithstanding anything in this Plan or the Stock Incentive Plan to the contrary, nothing in this Plan or the Stock
Incentive Plan (or in any other agreement, contract or arrangement with the Company or its Subsidiaries or affiliates, or in any policy, procedure
or practice of the Company or its Subsidiaries or affiliates) (i) prevents a Participant from providing, without prior notice to the Company,
information to governmental authorities regarding possible legal violations or otherwise testifying or participating in any investigation or
proceeding by any governmental authorities regarding possible legal violations, and, for purpose of clarity, Participants are not prohibited from
providing information voluntarily to the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 21F of the Exchange Act or (ii) limits a
Participant’s right to any monetary award offered by a government-administered whistleblower award program for providing information directly
to a government agency (including the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 21F of the Exchange Act).

19.    Section 409A of the Code. It is the Company’s intent that each Award Opportunity payable under this Plan shall be compliant with
or exempt from the requirements of Section 409A of the Code under the “short-term deferral” exception set out in Section 1.409A-1(b)(4) of the
Treasury Regulations. This Plan and each Award Agreement hereunder shall be interpreted and administered in a manner consistent with such
intent, and any provision that would cause an Award Agreement or this Plan to fail to satisfy Section 409A of the Code shall have no force or
effect until amended to comply with or being exempt from Section 409A of the Code (which amendment may be retroactive to the extent
permitted by Section 409A of the Code and may be made by the Company without the consent of any Participant).

20.    Plan Terms Control. In the event of a conflict between the terms and conditions of any Award Agreement and the terms and
conditions of this Plan, the terms and conditions of this Plan shall prevail. In the event of a conflict between the terms and conditions of any Award
Agreement or this Plan and the terms and conditions of the Stock Incentive Plan, the terms and conditions of the Stock Incentive Plan shall
prevail.

    21.    Severability. If any provision of this Plan is held invalid, void or unenforceable, the same shall not affect, in any respect whatsoever, the
validity of any other provisions of this Plan.

    22.    Waiver. The waiver by the Company of any breach of any provision of this Plan by a Participant shall not operate or be construed as a
waiver of any subsequent breach.

    23.    Captions. The captions of the sections of this Plan are for convenience only and shall not control or affect the meaning or construction of
any of its provisions.

    24.    Consent to Transfer Personal Data. By acknowledging an Award Opportunity, each Participant will voluntarily acknowledge and
consent to the collection, use, processing and transfer of personal data as described in this Section 24. Participants are not obliged to consent to
such collection, use, processing and transfer of personal data. However, failure to provide the consent may affect the Participant’s ability to
participate in this Plan. The Company and its Affiliates hold certain personal information about each Participant, that may include name, home
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address and telephone number, fax number, email address, family size, marital status, sex, beneficiary information, emergency contacts, passport /
visa information, age, language skills, drivers license information, date of birth, birth certificate, social security number or other employee
identification number, nationality, C.V. (or resume), wage history, employment references, job title, employment or severance contract, current
wage and benefit information, personal bank account number, tax related information, plan or benefit enrollment forms and elections, option or
benefit statements, any shares of stock or directorships in the Company, details of all options or any other entitlements to Shares awarded,
canceled, purchased, vested, unvested or outstanding in the Participant’s favor, for the purpose of managing and administering this Plan (“Data”).
The Company and its Affiliates will transfer Data amongst themselves as necessary for the purpose of implementation, administration and
management of each Participant’s participation in this Plan, and may further transfer Data to any third parties assisting the Company and its
Affiliates in the implementation, administration and management of this Plan. These recipients may be located throughout the world, including the
United States. By acknowledging an Award Opportunity, each Participant will authorize such third parties to receive, possess, use, retain and
transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the purposes of implementing, administering and managing the Participant’s participation in this
Plan, including any requisite transfer of such Data as may be required for the administration of this Plan and/or the subsequent holding of Shares
on the Participant’s behalf to a broker or other third party with whom the Participant may elect to deposit any Shares acquired pursuant to this
Plan. A Participant may, at any time, review Data, require any necessary amendments to it or withdraw the consents herein in writing by
contacting the Company; however, withdrawing such consent may affect the Participant’s ability to participate in this Plan.

    25.    Notification of Change in Personal Data. If a Participant’s address or contact information changes prior to the delivery of any Shares
pursuant to an Award Opportunity, the Company must be notified in order to administer this Plan and such Award Opportunity. Notification of
such changes should be provided to the Company as follows:

        A.     U.S. and Canada Participants (employees who are on the U.S. or Canadian payroll system):

Active employees: A Participant must update the Participant’s address and contact information directly through the
Participant’s Personal Profile section in the Employee Self-Service site.

Retired, terminated or family member of deceased Participant: A Participant must contact the Benefits Service Center at 1-
800-992-5564.

        B.    Rest of World Participants (employees who are not on the U.S. or Canadian payroll system): A Participant’ must contact the
Participant’s country Human Resources Manager.

    26.    Electronic Delivery. By acknowledging an Award Opportunity, each Participant consents and agrees to electronic delivery of any
documents that the Company may elect to deliver (including, but not limited to, prospectuses, prospectus supplements, grant or award
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notifications and agreements, account statements, annual and quarterly reports, and all other forms of communications) in connection with any
Award Opportunity granted under this Plan. By acknowledging an Award Opportunity, each Participant consents to any and all procedures the
Company has established or may establish for an electronic signature system for delivery and acceptance of any such documents that the Company
may elect to deliver, and each Participant agrees that his or her electronic signature is the same as, and shall have the same force and effect as, his
or her manual signature. By acknowledging an Award Opportunity, each Participant consents and agrees that any such procedures and delivery
may be effected by a third party engaged by the Company to provide administrative services related to this Plan.

    27.    Prospectus Notification. Copies of the Stock Incentive Plan, the plan summary and prospectus which describes the Stock Incentive Plan
(the “Prospectus”) and the most recent Annual Report and Proxy Statement issued by the Company (collectively, the “Prospectus Information”)
are available for review by Participants on the UBS One Source Web site. Each Participant shall have the right to receive a printed copy of the
Prospectus Information, free of charge, upon request by either calling the third party Plan Administrator at 877-742-7471 or by sending a written
request to the Company’s Total Rewards Department.

    28.    Definitions. The following capitalized words as used in this Plan shall have the following meanings:

        “Affiliate” means any corporation or other entity (including, but not limited to, partnerships, limited liability companies and joint ventures)
controlled by the Company.

“Award Agreement” means a written or electronic communication to a Participant with respect to a Performance Period, which
provides notice of the Participant’s Maximum Shares and Target Shares for such Performance Period, subject to the terms and conditions of this
Plan and the Stock Incentive Plan.

“Award Opportunity” means an opportunity granted by the Committee to a Participant to earn a long-term incentive award under
this Plan with respect to a Performance Period (which opportunity constitutes a performance-based Restricted Stock Unit Award under the Stock
Incentive Plan), with such opportunity subject to the terms and conditions of the Award Agreement, this Plan, and the Stock Incentive Plan.

“Beneficiary” means a person designated by a Participant in accordance with Section 14 of this Plan to receive, in the event of the
Participant’s death, any Shares remaining to be delivered with respect to the Participant under this Plan.

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

“Cause” means any conduct or activity, whether or not related to the business of the Company, that is determined in individual
cases by the Committee to be detrimental to the interests of the Company, including without limitation (a) the rendering of services to an
organization, or engaging in a business, that is, in the judgment of the Committee, in competition
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with the Company; (b) the disclosure to anyone outside of the Company, or the use for any purpose other than the Company’s business, of
confidential information or material related to the Company, whether acquired by the Participant during or after employment with the Company;
(c) fraud, embezzlement, theft-in-office or other illegal activity; or (d) a violation of the Company’s Code of Conduct or other policies.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Committee” means the Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board, or such other committee appointed by the
Board to administer this Plan.

“Company” has the meaning given such term in Section 1 of this Plan.

“Disability” has the meaning set forth in the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Executive Long-Term Disability Plan or such other long-term disability
program of the Company or an Affiliate in which the Participant participates.

“Eligible Officer” means any employee of the Company or an Affiliate, who is an executive officer of the Company, whether such
person is so employed at the time this Plan is adopted or becomes so employed subsequent to the adoption of this Plan, who is eligible for awards
under the Stock Incentive Plan.

“Free Cash Flow Margin” means the Company’s net cash flow provided by operating activities less capital expenditures for a
calendar year in the Performance Period, expressed as a percentage of the Company’s net sales for such calendar year. Free Cash Flow Margin
shall be determined in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles as in effect on the first day of the applicable Performance Period.
Discretionary pension contributions by the Company during the Performance Period are not included in the calculation of Free Cash Flow Margin.
For this purpose, a discretionary pension contribution means a contribution by the Company or one of its Subsidiaries to a qualified pension plan
for employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries where absent actions taken by the Company to affect its funding level in a particular year, no
minimum required contribution would have been required under applicable laws and regulations.

“Maximum Shares” means, with respect to an Award Opportunity granted to a Participant for a Performance Period, the notional
number of Shares equal to 200% of the Participant’s Target Shares for such Performance Period. Each Maximum Share shall represent the
contingent right to receive one Share and shall at all times be equal in value to one Share.

“Other Retirement” means a termination of employment by a Participant during a Performance Period that constitutes “retirement”
under the policy of the Company or an Affiliate applicable to the Participant at the time of such termination of employment, other than a
Qualifying Retirement. For purposes of clarity, whether a Participant’s termination of employment constitutes an Other Retirement will be
determined separately with respect to each
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Performance Period for which such Participant has an outstanding Award Opportunity at the time of termination of employment.

“Participant” means an Eligible Officer who has been granted an Award Opportunity with respect to a Performance Period.

“Peer Group” means the group of peer companies established as such by the Committee for each Award Opportunity and set forth
in the Award Agreement for such Award Opportunity.

“Performance Period” means a period of three consecutive calendar years.

“Plan” means the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Officer Long-Term Incentive Performance Plan, as amended from time to time.

“Qualifying Retirement” applies to participants in this Plan who receive their first Award Opportunity pursuant to this Plan on or
before January 24, 2018, and means termination of employment by a Participant during a Performance Period (i) after attainment of age 65, or (ii)
after attainment of age 60 with at least 10 years of service and after completion of at least 12 months of continuous employment during such
Performance Period. For purposes of clarity, whether a Participant’s termination of employment constitutes a Qualifying Retirement will be
determined separately with respect to each Performance Period for which such Participant has an outstanding Award Opportunity at the time of
termination of employment.

“Return on Average Equity” means the Company’s net income for a calendar year in the Performance Period, divided by the
average of shareholder’s equity as of the first and last day of such calendar year. Return on Average Equity shall be determined in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles as in effect on the first day of the applicable Performance Period.

        “Stock Incentive Plan” means the Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2023 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time, or any
successor plan.

“Target Shares” means the notional number of Shares specified as such in a Participant’s Award Agreement for a Performance
Period, which may be used by the Committee in the exercise of its discretion under Section 5.B of this Plan to reduce the amount otherwise
payable pursuant to the Participant’s Award Opportunity.
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To: [PARTICIPANT NAME]

PARKER-HANNIFIN CORPORATION
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT (RSU-038DICEOBOD)

The Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) of Parker-Hannifin Corporation (the
“Company”) has awarded to you the following number of Restricted Stock Units under the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated
2016 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and subject to the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Terms and Conditions
(RSU-038DICEOBOD) (the “Terms and Conditions”):

Grant Date [Grant Date]
Number of RSUs [Number Granted]

Vesting Dates. Except as otherwise provided in the Terms and Conditions, while you are an active employee, units will vest in full on the fourth
(4th) anniversary of the grant date. The scheduled vesting date and amounts for this award are viewable by clicking on the Grant Date hyperlink
on your Restricted Stock Unit Grant Information page on the Stock Incentive Plan Administrator’s web site.

Payment Dates. The Restricted Stock Units will be paid to you in shares of Parker common stock on the vesting date, except as otherwise
provided in the Terms and Conditions.

Your Action Items. Please take the following actions:

Before you accept your grant, review the Terms and Conditions (stated below), the Prospectus and the Plan Document located within your UBS
One Source account. This Award is subject to the terms of the Plan and administrative procedures the Committee may promulgate under it from
time to time. In the event of a conflict between this document, the Prospectus, and the Plan, the Plan document as well as any determinations made
by the Committee, as authorized by the Plan document, shall govern.
Accept the Terms and Conditions If you do not accept this Award Agreement prior to the initial vesting date, your Award will be forfeited,
except in the event of your permanent disability or death prior to the initial vesting date.
Inform the Company of any changes in address or contact information, as necessary. Refer to the section of the Terms and Conditions titled
“Notification of Change in Personal Data” for instructions on how to provide notification to the Company.
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PARKER-HANNIFIN CORPORATION
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT TERMS AND CONDITIONS (RSU-038DICEOBOD)

    Pursuant to the Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (the “Award Agreement”) available on the website of the third party Plan administrator
for Parker-Hannifin Corporation (the “Company”), the Human Resources and Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of
Directors of the Company has awarded you a number of Restricted Stock Units. The Restricted Stock Units have been awarded to you as of the
grant date specified in the Award Agreement (the “Grant Date”), and the Restricted Stock Units are subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions
set forth in the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Amended and Restated 2016 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time, or any
applicable successor plan (the “Plan”) and these Restricted Stock Unit Terms and Conditions (the “Terms and Conditions”). To the extent that, in
accordance with the terms of the Plan, the Committee has delegated to any persons any of the Committee’s authority with respect to these Terms
and Conditions, references to the Committee in these Terms and Conditions shall be deemed to be references to those persons with respect to
authority so delegated.

       1.       Crediting of Restricted Stock Units. Each Restricted Stock Unit shall represent the contingent right to receive one share of Common
Stock of the Company and shall at all times be equal in value to one share of Common Stock of the Company. The Restricted Stock Units shall be
credited in a book entry account established for you until payment in accordance with Section 4 hereof.

    2.    Vesting of Restricted Stock Units.

        (a)    Subject to these Terms and Conditions, all or a portion of the Restricted Stock Units will vest on the vesting date(s) described in the
Award Agreement (each a “Vesting Date”) and shall be payable at the Distribution Date(s) (as defined in Section 4 hereof), provided that you shall
have remained in the continuous employment of the Company and its Subsidiaries (collectively referred to herein as the “Parker Companies”)
through the applicable Vesting Date.

        (b)    Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Restricted Stock Units that have not yet vested under Section 2(a) shall immediately vest if, prior to
the applicable Vesting Date: (i) you cease to be employed with the Parker Companies as a result of your death or Disability; (ii) you terminate
employment with the Parker Companies as a result of your Retirement; or (iii) you terminate employment with the Parker Companies as a result of
a Qualifying Termination in connection with a Change in Control. For purposes of these Terms and Conditions, except as otherwise provided in an
Appendix pursuant to Section 20 hereof (Non-U.S. Employees), “Retirement” shall mean your termination of employment with the Parker
Companies after the attainment of age 65.

        (c)    For purposes of this Section 2, your continuous employment with the Parker Companies shall not be deemed to have been interrupted,
and you shall not be deemed to have ceased to be an employee of the Parker Companies, by reason of (1) the transfer of your employment among
the Parker Companies, or (2) the transfer of your employment to an entity
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that is 50% owned (directly or indirectly) by the Company provided that you remain actively and continuously employed by such entity.

        3.        Forfeiture of Restricted Stock Units. The Restricted Stock Units that have not yet vested pursuant to Section 2 (including without
limitation any right to Dividend Equivalents and Dividend Equivalent Units described in Section 7 hereof relating to dividends payable or
dividend equivalent units creditable on or after the date of forfeiture) shall be forfeited automatically without further action or notice if you cease
to be employed by the Parker Companies other than as provided in Section 2(b).

    4.    Payment.

        (a)    Except as may be otherwise provided in this Section, the Company shall deliver to you (or your estate or any beneficiary you have
designated in accordance with Section 12 hereof in the event of your death) the Common Stock underlying the vested Restricted Stock Units
within thirty (30) days following each Distribution Date. Except as may be otherwise provided in this Section, a “Distribution Date” shall mean
each Vesting Date that your Restricted Stock Units become vested. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that any of your Restricted Stock
Units become vested pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof, payment of such Restricted Stock Units, if any, shall be subject to the following rules:

                        (i)       To the extent any of your Restricted Stock Units become vested pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof because of your termination of
employment as a result of death, then the Distribution Date shall be the date of such termination of employment.

            (ii)    To the extent any of your Restricted Stock Units become vested pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof on account of your termination of
employment as a result of Disability, then the following rules shall apply:

            (A)    If your right to receive payment of vested Restricted Stock Units does not constitute a “deferral of compensation” within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code (for example, because you are not subject to U.S. income tax or you will not be “Retirement-
eligible” prior to a Vesting Date), then the Distribution Date shall be the date of such termination of employment.

            
            (B)    If your right to receive payment of vested Restricted Stock Units constitutes a “deferral of compensation” within the meaning
of Section 409A of the Code (for example, because you are subject to U.S. income tax and you will be “Retirement-eligible” prior to a
Vesting Date), then the Distribution Date shall be the date of such termination of employment, and, if you are a “specified employee”
(determined in accordance with Section 409A of the Code and the Company's policy for identifying specified employees) at the time of
such termination of employment, the Common Stock underlying the vested Restricted Stock Units shall be delivered to you (or your estate
or any beneficiary you have designated in accordance with Section 12 hereof in the event of your death) on the first business day of the
seventh month following the Distribution Date (or, if you die prior to such day, within thirty (30) days following your death).
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                        (iii)       To the extent any of your Restricted Stock Units become vested pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof on account of a Qualifying
Termination in connection with a Change in Control, then the following rules shall apply:

            (A)    If your right to receive payment of vested Restricted Stock Units does not constitute a “deferral of compensation” within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code (for example, because you are not subject to U.S. income tax or you will not be “Retirement-
eligible” prior to a Vesting Date), then the Distribution Date shall be the date of your Qualifying Termination.

            
            (B)    If your right to receive payment of vested Restricted Stock Units constitutes a “deferral of compensation” within the meaning
of Section 409A of the Code (for example, because you are subject to U.S. income tax and you will be “Retirement-eligible” prior to a
Vesting Date), then the Distribution Date shall be the date of such Qualifying Termination of employment, and, if you are a “specified
employee” (determined in accordance with Section 409A of the Code and the Company's policy for identifying specified employees) at the
time of such termination of employment, the Common Stock underlying the vested Restricted Stock Units shall be delivered to you (or
your estate or any beneficiary you have designated in accordance with Section 12 hereof in the event of your death) on the first business
day of the seventh month following the Distribution Date (or, if you die prior to such day, within thirty (30) days following your death).

            (iv)    To the extent any of your Restricted Stock Units become vested pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof on account of your Retirement, then
the Distribution Date shall be the earlier of (i) each Vesting Date that such Restricted Stock Units would otherwise would have become vested had
your employment with Parker Companies continued until such Vesting Date, or (ii) your death (with such modifications as may be provided in an
Appendix pursuant to Section 20 hereof (Non-U.S. Employees)).

        (b)    Notwithstanding any other provision of these Terms and Conditions, the Company shall not deliver any fractional shares of Common
Stock in payment of your Restricted Stock Units, and the number of whole shares of Common Stock that may be delivered to you in payment of
your Restricted Stock Units shall be determined in accordance with such rounding conventions used by the Company's third party Plan
administrator from time to time.

        (c)    The Company's obligations with respect to the Restricted Stock Units shall be satisfied in full upon the delivery of the Common Stock
underlying the vested Restricted Stock Units in accordance with this Section 4.

       5.       Transferability. The Restricted Stock Units may not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any manner, or be subject to
execution, attachment or similar process, by operation of law or otherwise, unless otherwise provided under the Plan. Any purported transfer or
encumbrance in violation of the provisions of this Section 5 shall be null
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and void, and the other party to any such purported transaction shall not obtain any rights to or interest in such Restricted Stock Units.

    6.    Dividend, Voting and Other Rights. You shall not possess any incidents of ownership (including, without limitation, dividend or voting
rights) in the Common Stock underlying the Restricted Stock Units until such Common Stock has been delivered to you in accordance with
Section 4 hereof. The obligations of the Company under these Terms and Conditions will be merely an unfunded and unsecured promise of the
Company to deliver Common Stock in the future, subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and these Terms and Conditions, and your rights
will be no greater than that of an unsecured general creditor. No assets of the Company will be held or set aside as security for the obligations of
the Company under these Terms and Conditions.

    7.    Dividend Equivalents.

        (a)    For employees on the U.S.-based payroll, from and after the Grant Date and until the earliest of (i) the time when the Restricted Stock
Units are paid in accordance with Section 4 hereof, (ii) the time when your right to payment of the Restricted Stock Units is forfeited in
accordance with Section 3 hereof and (iii) the time your employment is relocated to a jurisdiction that does not employ a United States-based
payroll, you shall be entitled to a cash payment equal to the product of (x) the dollar amount of the cash dividend paid per share of Common Stock
on such date and (y) the total number of unpaid Restricted Stock Units credited to you as of such date (each such cash payment a “Dividend
Equivalent”). Any Dividend Equivalent shall be paid to you within thirty (30) days after such date following the Grant Date that a cash dividend
(if any) is paid to the holders of shares of Common Stock. Dividend Equivalents will be subject to any required withholding for federal, state or
local taxes, social taxes or other taxes. Employees subject to subsection (iii) shall become entitled to Dividend Equivalent Units pursuant to the
terms of Section 7(b) hereof in lieu of Dividend Equivalents.

        (b)    For employees on a non-U.S.-based payroll, from and after the Grant Date and until the earlier of (i) the time when the Restricted Stock
Units are paid in accordance with Section 4 hereof, (ii) the time when your right to payment of the Restricted Stock Units is forfeited in
accordance with Section 3 hereof or (iii) the time your employment is relocated to a jurisdiction that employs a United States-based payroll, on the
date that the Company pays a cash dividend (if any) to holders of shares of Common Stock generally, you shall be credited with a number of
additional Restricted Stock Units (the “Dividend Equivalent Units”) determined by dividing the aggregate amount of the cash dividend that would
be payable on such date to a holder of a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of your unpaid Restricted Stock Units by the
closing price per share of the Company's Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the last trading day preceding the dividend payment
date. Any such Dividend Equivalent Units will be considered Restricted Stock Units for purposes of these Terms and Conditions and will be
subject to all of the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth herein, provided that for purposes of Section 2(a) of these Terms and Conditions
any such additional Restricted Stock Units shall vest on the Vesting Date. Employees subject to subsection (iii) shall become entitled to Dividend
Equivalents pursuant to the terms of Section 7(a) hereof in lieu of Dividend Equivalent Units.
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    8.    No Rights to Future Awards. By voluntarily acknowledging and accepting your award of Restricted Stock Units, you acknowledge and
understand that the Restricted Stock Units shall not form part of any contract of employment between you and the Company. Nothing in these
Terms and Conditions, your Award Agreement, the Plan or the plan summary and prospectus which describes the Plan (the “Prospectus”) shall
confer upon you any right to continue to receive stock incentive awards in the future. You further acknowledge that your award of Restricted Stock
Units is for future services and is not under any circumstances to be considered compensation for past services.

    9.    Detrimental Activity, Claw-back Policy.

        (a)    If the Committee finds in its discretion that you have engaged in any Detrimental Activity (as defined in the Plan), the Committee may
at any time and in its sole discretion cancel and revoke all or any unpaid portion of your Restricted Stock Units. In addition, if the Committee
finds that you have engaged in any Detrimental Activity, either during your employment with the Company or within twelve months thereafter,
then you shall be required to (a) return to the Company all shares of Common Stock that you have not disposed of that were issued pursuant to
these Terms and Conditions within twelve months prior to the commencement of such Detrimental Activity, and (b) pay to the Company in cash,
within ten days after demand therefor, the Fair Market Value (determined as of the date that the Restricted Stock Units were paid to you in
accordance with Section 4 hereof) of all shares of Common Stock that you have disposed of that were so issued pursuant to these Terms and
Conditions. The Plan defines Detrimental Activity as any conduct or activity, whether or not related to the business of the Parker Companies, that
is determined in individual cases, by the Committee or its express delegate, to be detrimental to the interests of the Parker Companies, including
without limitation (i) rendering of services to an organization or engaging in a business that is, in the judgment of the Committee or its express
delegate, in competition with the Company; (ii) disclosure to anyone outside of the Company, or the use for any purpose other than the Company’s
business, of confidential information or material related to the Company, whether acquired during or after employment with the Company; (iii)
fraud, embezzlement, theft-in-office or other illegal activity; or (iv) violation of the Company’s Code of Ethics.

                (b)       By accepting your award of Restricted Stock Units, you acknowledge that the Restricted Stock Units may be subject to reduction,
cancellation, forfeiture or recoupment, to such extent as may be provided under the Company's Claw-back Policy, as established by the Committee
or the Board, as it now exists or as it may be amended from time to time.

    10.    Relation to Other Benefits. Any economic or other benefit to you under these Terms and Conditions or the Plan shall not be taken into
account in determining any benefits to which you may be entitled under any profit-sharing, retirement or other benefit or compensation plan
maintained by the Parker Companies and shall not affect the amount of any life insurance coverage available to any beneficiary under any life
insurance plan covering employees of the Parker Companies. Without limiting the foregoing, by voluntarily acknowledging and accepting your
award of Restricted Stock Units, you agree that no benefits accruing under your Award Agreement, these Terms and Conditions or the Plan will be
reflected in any severance or indemnity payments that the Parker Companies may make or be required to make to you in the future, regardless of
the jurisdiction in which you may be located.
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    11.    Taxes and Withholding. The Parker Companies have the right to deduct or cause to be deducted, or collect or cause to be collected, with
respect to the taxation of the Restricted Stock Units, any federal, state or local taxes, social taxes or other taxes required to be withheld or paid
with respect to the Restricted Stock Units, and you will be required to pay any such amounts or such amounts will be deducted from any amount
payable to you. To the extent the Parker Companies are required to withhold any federal, state, local, foreign or other taxes in connection with the
delivery of shares of Common Stock under these Terms and Conditions, then the Company or Subsidiary (as applicable) may determine, at its
discretion, which tax payment method(s) will be available to you, and may instruct the third party Plan administrator to limit your available tax
payment method(s) to one or more of the following:

(a)    Withhold to Cover: The third party Plan administrator will retain a number of shares of Common Stock otherwise deliverable
hereunder with a value equal to the required withholding (based on the Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock on the date of delivery);
provided that in no event shall the value of the shares of Common Stock retained exceed the minimum amount of taxes required to be withheld or
such other amount that will not result in a negative accounting impact.

(b)      Sell to Cover: The third party Plan administrator will sell a sufficient whole number of shares in the open market to cover
Participants’ tax withholding obligation, transaction costs, and an estimated cushion to allow for rounding and market movement; provided that, if
there is an excess or shortfall in the net sale proceeds of the minimum amount of taxes required to be withheld, the excess shall be distributed to
Participant or the shortfall shall be paid by Participant to the Company or Subsidiary, as applicable, using the payment method required by the
Parker Companies.

    12.    Beneficiary Designation. To the extent permitted by the Committee, in its sole discretion, you shall have the right to designate one or
more beneficiaries to receive all or part of any shares of Common Stock underlying the Restricted Stock Units in the event of your death. Any
beneficiary designation permitted by the Committee shall be effective when it is submitted in writing to the Committee during the Participant's
lifetime on a form prescribed by the Committee. The submission of a new beneficiary designation shall cancel all prior beneficiary designations.
Any finalized divorce or marriage subsequent to the date of a beneficiary designation shall revoke such designation, unless in the case of divorce
your previous spouse was not designated as beneficiary and unless in the case of marriage your new spouse was previously designated as
beneficiary. If you are married, your spouse shall consent to any designation of a beneficiary other than the spouse, and the spouse's consent shall
be witnessed by a notary public. If you fail to designate a beneficiary as may be permitted by the Committee, or if such beneficiary designation is
revoked by marriage, divorce, or otherwise without execution of a new designation, or if every person designated as beneficiary predeceases you
or dies prior to the payment of your Restricted Stock Units, then the Company shall direct the payment of your Restricted Stock Units to the estate
of the last to die of you and any beneficiaries.

        13.       Adjustments. The number and kind of shares of Common Stock deliverable pursuant to the Restricted Stock Units are subject to
adjustment as provided in Section 4.3 of the Plan.
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    14.    Compliance with Law. The Company shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable federal and state securities laws and
listing requirements with respect to the Restricted Stock Units; provided, however, notwithstanding any other provision of these Terms and
Conditions, and only to the extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code, the Company shall not be obligated to deliver any shares of
Common Stock pursuant to these Terms and Conditions if the delivery thereof would result in a violation of any such law or listing requirement.
The Company intends that the Award Agreement and these Terms and Conditions be exempt from the requirements of Section 409A of the Code
and they will be interpreted, construed and administered accordingly.

    15.    Amendments. Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Committee may amend these Terms and Conditions upon written notice to you. Any
amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to these Terms and Conditions to the extent that the amendment is applicable hereto.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment of the Plan or these Terms and Conditions shall adversely affect your rights under these Terms and
Conditions without your consent unless the Committee determines that such amendment is necessary or advisable to conform the Plan or these
Terms and Conditions to any present or future law, regulation or rule applicable to the Plan.

    16.    Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisions of these Terms and Conditions shall be invalidated for any reason by a court
of competent jurisdiction, any provision so invalidated shall be deemed to be separable from the other provisions hereof, and the remaining
provisions hereof shall continue to be valid and fully enforceable.

    17.    Relation to Plan. These Terms and Conditions and all rights under your Award Agreement and these Terms and Conditions are at all times
subject to all other terms, conditions and provisions of the Plan (and any rules or procedures adopted under the Plan by the Committee). All
capitalized terms not defined in these Terms and Conditions shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Plan. In the event of a conflict
between the terms of the Plan and these Terms and Conditions, your Award Agreement or the Prospectus, the terms of the Plan shall control. These
Terms and Conditions, the Plan and the Award Agreement contain the entire agreement and understanding of the parties with respect to the subject
matter contained in these Terms and Conditions, and supersede all prior written or oral communications, representations and negotiations in
respect thereto.

    18.    Successors and Assigns. Without limiting Section 5, the provisions of these Terms and Conditions shall inure to the benefit of, and be
binding upon, your successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns, and the successors and assigns of the Company.

    19.    Governing Law. The interpretation, performance, and enforcement of these Terms and Conditions shall be governed by the laws of the
State of Ohio, without regard to its conflict of law rules. Any dispute, disagreement or question which arises under or as a result of, or in any way
relates to, the interpretation, construction or application of the terms of the Plan, the Award Agreement or these Terms and Conditions will be
determined and resolved by the
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Committee. Such determination and resolution by the Committee will be final, binding and conclusive for all purposes.

    20.    Non-U.S. Employees. Notwithstanding any provision of these Terms and Conditions, if your employment with the Parker Companies is
subject to the rules and regulations of one or more non-United States jurisdictions, then your Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to any special
terms and conditions as set forth in any appendix for your country (an “Appendix”). Moreover, if you relocate to one of the countries included in
an Appendix, the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to you, to the extent the Company determines that the application of
such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable in order to comply with local law or facilitate the administration of these Terms and
Conditions or the Plan. An Appendix shall constitute part of these Terms and Conditions.

    21.    Consent to Transfer Personal Data. By accepting your award of Restricted Stock Units, you voluntarily acknowledge and consent to the
collection, use, processing and transfer of personal data as described in this Section 21. You are not obliged to consent to such collection, use,
processing and transfer of personal data. However, failure to provide the consent may affect your ability to participate in the Plan. The Parker
Companies hold certain personal information about you, that may include your name, home address and telephone number, fax number, email
address, family size, marital status, sex, beneficiary information, emergency contacts, passport / visa information, age, language skills, drivers
license information, date of birth, birth certificate, social security number or other employee identification number, nationality, C.V. (or resume),
wage history, employment references, job title, employment or severance contract, current wage and benefit information, personal bank account
number, tax related information, plan or benefit enrollment forms and elections, option or benefit statements, any shares of stock or directorships
in the Company, details of all options or any other entitlements to shares of Common Stock awarded, canceled, purchased, vested, unvested or
outstanding in your favor, for the purpose of managing and administering the Plan (“Data”). The Parker Companies will transfer Data amongst
themselves as necessary for the purpose of implementation, administration and management of your participation in the Plan, and the Parker
Companies may further transfer Data to any third parties assisting the Parker Companies in the implementation, administration and management
of the Plan. These recipients may be located throughout the world, including the United States. You authorize them to receive, possess, use, retain
and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the purposes of implementing, administering and managing your participation in the Plan,
including any requisite transfer of such Data as may be required for the administration of the Plan and/or the subsequent holding of shares of stock
on your behalf to a broker or other third party with whom you may elect to deposit any shares of stock acquired pursuant to the Plan. You may, at
any time, review Data, require any necessary amendments to it or withdraw the consents herein in writing by contacting the Company; however,
withdrawing your consent may affect your ability to participate in the Plan.

    22.    Notification of Change in Personal Data. If your address or contact information changes while any portion of your Restricted Stock
Units remains unpaid, the Company must be notified in order to administer this award. Notification of such changes should be provided to the
Company as follows:
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        (a)     U.S. and Canada Participants (employees who are on the U.S. or Canadian payroll system):

Active employees: Update your address and contact information directly through your Personal Profile section in the
Employee Self-Service site.

Retired, terminated or family member of deceased participant: Contact the Benefits Service Center at 1-800-992-5564.

                (b)       Rest of World Participants (employees who are not on the U.S. or Canadian payroll system): Contact your country Human
Resources Manager.

        23.       Electronic Delivery. You hereby consent and agree to electronic delivery of any documents that the Company may elect to deliver
(including, but not limited to, prospectuses, prospectus supplements, grant or award notifications and agreements, account statements, annual and
quarterly reports, and all other forms of communications) in connection with this and any other award made or offered under the Plan. You also
understand that you shall have the right at any time to request that the Company deliver written copies of any and all materials referred to above at
no charge. You hereby consent to any and all procedures the Company has established or may establish for an electronic signature system for
delivery and acceptance of any such documents that the Company may elect to deliver, and you agree that your electronic signature is the same as,
and shall have the same force and effect as, your manual signature. You consent and agree that any such procedures and delivery may be effected
by a third party engaged by the Company to provide administrative services related to the Plan.

    24.    Prospectus Notification. Copies of the Prospectus and the most recent Annual Report and Proxy Statement issued by the Company are
available for your review on the UBS One Source Web site. You have the right to receive a printed copy of the Prospectus upon request by either
calling the third party Plan Administrator at 877-742-7471 or by sending your written request to Parker's Total Rewards Department.
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APPENDIX

Parker-Hannifin Corporation

Restricted Stock Unit Terms and Conditions (RSU-038DICEOBOD)

Special Provisions for Non-U.S. Employees

This Appendix includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Restricted Stock Units granted to you under the Plan if you reside in, or
are subject to tax in, one of the countries described below at any time prior to the Distribution Date of your Restricted Stock Units. Certain
capitalized terms used but not defined in this Appendix have the meanings set forth in the Plan and/or the Terms and Conditions.

AUSTRALIA

Retirement. The following provision modifies Sections 2 and 4 of the Terms and Conditions.

Notwithstanding any provision of the Terms and Conditions to the contrary, (1) you shall not be eligible for Retirement (or any vesting of your
Restricted Stock Units that would occur as a result of Retirement) unless you obtain the prior consent of the Committee; and (2) in the event of
your Retirement with the prior consent of the Committee, to the extent that your right to receive payment of vested Restricted Stock Units does not
constitute a “deferral of compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, the Distribution Date for your vested Restricted Stock
Units shall be the date of your Retirement.

OTHER COUNTRIES

If the Committee determines, in its sole discretion, that your Restricted Stock Units would otherwise become subject to tax in any country prior to
the delivery of the shares of Common Stock underlying your vested Restricted Stock Units, then, except as otherwise may be required by Section
409A of the Code, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, provide that, notwithstanding any provision of the Terms and Conditions to the
contrary, (1) you shall not be eligible for Retirement (or any vesting of your Restricted Stock Units that would occur as a result of Retirement)
unless you obtain the prior consent of the Committee; and (2) in the event of your Retirement with the prior consent of the Committee, the
Distribution Date for your vested Restricted Stock Units shall be the date of your Retirement.
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To: [PARTICIPANT NAME]

PARKER-HANNIFIN CORPORATION
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT (RSU-039DICEOBOD)

The Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) of Parker-Hannifin Corporation (the
“Company”) has awarded to you the following number of Restricted Stock Units under the Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2023 Omnibus Stock
Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and subject to the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Restricted Stock Unit Terms and Conditions (RSU-039DICEOBOD)
(the “Terms and Conditions”):

Grant Date [Grant Date]
Number of RSUs [Number Granted]

Vesting Dates. Except as otherwise provided in the Terms and Conditions, while you are an active employee, units will vest in full on the third
(3rd) anniversary of the grant date. The scheduled vesting date and amounts for this award are viewable by clicking on the Grant Date hyperlink
on your Restricted Stock Unit Grant Information page on the Stock Incentive Plan Administrator’s web site.

Payment Dates. The Restricted Stock Units will be paid to you in shares of Parker common stock on the vesting date, except as otherwise
provided in the Terms and Conditions.

Your Action Items. Please take the following actions:

Before you accept your grant, review the Terms and Conditions (stated below), the Prospectus and the Plan Document located within your UBS
One Source account. This Award is subject to the terms of the Plan and administrative procedures the Committee may promulgate under it from
time to time. In the event of a conflict between this document, the Prospectus, and the Plan, the Plan document as well as any determinations made
by the Committee, as authorized by the Plan document, shall govern.
Accept the Terms and Conditions If you do not accept this Award Agreement prior to the initial vesting date, your Award will be forfeited,
except in the event of your permanent disability or death prior to the initial vesting date.
Inform the Company of any changes in address or contact information, as necessary. Refer to the section of the Terms and Conditions titled
“Notification of Change in Personal Data” for instructions on how to provide notification to the Company.



Exhibit 10(pp)

PARKER-HANNIFIN CORPORATION
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT TERMS AND CONDITIONS (RSU-039DICEOBOD)

    Pursuant to the Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (the “Award Agreement”) available on the website of the third party Plan administrator
for Parker-Hannifin Corporation (the “Company”), the Human Resources and Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of
Directors of the Company has awarded you a number of Restricted Stock Units. The Restricted Stock Units have been awarded to you as of the
grant date specified in the Award Agreement (the “Grant Date”), and the Restricted Stock Units are subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions
set forth in the Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2023 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time, or any applicable successor plan
(the “Plan”) and these Restricted Stock Unit Terms and Conditions (the “Terms and Conditions”). To the extent that, in accordance with the terms
of the Plan, the Committee has delegated to any persons any of the Committee’s authority with respect to these Terms and Conditions, references
to the Committee in these Terms and Conditions shall be deemed to be references to those persons with respect to authority so delegated.

       1.       Crediting of Restricted Stock Units. Each Restricted Stock Unit shall represent the contingent right to receive one share of Common
Stock of the Company and shall at all times be equal in value to one share of Common Stock of the Company. The Restricted Stock Units shall be
credited in a book entry account established for you until payment in accordance with Section 4 hereof.

    2.    Vesting of Restricted Stock Units.

        (a)    Subject to these Terms and Conditions, all or a portion of the Restricted Stock Units will vest on the vesting date(s) described in the
Award Agreement (each a “Vesting Date”) and shall be payable at the Distribution Date(s) (as defined in Section 4 hereof), provided that you shall
have remained in the continuous employment of the Company and its Subsidiaries (collectively referred to herein as the “Parker Companies”)
through the applicable Vesting Date.

        (b)    Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Restricted Stock Units that have not yet vested under Section 2(a) shall immediately vest if, prior to
the applicable Vesting Date: (i) you cease to be employed with the Parker Companies as a result of your death or Disability; (ii) you terminate
employment with the Parker Companies as a result of your Retirement; or (iii) you terminate employment with the Parker Companies as a result of
a Qualifying Termination in connection with a Change in Control. For purposes of these Terms and Conditions, except as otherwise provided in an
Appendix pursuant to Section 20 hereof (Non-U.S. Employees), “Retirement” shall mean your termination of employment with the Parker
Companies after the attainment of age 65.

        (c)    For purposes of this Section 2, your continuous employment with the Parker Companies shall not be deemed to have been interrupted,
and you shall not be deemed to have ceased to be an employee of the Parker Companies, by reason of (1) the transfer of your employment among
the Parker Companies, or (2) the transfer of your employment to an entity
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that is 50% owned (directly or indirectly) by the Company provided that you remain actively and continuously employed by such entity.

        3.        Forfeiture of Restricted Stock Units. The Restricted Stock Units that have not yet vested pursuant to Section 2 (including without
limitation any right to Dividend Equivalents and Dividend Equivalent Units described in Section 7 hereof relating to dividends payable or
dividend equivalent units creditable on or after the date of forfeiture) shall be forfeited automatically without further action or notice if you cease
to be employed by the Parker Companies other than as provided in Section 2(b).

    4.    Payment.

        (a)    Except as may be otherwise provided in this Section, the Company shall deliver to you (or your estate or any beneficiary you have
designated in accordance with Section 12 hereof in the event of your death) the Common Stock underlying the vested Restricted Stock Units
within thirty (30) days following each Distribution Date. Except as may be otherwise provided in this Section, a “Distribution Date” shall mean
each Vesting Date that your Restricted Stock Units become vested. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent that any of your Restricted Stock
Units become vested pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof, payment of such Restricted Stock Units, if any, shall be subject to the following rules:

                        (i)       To the extent any of your Restricted Stock Units become vested pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof because of your termination of
employment as a result of death, then the Distribution Date shall be the date of such termination of employment.

            (ii)    To the extent any of your Restricted Stock Units become vested pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof on account of your termination of
employment as a result of Disability, then the following rules shall apply:

            (A)    If your right to receive payment of vested Restricted Stock Units does not constitute a “deferral of compensation” within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code (for example, because you are not subject to U.S. income tax or you will not be “Retirement-
eligible” prior to a Vesting Date), then the Distribution Date shall be the date of such termination of employment.

            
            (B)    If your right to receive payment of vested Restricted Stock Units constitutes a “deferral of compensation” within the meaning
of Section 409A of the Code (for example, because you are subject to U.S. income tax and you will be “Retirement-eligible” prior to a
Vesting Date), then the Distribution Date shall be the date of such termination of employment, and, if you are a “specified employee”
(determined in accordance with Section 409A of the Code and the Company's policy for identifying specified employees) at the time of
such termination of employment, the Common Stock underlying the vested Restricted Stock Units shall be delivered to you (or your estate
or any beneficiary you have designated in accordance with Section 12 hereof in the event of your death) on the first business day of the
seventh month following the Distribution Date (or, if you die prior to such day, within thirty (30) days following your death).
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                        (iii)       To the extent any of your Restricted Stock Units become vested pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof on account of a Qualifying
Termination in connection with a Change in Control, then the following rules shall apply:

            (A)    If your right to receive payment of vested Restricted Stock Units does not constitute a “deferral of compensation” within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code (for example, because you are not subject to U.S. income tax or you will not be “Retirement-
eligible” prior to a Vesting Date), then the Distribution Date shall be the date of your Qualifying Termination.

            
            (B)    If your right to receive payment of vested Restricted Stock Units constitutes a “deferral of compensation” within the meaning
of Section 409A of the Code (for example, because you are subject to U.S. income tax and you will be “Retirement-eligible” prior to a
Vesting Date), then the Distribution Date shall be the date of such Qualifying Termination of employment, and, if you are a “specified
employee” (determined in accordance with Section 409A of the Code and the Company's policy for identifying specified employees) at the
time of such termination of employment, the Common Stock underlying the vested Restricted Stock Units shall be delivered to you (or
your estate or any beneficiary you have designated in accordance with Section 12 hereof in the event of your death) on the first business
day of the seventh month following the Distribution Date (or, if you die prior to such day, within thirty (30) days following your death).

            (iv)    To the extent any of your Restricted Stock Units become vested pursuant to Section 2(b) hereof on account of your Retirement, then
the Distribution Date shall be the earlier of (i) each Vesting Date that such Restricted Stock Units would otherwise would have become vested had
your employment with Parker Companies continued until such Vesting Date, or (ii) your death (with such modifications as may be provided in an
Appendix pursuant to Section 20 hereof (Non-U.S. Employees)).

        (b)    Notwithstanding any other provision of these Terms and Conditions, the Company shall not deliver any fractional shares of Common
Stock in payment of your Restricted Stock Units, and the number of whole shares of Common Stock that may be delivered to you in payment of
your Restricted Stock Units shall be determined in accordance with such rounding conventions used by the Company's third party Plan
administrator from time to time.

        (c)    The Company's obligations with respect to the Restricted Stock Units shall be satisfied in full upon the delivery of the Common Stock
underlying the vested Restricted Stock Units in accordance with this Section 4.

       5.       Transferability. The Restricted Stock Units may not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any manner, or be subject to
execution, attachment or similar process, by operation of law or otherwise, unless otherwise provided under the Plan. Any purported transfer or
encumbrance in violation of the provisions of this Section 5 shall be null
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and void, and the other party to any such purported transaction shall not obtain any rights to or interest in such Restricted Stock Units.

    6.    Dividend, Voting and Other Rights. You shall not possess any incidents of ownership (including, without limitation, dividend or voting
rights) in the Common Stock underlying the Restricted Stock Units until such Common Stock has been delivered to you in accordance with
Section 4 hereof. The obligations of the Company under these Terms and Conditions will be merely an unfunded and unsecured promise of the
Company to deliver Common Stock in the future, subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and these Terms and Conditions, and your rights
will be no greater than that of an unsecured general creditor. No assets of the Company will be held or set aside as security for the obligations of
the Company under these Terms and Conditions.

    7.    Dividend Equivalents.

        (a)    For employees on the U.S.-based payroll, from and after the Grant Date and until the earliest of (i) the time when the Restricted Stock
Units are paid in accordance with Section 4 hereof, (ii) the time when your right to payment of the Restricted Stock Units is forfeited in
accordance with Section 3 hereof and (iii) the time your employment is relocated to a jurisdiction that does not employ a United States-based
payroll, you shall be entitled to a cash payment equal to the product of (x) the dollar amount of the cash dividend paid per share of Common Stock
on such date and (y) the total number of unpaid Restricted Stock Units credited to you as of such date (each such cash payment a “Dividend
Equivalent”). Any Dividend Equivalent shall be paid to you within thirty (30) days after such date following the Grant Date that a cash dividend
(if any) is paid to the holders of shares of Common Stock. Dividend Equivalents will be subject to any required withholding for federal, state or
local taxes, social taxes or other taxes. Employees subject to subsection (iii) shall become entitled to Dividend Equivalent Units pursuant to the
terms of Section 7(b) hereof in lieu of Dividend Equivalents.

        (b)    For employees on a non-U.S.-based payroll, from and after the Grant Date and until the earlier of (i) the time when the Restricted Stock
Units are paid in accordance with Section 4 hereof, (ii) the time when your right to payment of the Restricted Stock Units is forfeited in
accordance with Section 3 hereof or (iii) the time your employment is relocated to a jurisdiction that employs a United States-based payroll, on the
date that the Company pays a cash dividend (if any) to holders of shares of Common Stock generally, you shall be credited with a number of
additional Restricted Stock Units (the “Dividend Equivalent Units”) determined by dividing the aggregate amount of the cash dividend that would
be payable on such date to a holder of a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the number of your unpaid Restricted Stock Units by the
closing price per share of the Company's Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the last trading day preceding the dividend payment
date. Any such Dividend Equivalent Units will be considered Restricted Stock Units for purposes of these Terms and Conditions and will be
subject to all of the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth herein, provided that for purposes of Section 2(a) of these Terms and Conditions
any such additional Restricted Stock Units shall vest on the Vesting Date. Employees subject to subsection (iii) shall become entitled to Dividend
Equivalents pursuant to the terms of Section 7(a) hereof in lieu of Dividend Equivalent Units.
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    8.    No Rights to Future Awards. By voluntarily acknowledging and accepting your award of Restricted Stock Units, you acknowledge and
understand that the Restricted Stock Units shall not form part of any contract of employment between you and the Company. Nothing in these
Terms and Conditions, your Award Agreement, the Plan or the plan summary and prospectus which describes the Plan (the “Prospectus”) shall
confer upon you any right to continue to receive stock incentive awards in the future. You further acknowledge that your award of Restricted Stock
Units is for future services and is not under any circumstances to be considered compensation for past services.

    9.    Detrimental Activity, Claw-back Policy.

        (a)    If the Committee finds in its discretion that you have engaged in any Detrimental Activity (as defined in the Plan), the Committee may
at any time and in its sole discretion cancel and revoke all or any unpaid portion of your Restricted Stock Units. In addition, if the Committee
finds that you have engaged in any Detrimental Activity, either during your employment with the Company or within twelve months thereafter,
then you shall be required to (a) return to the Company all shares of Common Stock that you have not disposed of that were issued pursuant to
these Terms and Conditions within twelve months prior to the commencement of such Detrimental Activity, and (b) pay to the Company in cash,
within ten days after demand therefor, the Fair Market Value (determined as of the date that the Restricted Stock Units were paid to you in
accordance with Section 4 hereof) of all shares of Common Stock that you have disposed of that were so issued pursuant to these Terms and
Conditions. The Plan defines Detrimental Activity as any conduct or activity, whether or not related to the business of the Parker Companies, that
is determined in individual cases, by the Committee or its express delegate, to be detrimental to the interests of the Parker Companies, including
without limitation (i) rendering of services to an organization or engaging in a business that is, in the judgment of the Committee or its express
delegate, in competition with the Company; (ii) disclosure to anyone outside of the Company, or the use for any purpose other than the Company’s
business, of confidential information or material related to the Company, whether acquired during or after employment with the Company; (iii)
fraud, embezzlement, theft-in-office or other illegal activity; or (iv) violation of the Company’s Code of Ethics.

                (b)       By accepting your award of Restricted Stock Units, you acknowledge that the Restricted Stock Units may be subject to reduction,
cancellation, forfeiture or recoupment, to such extent as may be provided under the Company's Claw-back Policy, as established by the Committee
or the Board, as it now exists or as it may be amended from time to time.

    10.    Relation to Other Benefits. Any economic or other benefit to you under these Terms and Conditions or the Plan shall not be taken into
account in determining any benefits to which you may be entitled under any profit-sharing, retirement or other benefit or compensation plan
maintained by the Parker Companies and shall not affect the amount of any life insurance coverage available to any beneficiary under any life
insurance plan covering employees of the Parker Companies. Without limiting the foregoing, by voluntarily acknowledging and accepting your
award of Restricted Stock Units, you agree that no benefits accruing under your Award Agreement, these Terms and Conditions or the Plan will be
reflected in any severance or indemnity payments that the Parker Companies may make or be required to make to you in the future, regardless of
the jurisdiction in which you may be located.
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    11.    Taxes and Withholding. The Parker Companies have the right to deduct or cause to be deducted, or collect or cause to be collected, with
respect to the taxation of the Restricted Stock Units, any federal, state or local taxes, social taxes or other taxes required to be withheld or paid
with respect to the Restricted Stock Units, and you will be required to pay any such amounts or such amounts will be deducted from any amount
payable to you. To the extent the Parker Companies are required to withhold any federal, state, local, foreign or other taxes in connection with the
delivery of shares of Common Stock under these Terms and Conditions, then the Company or Subsidiary (as applicable) may determine, at its
discretion, which tax payment method(s) will be available to you, and may instruct the third party Plan administrator to limit your available tax
payment method(s) to one or more of the following:

(a)    Withhold to Cover: The third party Plan administrator will retain a number of shares of Common Stock otherwise deliverable
hereunder with a value equal to the required withholding (based on the Fair Market Value of the shares of Common Stock on the date of delivery);
provided that in no event shall the value of the shares of Common Stock retained exceed the minimum amount of taxes required to be withheld or
such other amount that will not result in a negative accounting impact.

(b)      Sell to Cover: The third party Plan administrator will sell a sufficient whole number of shares in the open market to cover
Participants’ tax withholding obligation, transaction costs, and an estimated cushion to allow for rounding and market movement; provided that, if
there is an excess or shortfall in the net sale proceeds of the minimum amount of taxes required to be withheld, the excess shall be distributed to
Participant or the shortfall shall be paid by Participant to the Company or Subsidiary, as applicable, using the payment method required by the
Parker Companies.

    12.    Beneficiary Designation. To the extent permitted by the Committee, in its sole discretion, you shall have the right to designate one or
more beneficiaries to receive all or part of any shares of Common Stock underlying the Restricted Stock Units in the event of your death. Any
beneficiary designation permitted by the Committee shall be effective when it is submitted in writing to the Committee during the Participant's
lifetime on a form prescribed by the Committee. The submission of a new beneficiary designation shall cancel all prior beneficiary designations.
Any finalized divorce or marriage subsequent to the date of a beneficiary designation shall revoke such designation, unless in the case of divorce
your previous spouse was not designated as beneficiary and unless in the case of marriage your new spouse was previously designated as
beneficiary. If you are married, your spouse shall consent to any designation of a beneficiary other than the spouse, and the spouse's consent shall
be witnessed by a notary public. If you fail to designate a beneficiary as may be permitted by the Committee, or if such beneficiary designation is
revoked by marriage, divorce, or otherwise without execution of a new designation, or if every person designated as beneficiary predeceases you
or dies prior to the payment of your Restricted Stock Units, then the Company shall direct the payment of your Restricted Stock Units to the estate
of the last to die of you and any beneficiaries.

        13.       Adjustments. The number and kind of shares of Common Stock deliverable pursuant to the Restricted Stock Units are subject to
adjustment as provided in Section 4.3 of the Plan.
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    14.    Compliance with Law. The Company shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable federal and state securities laws and
listing requirements with respect to the Restricted Stock Units; provided, however, notwithstanding any other provision of these Terms and
Conditions, and only to the extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code, the Company shall not be obligated to deliver any shares of
Common Stock pursuant to these Terms and Conditions if the delivery thereof would result in a violation of any such law or listing requirement.
The Company intends that the Award Agreement and these Terms and Conditions be exempt from the requirements of Section 409A of the Code
and they will be interpreted, construed and administered accordingly.

    15.    Amendments. Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Committee may amend these Terms and Conditions upon written notice to you. Any
amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to these Terms and Conditions to the extent that the amendment is applicable hereto.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment of the Plan or these Terms and Conditions shall adversely affect your rights under these Terms and
Conditions without your consent unless the Committee determines that such amendment is necessary or advisable to conform the Plan or these
Terms and Conditions to any present or future law, regulation or rule applicable to the Plan.

    16.    Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisions of these Terms and Conditions shall be invalidated for any reason by a court
of competent jurisdiction, any provision so invalidated shall be deemed to be separable from the other provisions hereof, and the remaining
provisions hereof shall continue to be valid and fully enforceable.

    17.    Relation to Plan. These Terms and Conditions and all rights under your Award Agreement and these Terms and Conditions are at all times
subject to all other terms, conditions and provisions of the Plan (and any rules or procedures adopted under the Plan by the Committee). All
capitalized terms not defined in these Terms and Conditions shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Plan. In the event of a conflict
between the terms of the Plan and these Terms and Conditions, your Award Agreement or the Prospectus, the terms of the Plan shall control. These
Terms and Conditions, the Plan and the Award Agreement contain the entire agreement and understanding of the parties with respect to the subject
matter contained in these Terms and Conditions, and supersede all prior written or oral communications, representations and negotiations in
respect thereto.

    18.    Successors and Assigns. Without limiting Section 5, the provisions of these Terms and Conditions shall inure to the benefit of, and be
binding upon, your successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns, and the successors and assigns of the Company.

    19.    Governing Law. The interpretation, performance, and enforcement of these Terms and Conditions shall be governed by the laws of the
State of Ohio, without regard to its conflict of law rules. Any dispute, disagreement or question which arises under or as a result of, or in any way
relates to, the interpretation, construction or application of the terms of the Plan, the Award Agreement or these Terms and Conditions will be
determined and resolved by the
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Committee. Such determination and resolution by the Committee will be final, binding and conclusive for all purposes.

    20.    Non-U.S. Employees. Notwithstanding any provision of these Terms and Conditions, if your employment with the Parker Companies is
subject to the rules and regulations of one or more non-United States jurisdictions, then your Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to any special
terms and conditions as set forth in any appendix for your country (an “Appendix”). Moreover, if you relocate to one of the countries included in
an Appendix, the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to you, to the extent the Company determines that the application of
such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable in order to comply with local law or facilitate the administration of these Terms and
Conditions or the Plan. An Appendix shall constitute part of these Terms and Conditions.

    21.    Consent to Transfer Personal Data. By accepting your award of Restricted Stock Units, you voluntarily acknowledge and consent to the
collection, use, processing and transfer of personal data as described in this Section 21. You are not obliged to consent to such collection, use,
processing and transfer of personal data. However, failure to provide the consent may affect your ability to participate in the Plan. The Parker
Companies hold certain personal information about you, that may include your name, home address and telephone number, fax number, email
address, family size, marital status, sex, beneficiary information, emergency contacts, passport / visa information, age, language skills, drivers
license information, date of birth, birth certificate, social security number or other employee identification number, nationality, C.V. (or resume),
wage history, employment references, job title, employment or severance contract, current wage and benefit information, personal bank account
number, tax related information, plan or benefit enrollment forms and elections, option or benefit statements, any shares of stock or directorships
in the Company, details of all options or any other entitlements to shares of Common Stock awarded, canceled, purchased, vested, unvested or
outstanding in your favor, for the purpose of managing and administering the Plan (“Data”). The Parker Companies will transfer Data amongst
themselves as necessary for the purpose of implementation, administration and management of your participation in the Plan, and the Parker
Companies may further transfer Data to any third parties assisting the Parker Companies in the implementation, administration and management
of the Plan. These recipients may be located throughout the world, including the United States. You authorize them to receive, possess, use, retain
and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the purposes of implementing, administering and managing your participation in the Plan,
including any requisite transfer of such Data as may be required for the administration of the Plan and/or the subsequent holding of shares of stock
on your behalf to a broker or other third party with whom you may elect to deposit any shares of stock acquired pursuant to the Plan. You may, at
any time, review Data, require any necessary amendments to it or withdraw the consents herein in writing by contacting the Company; however,
withdrawing your consent may affect your ability to participate in the Plan.

    22.    Notification of Change in Personal Data. If your address or contact information changes while any portion of your Restricted Stock
Units remains unpaid, the Company must be notified in order to administer this award. Notification of such changes should be provided to the
Company as follows:
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        (a)     U.S. and Canada Participants (employees who are on the U.S. or Canadian payroll system):

Active employees: Update your address and contact information directly through your Personal Profile section in the
Employee Self-Service site.

Retired, terminated or family member of deceased participant: Contact the Benefits Service Center at 1-800-992-5564.

                (b)       Rest of World Participants (employees who are not on the U.S. or Canadian payroll system): Contact your country Human
Resources Manager.

        23.       Electronic Delivery. You hereby consent and agree to electronic delivery of any documents that the Company may elect to deliver
(including, but not limited to, prospectuses, prospectus supplements, grant or award notifications and agreements, account statements, annual and
quarterly reports, and all other forms of communications) in connection with this and any other award made or offered under the Plan. You also
understand that you shall have the right at any time to request that the Company deliver written copies of any and all materials referred to above at
no charge. You hereby consent to any and all procedures the Company has established or may establish for an electronic signature system for
delivery and acceptance of any such documents that the Company may elect to deliver, and you agree that your electronic signature is the same as,
and shall have the same force and effect as, your manual signature. You consent and agree that any such procedures and delivery may be effected
by a third party engaged by the Company to provide administrative services related to the Plan.

    24.    Prospectus Notification. Copies of the Prospectus and the most recent Annual Report and Proxy Statement issued by the Company are
available for your review on the UBS One Source Web site. You have the right to receive a printed copy of the Prospectus upon request by either
calling the third party Plan Administrator at 877-742-7471 or by sending your written request to Parker's Total Rewards Department.
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APPENDIX

Parker-Hannifin Corporation

Restricted Stock Unit Terms and Conditions (RSU-039DICEOBOD)

Special Provisions for Non-U.S. Employees

This Appendix includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Restricted Stock Units granted to you under the Plan if you reside in, or
are subject to tax in, one of the countries described below at any time prior to the Distribution Date of your Restricted Stock Units. Certain
capitalized terms used but not defined in this Appendix have the meanings set forth in the Plan and/or the Terms and Conditions.

AUSTRALIA

Retirement. The following provision modifies Sections 2 and 4 of the Terms and Conditions.

Notwithstanding any provision of the Terms and Conditions to the contrary, (1) you shall not be eligible for Retirement (or any vesting of your
Restricted Stock Units that would occur as a result of Retirement) unless you obtain the prior consent of the Committee; and (2) in the event of
your Retirement with the prior consent of the Committee, to the extent that your right to receive payment of vested Restricted Stock Units does not
constitute a “deferral of compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, the Distribution Date for your vested Restricted Stock
Units shall be the date of your Retirement.

OTHER COUNTRIES

If the Committee determines, in its sole discretion, that your Restricted Stock Units would otherwise become subject to tax in any country prior to
the delivery of the shares of Common Stock underlying your vested Restricted Stock Units, then, except as otherwise may be required by Section
409A of the Code, the Committee may, in its sole discretion, provide that, notwithstanding any provision of the Terms and Conditions to the
contrary, (1) you shall not be eligible for Retirement (or any vesting of your Restricted Stock Units that would occur as a result of Retirement)
unless you obtain the prior consent of the Committee; and (2) in the event of your Retirement with the prior consent of the Committee, the
Distribution Date for your vested Restricted Stock Units shall be the date of your Retirement.
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TO: [PARTICIPANT NAME]
PARKER-HANNIFIN CORPORATION

NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS’
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT ([_____])

The Human Resources and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Committee”) of Parker-Hannifin Corporation (the
“Company”) has awarded you the following number of Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”) under the Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2023 Omnibus
Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and subject to the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Non-Employee Directors’ Restricted Stock Unit Terms and
Conditions (RSU-[____]) (the “Terms and Conditions”):
Grant Date: [Grant Date]
Number of RSUs: [Number Granted]

Vesting Date. Except as otherwise provided in the Terms and Conditions, the RSUs will vest on the later of (a) one year from the Grant Date; or
(b) the date of the next Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of the Company that occurs after the Grant Date (such later date, the “Vesting Date”).
Payment Dates. The Restricted Stock Units will be paid to you in Common Shares within 30 days following the Vesting Date identified above,
except as otherwise provided herein and in the Terms and Conditions.
Your Action Items. Accept your Award by clicking on the “Accept” button below. In relation to the Award described herein, attached below for
your review and incorporated into this Award Agreement are the Terms and Conditions.

Inform the Company of any change in address or contact information, as necessary.

Also available through your UBS One Source account are the following documents pertinent to your award:

2023 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan
2023 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan Prospectus

Annual Report and Proxy Statement
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PARKER-HANNIFIN CORPORATION
NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS’

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT TERMS AND CONDITIONS (RSU-[____])

Pursuant to the Parker-Hannifin Corporation Non-Employee Directors’ Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (the “Award Agreement”)
available on the website of the third-party Plan administrator for Parker-Hannifin Corporation (the “Company”), the Human Resources and
Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) has awarded you a number of Restricted
Stock Units. The Restricted Stock Units have been awarded to you as of the grant date specified in the Award Agreement (the “Grant Date”), and
the Restricted Stock Units are subject to the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth in the Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2023 Omnibus Stock
Incentive Plan, as amended from time to time (the “Plan”) and these Non-Employee Directors’ Restricted Stock Unit Terms and Conditions (RSU-
[____]) (the “Terms and Conditions”). To the extent that, in accordance with the terms of the Plan, the Committee has delegated to any persons
any of the Committee’s authority with respect to these Terms and Conditions, references to the Committee in these Terms and Conditions shall be
deemed to be references to those persons with respect to authority so delegated.

1. Crediting of Restricted Stock Units. Each Restricted Stock Unit shall represent the contingent right to receive one Common
Share and shall at all times be equal in value to one Common Share. The Restricted Stock Units shall be credited in a book entry account
established for you until payment in accordance with Section 4 hereof.

2. Vesting of Restricted Stock Units.

(a) Subject to these Terms and Conditions, all or a portion of the Restricted Stock Units will vest on the vesting date described
in the Award Agreement (the “Vesting Date”) and shall be payable at the Distribution Date (as defined in Section 4 hereof).

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event you cease to be a Director for any reason prior to the next Annual Shareholders’
Meeting of the Company that occurs after the Grant Date, including, without limitation, your retirement, death, disability, voluntary or involuntary
removal from the Board or a “change in control” of the Company (as defined in the Plan), a pro rata portion of your Restricted Stock Units will
vest on the Vesting Date, based upon the ratio of the number of months you actually served as a Director to the total number of months in the
period between the Grant Date and the next Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of the Company that occurs after the Grant Date, and all remaining
Restricted Stock Units will be forfeited.

3. Forfeiture of Restricted Stock Units. The Restricted Stock Units that have not yet vested pursuant to Section 2 (including,
without limitation, any right to Dividend Equivalent Units described in Section 7 hereof relating to dividend equivalent units creditable on or after
the date of forfeiture) shall be forfeited automatically without further action or notice.



4. Payment.

(a) Except as may be otherwise provided in this Section, the Company shall deliver to you (or your estate or any beneficiary
you have designated in accordance with Section 10 hereof in the event of your death) the Common Shares underlying the vested Restricted Stock
Units within thirty (30) days following the Distribution Date, but in no event later than December 31 of the calendar year following the calendar
year in which the Grant Date occurs. Except as may be otherwise provided in this Section, a “Distribution Date” shall mean the Vesting Date that
your Restricted Stock Units become vested.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of these Terms and Conditions, the Company shall not deliver any fractional Common
Shares in payment of your Restricted Stock Units, and the number of whole Common Shares that may be delivered to you in payment of your
Restricted Stock Units shall be determined in accordance with such rounding conventions used by the Company’s third-party Plan administrator
from time to time.

(c) The Company’s obligations with respect to the Restricted Stock Units shall be satisfied in full upon the delivery of the
Common Shares underlying the vested Restricted Stock Units in accordance with this Section 4.

5. Transferability. Neither the Restricted Stock Units nor any interest therein or in the Common Shares underlying the Restricted
Stock Units may be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any manner, or be subject to execution, attachment or similar process, by
operation of law or otherwise, except by will or the laws of descent and distribution or pursuant to a beneficiary designation made in accordance
with Section 10, unless otherwise provided under the Plan. Any purported transfer or encumbrance in violation of the provisions of this Section 5
shall be null and void, and the other party to any such purported transaction shall not obtain any rights to or interest in such Restricted Stock Units.

6. Dividend, Voting and Other Rights. You shall not possess any incidents of ownership (including, without limitation, dividend or
voting rights) in the Common Shares underlying the Restricted Stock Units until such Common Shares have been delivered to you in accordance
with Section 4 hereof. The obligations of the Company under these Terms and Conditions will be merely an unfunded and unsecured promise of
the Company to deliver Common Shares in the future, subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and these Terms and Conditions, and your
rights will be no greater than that of an unsecured general creditor. No assets of the Company will be held or set aside as security for the
obligations of the Company under these Terms and Conditions.

7. Dividend Equivalent Units. From and after the Grant Date and until the earlier of (i) the time when the Restricted Stock Units are
paid in accordance with Section 4 hereof, and (ii) the time when your right to payment of the Restricted Stock Units is forfeited in accordance
with Section 3 hereof or otherwise, on the date that the Company pays a cash dividend (if any) to holders of Common Shares generally, you shall
be credited with a number of additional Restricted Stock Units (the “Dividend Equivalent Units”) determined by dividing the aggregate amount of
the cash dividend that would be payable on such date to a holder of a number of Common Shares equal to the number of your unpaid Restricted
Stock Units by the closing price per Common Share on the New York Stock Exchange on the last trading day preceding the dividend payment
date. Any such Dividend Equivalent Units will be considered Restricted Stock Units for purposes of these Terms and Conditions and will be
subject to all of the terms, conditions and restrictions set forth herein, provided that for purposes of Section 2(a) of these Terms and Conditions,
any such additional Restricted Stock Units credited between the Grant Date and the Vesting Date shall vest on the Vesting Date.
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8. Detrimental Activity; Clawback Policy.

(a) If the Committee finds in its discretion that you have engaged in any Detrimental Activity (as defined in the Plan), the
Committee may at any time and in its sole discretion cancel and revoke all or any unpaid portion of your Restricted Stock Units. In addition, if the
Committee finds that you have engaged in any Detrimental Activity, either during the period you served as a Director or within twelve months
thereafter, then you shall be required to (a) return to the Company all Common Shares that you have not disposed of that were issued pursuant to
these Terms and Conditions within twelve months prior to the commencement of such Detrimental Activity, and (b) pay to the Company in cash,
within ten days after demand therefor, the Fair Market Value (determined as of the date that the Restricted Stock Units were paid to you in
accordance with Section 4 hereof) of all Common Shares that you have disposed of that were so issued pursuant to these Terms and Conditions.
The Plan defines “Detrimental Activity” as any conduct or activity, whether or not related to the business of the Company or a Subsidiary, that is
determined in individual cases, by the Committee or its express delegate, to be detrimental to the interests of the Company or a Subsidiary,
including without limitation (i) the rendering of services to an organization or engaging in a business that is, in the judgment of the Committee or
its express delegate, in competition with the Company; (ii) the disclosure to anyone outside of the Company, or the use for any purpose other than
the Company’s business, of confidential information or material related to the Company, whether acquired by you during or after employment
with the Company; (iii) fraud, embezzlement, theft-in-office or other illegal activity; or (iv) a violation of the Company’s Code of Ethics or other
policies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if you are a resident of California, prong (i) of the Detrimental Activity definition shall not apply to you.

(b) By accepting your award of Restricted Stock Units, you acknowledge that the Restricted Stock Units and the Common
Shares underlying such Restricted Stock Units shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the Claw-back Policy of Parker-Hannifin
Corporation that applies to compensation granted or paid on or after July 1, 2009 (as may be amended and restated from time to time) and the
Parker-Hannifin Corporation Section 16 Officer Clawback Policy (as may be amended and restated from time to time), to the extent provided
under the terms of each such policy.

(c) Notwithstanding anything in these Terms and Conditions to the contrary, (i) nothing in the Plan, these Terms and
Conditions, the Award Agreement or otherwise limits your right to any monetary award offered by a government-administered whistleblower
award program for providing information directly to a government agency (including the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to
Section 21F of the Exchange Act, the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act or The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002); and (ii)
nothing in the Plan, these Terms and Conditions, the Award Agreement or otherwise prevents you from providing, without prior notice to the
Company, information to governmental authorities regarding possible legal violations or otherwise testifying or participating in any investigation
or proceeding by any governmental authorities regarding possible legal violations, and, for purpose of clarity, you are not prohibited from
providing information voluntarily to the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 21F of the Exchange Act.

9. Taxes and Withholding. The Company has the right to deduct or cause to be deducted, or collect or cause to be collected, with
respect to the taxation of the Restricted Stock Units, any federal, state, local or foreign taxes, social taxes or other taxes required to be withheld or
paid with respect to the Restricted Stock Units, and you will be required to pay any such amounts or such amounts will be deducted from any
amount payable to you. To the extent the Company is required to withhold any federal, state, local, foreign or other taxes in connection with the
delivery of Common Shares under these Terms and Conditions, then the Company will instruct the third-party Plan administrator to retain a
number of Common Shares otherwise

    3    



deliverable hereunder with a value equal to the required withholding (based on the fair market value of the Common Shares on the date of
delivery); provided that in no event shall the value of the Common Shares retained exceed the minimum amount of taxes required to be withheld
or such other amount that will not result in a negative accounting impact.

10. Beneficiary Designation. To the extent permitted by the Committee, in its sole discretion, you shall have the right to designate one
or more beneficiaries to receive all or part of any Common Shares underlying the Restricted Stock Units in the event of your death. Any
beneficiary designation permitted by the Committee shall be effective when it is submitted in writing to the Committee during your lifetime on a
form prescribed by the Committee. The submission of a new beneficiary designation shall cancel all prior beneficiary designations. Any finalized
divorce or marriage subsequent to the date of a beneficiary designation shall revoke such designation, unless in the case of divorce your previous
spouse was not designated as beneficiary and unless in the case of marriage your new spouse was previously designated as beneficiary. If you are
married, your spouse shall consent to any designation of a beneficiary other than the spouse, and the spouse’s consent shall be witnessed by a
notary public. If you fail to designate a beneficiary as may be permitted by the Committee, or if such beneficiary designation is revoked by
marriage, divorce, or otherwise without execution of a new designation, or if every person designated as beneficiary predeceases you or dies prior
to the payment of your Restricted Stock Units, then the Company shall direct the payment of your Restricted Stock Units to the estate of the last to
die of you and any beneficiaries.

11. Adjustments. The Restricted Stock Units and the number of Common Shares deliverable for each Restricted Stock Unit, and the
other terms and conditions of the grant evidenced by these Terms and Conditions, are subject to adjustment, including as provided in Sections 4.3
and 12 of the Plan.

12. Compliance with Law; Section 409A of the Code. The Company shall make reasonable efforts to comply with all applicable
federal and state securities laws and listing requirements with respect to the Restricted Stock Units; provided, however, notwithstanding any other
provision of these Terms and Conditions, and only to the extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code, the Company shall not be obligated to
deliver any Common Shares pursuant to these Terms and Conditions if the delivery thereof would result in a violation of any such law or listing
requirement. The Company intends that the Award Agreement and these Terms and Conditions comply with or be exempt from the requirements
of Section 409A of the Code and they will be interpreted, construed and administered accordingly. Any provision that would cause these Terms
and Conditions or the award granted hereunder to fail to satisfy Section 409A of the Code shall have no force or effect until amended to comply
with or be exempt from Section 409A of the Code (which amendment may be retroactive to the extent permitted by Section 409A of the Code and
may be made by the Company without your consent).

13. Amendments. Subject to the terms of the Plan, the Committee may amend these Terms and Conditions upon written notice to you.
Any amendment to the Plan shall be deemed to be an amendment to these Terms and Conditions to the extent that the amendment is applicable
hereto. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment of the Plan or these Terms and Conditions shall adversely affect your rights under these
Terms and Conditions without your consent unless the Committee determines that such amendment is necessary or advisable to conform the Plan
or these Terms and Conditions to any present or future law, regulation or rule applicable to the Plan.

14. Severability. In the event that one or more of the provisions of these Terms and Conditions shall be invalidated for any reason by a
court of competent jurisdiction, any provision so invalidated shall be deemed to be separable from the other provisions hereof, and the remaining
provisions hereof shall continue to be valid and fully enforceable.
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15. Relation to Plan. These Terms and Conditions and all rights under your Award Agreement and these Terms and Conditions are at
all times subject to all other terms, conditions and provisions of the Plan (and any rules or procedures adopted under the Plan by the Committee).
All capitalized terms not defined in these Terms and Conditions shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Plan. In the event of a
conflict between the terms of the Plan and these Terms and Conditions, your Award Agreement or the Prospectus for the Plan (the “Prospectus”),
the terms of the Plan shall control. These Terms and Conditions, the Plan and the Award Agreement contain the entire agreement and
understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter contained in these Terms and Conditions, and supersede all prior written or oral
communications, representations and negotiations in respect thereto.

16. Successors and Assigns. Without limiting Section 5, the provisions of these Terms and Conditions shall inure to the benefit of, and
be binding upon, your successors, administrators, heirs, legal representatives and assigns, and the successors and assigns of the Company.

17. Governing Law. The interpretation, performance, and enforcement of these Terms and Conditions shall be governed by the laws of
the State of Ohio, without regard to its conflict of law rules.

18. Non-U.S. Participants. Notwithstanding any provision of these Terms and Conditions, if you reside outside of the United States
and/or your employment with the Parker Companies is subject to the rules and regulations of one or more non-United States jurisdictions, then
your Restricted Stock Units shall also be subject to any special terms and conditions as set forth on Appendix A attached hereto (“Appendix A”).
Moreover, if you relocate to one of the countries included on Appendix A, the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to you, to
the extent the Company determines that the application of such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable in order to comply with local law or
facilitate the administration of these Terms and Conditions or the Plan. Appendix A shall constitute part of these Terms and Conditions.

19. Consent to Transfer Personal Data. By accepting your award of Restricted Stock Units, you voluntarily acknowledge and consent
to the collection, use, processing and transfer of personal data as described in this Section 19. You are not obliged to consent to such collection,
use, processing and transfer of personal data. However, failure to provide the consent may affect your ability to participate in the Plan. The
Company holds certain personal information about you, that may include your name, home address and telephone number, fax number, email
address, family size, marital status, sex, beneficiary information, emergency contacts, passport / visa information, age, language skills, driver’s
license information, date of birth, birth certificate, social security number or other employee identification number, nationality, C.V. (or resume),
wage history, employment references, job title, employment or severance contract, current wage and benefit information, personal bank account
number, tax related information, plan or benefit enrollment forms and elections, option or benefit statements, any shares of stock or directorships
in the Company, details of all options or any other entitlements to Common Shares awarded, canceled, purchased, vested, unvested or outstanding
in your favor, for the purpose of managing and administering the Plan (“Data”). The Company will transfer Data amongst themselves as necessary
for the purpose of implementation, administration and management of your participation in the Plan, and the Company may further transfer Data
to any third parties assisting the Company in the implementation, administration and management of the Plan. These recipients may be located
throughout the world, including the United States. You authorize them to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer the Data, in electronic or other
form, for the purposes of implementing, administering and managing your participation in the Plan, including any requisite transfer of such Data
as may be required for the administration of the Plan and/or the subsequent holding of shares of stock on your behalf to a
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broker or other third party with whom you may elect to deposit any shares of stock acquired pursuant to the Plan. You may, at any time, review
Data, require any necessary amendments to it or withdraw the consents herein in writing by contacting the Company; however, withdrawing your
consent may affect your ability to participate in the Plan.

20. Electronic Delivery. You hereby consent and agree to electronic delivery of any documents that the Company may elect to deliver
(including, but not limited to, prospectuses, prospectus supplements, grant or award notifications and agreements, account statements, annual and
quarterly reports, and all other forms of communications) in connection with this and any other award made or offered under the Plan. You also
understand that you shall have the right at any time to request that the Company deliver written copies of any and all materials referred to above at
no charge. You hereby consent to any and all procedures the Company has established or may establish for an electronic signature system for
delivery and acceptance of any such documents that the Company may elect to deliver, and you agree that your electronic signature is the same as,
and shall have the same force and effect as, your manual signature. You consent and agree that any such procedures and delivery may be effected
by a third party engaged by the Company to provide administrative services related to the Plan.

21. Prospectus Notification. Copies of the Prospectus and the most recent Annual Report and Proxy Statement issued by the Company
are available for your review on the UBS One Source Web site. You have the right to receive a printed copy of the Prospectus upon request by
either calling the third-party Plan Administrator at 888-751-0295 or by sending your written request to the Company’s Total Rewards Department.

22. Acknowledgment. You are hereby advised that (a) you have at least 14 days to review the Award Agreement and (b) you have the
right to consult counsel regarding the contents of the Award Agreement. By accepting your award of RSUs, you acknowledge that you have been
advised of the foregoing rights.

23. No Right to Employment. Neither the Plan nor the Award Agreement shall be construed as a contract of employment.
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APPENDIX A

Parker-Hannifin Corporation

Restricted Stock Unit Terms and Conditions ([____])

Additional Terms and Conditions for Non-Employee Directors

This Appendix A (this “Appendix A”) includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Restricted Stock Units granted to you under the
Plan if you reside in, or are subject to tax in, one of the countries described below at any time prior to the Distribution Date of your Restricted
Stock Units. Certain capitalized terms used but not defined in this Appendix A have the meanings set forth in the Plan, the Award Agreement
and/or the Terms and Conditions. By accepting your award, you agree to be bound by the terms and conditions contained in the paragraphs below
in addition to the terms of the Plan, the Award Agreement, the Terms and Conditions, and the terms of any other document that may apply to you
and your award.

COUNTRIES COVERED BY THIS APPENDIX A: United Kingdom.

ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS APPLICABLE TO ALL NON-U.S. PARTICIPANTS:

1.    Nature of Grant. You acknowledge that:

(a)        the Plan is established voluntarily by the Company, is discretionary in nature and may be modified, amended, suspended or
terminated by the Company at any time, unless otherwise provided in the Plan, the Award Agreement or the Terms and Conditions;

(b)    the grant of the Restricted Stock Units is voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right to receive future
grants of Restricted Stock Units, or benefits in lieu of Restricted Stock Units, even if Restricted Stock Units have been granted repeatedly
in the past;

(c)    all decisions with respect to future grants of Restricted Stock Units, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company;

(d)    you are voluntarily participating in the Plan;

(e)        the Restricted Stock Units are an extraordinary item that does not constitute compensation of any kind for services of any kind
rendered to the Company, its Subsidiaries, and/or its affiliates, and that is outside the scope of your employment contract with the
Company or its affiliates, if any;



(f)    the Restricted Stock Units are not part of normal or expected compensation or salary for any purposes, including, but not limited to,
calculating any severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, end of service payments, bonuses, long service awards, pension or
retirement benefits or similar payments;

(g)    the future value of the underlying Common Shares is unknown and cannot be predicted with certainty; and

(h)        in consideration of the grant of the Restricted Stock Units, no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from
forfeiture or termination of the Restricted Stock Units or diminution in value of the Restricted Stock Units or the Common Shares resulting
from your termination of employment (for any reason whatsoever and whether or not in breach of local labor laws, except if and only as
otherwise expressly provided for in the applicable Country-Specific Language section of this Appendix A).

2.    Language. By accepting the Award Agreement and the Terms and Conditions, you acknowledge that you have agreed to the receipt of the
Award Agreement and the Terms and Conditions and all other documents related to the Restricted Stock Units in the English language.

COUNTRY-SPECIFIC LANGUAGE:

UNITED KINGDOM

Taxes and Withholding. Section 9 of the Terms and Conditions is hereby amended and replaced in its entirety to read as follows:

“Taxes and Withholding.

(a)    Regardless of any action the Company takes with respect to any or all income tax, social security, payroll tax,
payment on account or other tax related withholdings, including, without limitation, United Kingdom income tax that
the Company is liable to account for (“Tax Related Items”), you acknowledge that the ultimate liability for all Tax
Related Items legally due by you is and remains your responsibility and that the Company (i) make no representations
or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax Related Items in connection with any aspect of the Restricted
Stock Unit grant, including the grant or vesting of the Restricted Stock Units and the subsequent sale of Common
Shares acquired pursuant to the vesting of the Restricted Stock Units, and (ii) do not commit to structure the terms of
the grant or any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units to reduce or eliminate your liability for Tax Related Items.
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(b)    To the extent that the Company is required to withhold Tax- Related Items in accordance with applicable law in
connection with your vesting of the Restricted Stock Units (“Withholding Tax Obligation”), you agree that the
Company will instruct the third-party Plan administrator to retain a number of Common Shares otherwise deliverable
hereunder with a value equal to the required withholding (based on the fair market value of the Common Shares on the
date of delivery); provided that in no event shall the value of the Common Shares retained exceed the minimum
amount of taxes required to be withheld or such other amount that will not result in a negative accounting impact.
With respect to the withholding of Common Shares, you will be taken to have foregone the right to receive the number
of Common Shares so withheld in order to make good the amount due from you in respect of such Withholding Tax
Obligation. You also agree that the value of any fraction of retained Common Shares not necessary to meet the
Withholding Tax Obligation shall be applied to make good any other income tax withholding by the Company
generally.

(c) It is a further condition of delivery of any Common Shares pursuant to the vesting of the Restricted Stock Units
that you will, if required to do so by the Company, enter into a joint election under section 431(1) of the Income Tax
(Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 of the United Kingdom (“ITEPA”), the effect of which is that the Common Shares
will be treated as if they were not restricted securities and that sections 425 to 430 of ITEPA will not apply to those
shares.”

Data Privacy. Please consult the notice addressing the UK General Data Protection Regulation, which is attached hereto as Addendum 1 and
which replaces Section 19 of the Terms and Conditions.
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Addendum 1

Data Privacy Notice for Participants in the European Union, Switzerland, and the United Kingdom

Dear Participant:

Re: Parker-Hannifin Corporation 2023 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”)

The EU General Data Protection Regulation (the “EU GDPR”) came into force on 25 May 2018. The United Kingdom’s implementation of the EU GDPR (the
“UK GDPR”) applies following the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union. Switzerland implemented requirements from the EU GDPR in its
revised Swiss Data Protection Act (the “Swiss DPA”, and collectively with the EU GDPR and the UK GDPR, the “GDPR”). For the purposes of the GDPR,
Parker-Hannifin Corporation (the “Company”) wants to make EEA-, UK-, and Swiss-based participants in the Plan aware that the Company holds certain Data
(as defined below) about the participants. The Company also wants to explain why the Company holds this Data and to let each participant know how to raise
questions and exercise their rights regarding the Company’s use of the Data. The purpose of this communication is to provide participants with this information.

This document constitutes a Notice under the GDPR. Copies of this Notice are available by request from the Total Rewards Team at totalrewards@parker.com.

This communication supplements information relating to the use of your Data set out in the relevant agreement, or agreements, including any addenda, issued to
you under the Plan (the “Agreements”). Should there be any inconsistency between the terms of this Notice and the Agreements relating to the Company’s use
of your Data, then this Notice is the document that will apply.

The term “Data” as used in this Notice includes your name, home address, home and work email addresses, personal telephone number, date of birth, age, birth
certificate, gender, nationality, family size, marital status, beneficiary information, emergency contacts, social security number, passport / visa number or other
government identification number, employee identification number, language skills, C.V. (or resume), wage history, employment references, employment or
severance contract, current wage / salary and benefit information, job title, personal bank account number, tax related information, and plan or benefit
enrollment forms and elections, option or benefit statements, as well as details of any shares, directorships, awards or any other equity, options or share rights
you may have in the Company (whether awarded, cancelled, purchased, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding).

Data Controller Entity: The Company is the Data Controller. The Company is an Ohio corporation, with its principal United States office at 6035 Parkland
Boulevard, Cleveland, Ohio, U.S.A.

Purposes: Data is held for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing your participation in the Plan and complying with all related
legal obligations.

Legitimate Interests: The Company holds the Data for the legitimate interests of permitting participants to participate in the Plan, including implementing,
administering and maintaining the Plan and each participant’s participation in the Plan and complying with related legal obligations.



Retention Period: Records relating to the Plan which contain Data are kept for the period required by law and in accordance with the Company’s Record
Retention and Protection Legal Guidelines 1.04.

International Transfers of Data: As the Company is based in the United States and the Agreements are performed in the United States, the Company can only
meet its contractual obligations to you under the Agreements if the Data is processed by the Company in the United States. The performance of the contractual
obligations of the Company to you is one of the legal bases for the transfer of the Data from the EEA, the United Kingdom or Switzerland to the United States.
You should be aware that the United States may have different data privacy laws and protections than the data privacy laws in place in the EEA, the United
Kingdom, and Switzerland. The Company is self-certified to the Data Privacy Framework Program (the “EU-US DPF”), the UK extension to the EU-US DPF,
and the Swiss-UK DPF for the transfer of Data to the United States.

Other Recipients: To fulfil its obligations under the Agreements, the Company may share Data with its subsidiary companies that employ participants in the
Plan. In addition, Data may be transferred to certain third parties assisting in the implementation, administration and management of the Plan, such as share plan
administrators and transfer agents. At your instruction, the Data will be shared with a broker or other third party whom you have instructed the Company to
deposit shares or other securities acquired upon the vesting of any awards under the Agreements. Data may also be shared with the Company’s information
technology and human resources service providers, with its legal and professional advisors and with governmental, including taxation, authorities in the United
States and other jurisdictions.

These recipients of Data may process the Data as processors (when processing the Data on behalf and upon instructions of the Company), or as distinct
controllers (when processing the Data for their own purposes, such as fulfilling their own obligations).

Data Subject Rights: Participants have a number of rights under the GDPR. Depending upon the circumstances, these may include the right of data portability
(where the Company helps a participant move Data to someone else at the participant’s request), the right to object to and/or the right to request the limitation of
the processing of the Data, the right to require the Company to update and correct the Data, the right to require erasure of the Data and the right for the
participant to review the Data held by the Company to require the Company to cease processing it and to have the Data processed by the Company restricted.
You must understand, however, that the processing of the Data is necessary for the performance of the Plan and that if you do not provide your Data, it may
affect your ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on the exercise of the above rights and in particular the consequences of a potential request
for erasure or objection, please contact the Company using the contact details below. You also have the right to provide the Company with specific instructions
for the processing of the Data after your death.

Finally, you have the right to lodge a complaint with the competent data protection supervisory authority of the EEA member state in which you are resident,
with the Information Commissioner’s Office if you are a resident of the United Kingdom, or the Swiss Federal Data Protection and Information Commissioner
(FDPIC), if you are a resident of Switzerland.

Data Security: The Company recognizes the importance of treating Data in a lawful, fair and transparent manner. The Company applies commercially
reasonable technical and organizational measures used for protecting Data against the unlawful processing and/or the accidental loss or destruction.
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Contact: If you have any questions concerning the processing of your Data or the terms of this Notice, you should contact dataprivacy@parker.com.
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Exhibit 21 to Annual Report
on Form 10-K

for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025
by Parker-Hannifin Corporation

Listed below are the significant subsidiaries of the Company and their jurisdictions of organization. All other subsidiaries, if considered in the aggregate as a single subsidiary,
would not constitute a significant subsidiary. All of the following subsidiaries are either directly or indirectly wholly-owned by the Company.

Name of Subsidiary State/Country of Organization
UNITED STATES
Securaplane Technologies, Inc. Arizona
Meggitt (North Hollywood), Inc. California
Meggitt Safety Systems, Inc. California
NASCO Aircraft Brake, Inc. California
Pacific Scientific Company California
Baldwin Filters, Inc. Delaware
LORD Technol, Inc. Delaware
Meggitt (Troy), Inc. Delaware
Meggitt Aircraft Braking Systems Corporation Delaware
Meggitt Aircraft Braking Systems Kentucky Corporation Delaware
Meggitt Defense Systems, Inc. Delaware
OECO, LLC Delaware
Parker Intangibles LLC Delaware
Parker-Hannifin International Corp. Delaware
Parker-Seahawk Acquisitions, LLC Delaware
Purolator Facet, Inc. Delaware
LORD Corporation Pennsylvania
Exotic Metals Forming Company LLC Washington

INTERNATIONAL
Parker Hannifin (Australia) Pty. Limited Australia
Parker Hannifin Australia Holding Pty Limited Australia
Parker Hannifin Indústria e Comércio Ltda. Brazil
Parker Hannifin Canada Canada
LORD Chemical (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. China
LORD International Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. China
Meggitt (Xiamen) Sensors & Controls Co Ltd China
Parker Hannifin Motion & Control (Shanghai) Co. Ltd. China
Weifang Parker Hannifin Filtration Products and Systems Co., Ltd. China
Artus SAS France
Meggitt (Sensorex) SAS France
Parker Hannifin France Holding SAS France
Parker Hannifin France SAS France
Parker Hannifin Manufacturing France SAS France
Parker Hannifin GmbH Germany
Parker Hannifin Holding GmbH Germany
Parker Hannifin Manufacturing Germany GmbH & Co. KG Germany
Parker Hannifin (Gibraltar) Acquisitions Limited Gibraltar



Name of Subsidiary State/Country of Organization
LORD Asia International Limited Hong Kong
Parker Hannifin Hong Kong, Ltd. Hong Kong
LORD India Private Limited India
Parker Hannifin India Private Ltd. India
Parker Hannifin Italy S.R.L. Italy
Parker Hannifin Manufacturing srl Italy
Taiyo, Ltd. Japan
Parker Hannifin Luxembourg Investments 1 S.a.r.l. Luxembourg
Parker Hannifin de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Parker Industrial, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico
Lord Holdings (Asia) B.V. Netherlands
Parker Hannifin (Clarcor Filtration) Holding B.V. Netherlands
Parker Hannifin B.V. Netherlands
Parker Hannifin Netherlands Holdings 2 B.V. Netherlands
Parker Hannifin Netherlands Holdings B.V. Netherlands
Meggitt Aerospace Asia Pacific Pte Ltd Singapore
Parker Hannifin Singapore Private Limited Singapore
Parker Hannifin Cartera Industrial S.L. Spain
Parker Hannifin Holding España, S.L. Spain
Parker Hannifin Manufacturing Sweden AB Sweden
Parker Hannifin Sweden AB Sweden
Meggitt SA Switzerland
Parker Hannifin EMEA S.a. r.l. Switzerland
Parker Hannifin Switzerland Holdings Sàrl Switzerland
Alenco (Holdings) Limited United Kingdom
Altair (UK) Limited United Kingdom
Domnick Hunter Group Limited United Kingdom
Meggitt (UK) Limited United Kingdom
Meggitt Aerospace Limited United Kingdom
Meggitt Limited United Kingdom
Meggitt Properties Limited United Kingdom
Parker Hannifin (GB) Limited United Kingdom
Parker Hannifin (Holdings) Limited United Kingdom
Parker Hannifin Industries Limited United Kingdom
Parker Hannifin Limited United Kingdom
Parker Hannifin Manufacturing Limited United Kingdom



Exhibit 23 to Annual Report
On Form 10-K

for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025
By Parker-Hannifin Corporation

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-274347 on Form S-3 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-275166, 333-236293, 333-186733,
333-186734, 333-192909, 333-201071, and 333-215107 on Form S-8 of our report dated August 22, 2025, relating to the financial statements of Parker-Hannifin Corporation
and the effectiveness of Parker-Hannifin Corporation's internal control over financial reporting appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2025.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Cleveland, Ohio
August 22, 2025



Exhibit 24
Securities and Exchange Commission
Washington, D.C. 20549

Re: Parker-Hannifin Corporation

Commission File No. 1-4982
Annual Report on Form 10-K
Authorized Representatives

Ladies and Gentlemen:

Parker-Hannifin Corporation (the "Company") is the issuer of Securities registered under Section 12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Act"). Each of the persons
signing his or her name below confirms, as of the date appearing opposite his or her signature, that each of the following "Authorized Representatives" is authorized on his or
her behalf to sign and to submit to the Securities and Exchange Commission Annual Reports on Form 10-K and amendments thereto as required by the Act:

Authorized Representatives
Jennifer A. Parmentier
Todd M. Leombruno

Joseph R. Leonti

Each person so signing also confirms the authority of each of the Authorized Representatives named above to do and perform, on his or her behalf, any and all acts and things
requisite or necessary to assure compliance by the signing person with the Form 10-K filing requirements. The authority confirmed herein shall remain in effect as to each
person signing his or her name below until such time as the Commission shall receive from such person a written communication terminating or modifying the authority.

Date Date
/s/ Jennifer A. Parmentier 8/21/2025 /s/ Kevin A. Lobo 8/21/2025
Jennifer A. Parmentier, Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive

Kevin A. Lobo, Director

Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Todd M. Leombruno 8/21/2025 /s/ E. Jean Savage 8/21/2025
Todd M. Leombruno, Executive Vice E. Jean Savage, Director
President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Angela R. Ives 8/21/2025 /s/ Joseph Scaminace 8/21/2025
Angela R. Ives, Vice President and Joseph Scaminace, Director
Controller (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Denise Russell Fleming 8/21/2025 /s/ Laura K. Thompson 8/21/2025
Denise Russell Fleming, Director Laura K. Thompson, Director

/s/ Lance M. Fritz 8/21/2025 /s/ James R. Verrier 8/21/2025
Lance M. Fritz, Director James R. Verrier, Director

/s/ Linda A. Harty 8/21/2025 /s/ James L. Wainscott 8/21/2025
Linda A. Harty, Director James L. Wainscott, Director



Exhibit 31(a)

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Jennifer A. Parmentier, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Parker-Hannifin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: August 22, 2025

/s/ Jennifer A. Parmentier
Jennifer A. Parmentier
Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31(b)

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Todd M. Leombruno, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Parker-Hannifin Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the Registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The Registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the Registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: August 22, 2025

/s/ Todd M. Leombruno
Todd M. Leombruno
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32
Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to

§ 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

    Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, in connection with the filing of the Annual Report on Form 10-K
of Parker-Hannifin Corporation (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the
“Report”), each of the undersigned officers of the Company certifies, that, to such officer’s knowledge:

(1)    The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)    The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company as of the dates
and for the periods expressed in the Report.

    Dated: August 22, 2025

/s/ Jennifer A. Parmentier
Name: Jennifer A. Parmentier
Title: Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Todd M. Leombruno
Name: Todd M. Leombruno
Title: Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer


